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Key Performance  
Indicators at a Glance

Excerpt from the Profit and Loss Account 
in € m

2020 2019

Net interest income 313.1 309.7

Net commission income 20.0 17.8

	 Staff expenditure 82.0 92.4

	 Other operating expenditure 70.1 67.5

		  of which: Expenditure for bank levy 13.4 12.0

	 Write-offs on fixed assets 21.1 12.4

Operating expenditure 173.2 172.3

Other operating result –1.7 –1.6

Risk provisioning 61.6 –2.2

	 Valuation result of lending business 81.4 7.5

	 Valuation result of securities business –19.8 –9.7

Operating result 96.6 155.8

Net income from investments –2.8 –4.0

Provision for general banking risks 70.0 90.0

Other taxes 0.2 0.2

Operating result before income taxes  
and profit transfer 23.6 61.6

Profit transfer 23.4 61.0

Net income for the year 0.0 0.0

Cost-income ratio in % 52.3 52.9

Return on equity in % 6.8 11.6

Excerpt from the Balance Sheet in € m 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Balance sheet total 33,423 27,021

	 of which: mortgage loans 23,864 21,774

NPL1 141 181

1 �Screening of NPL portfolio by rating (previously: risk class) in accordance with EBA guidelines from 2017 
onwards; comparable figure for previous year adjusted.

Business development in € m 2020 2019

New lending 5,664 6,253

Extensions (capital employed ≥ 1 year) 1,062 1,023

Regulatory-law key indicators2 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

RWA in € m 10,321 9,984

CET1 ratio in % 13.4 13.3

Total capital ratio in % 15.8 16.0

Leverage ratio in % 4.1 4.6

2 After adoption.

Issue ratings 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Moody's

	 Pfandbriefe Aaa (stable) Aaa (stable)

	 Senior preferred Aa2 (stable) Aa2 (stable)

	 Senior non-preferred A2 A2

Fitch

	 Pfandbriefe - -

	 Senior preferred AA- (negative) A+ (stable)

	 Senior non-preferred A+ (negative) A+ (stable)

Sustainability ratings oekom Sustainalytics

B- (Prime) Low Risk

Other 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Number of employees (as at the reporting date) 593 606

6,8 %
Return on equity

€ 6,7 billion 
New lending (including extensions 
with capital employed ≥ 1 year)

Aaa
(Moody's)
Pfandbrief issue rating
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agement and satisfied itself that it was acting 
properly, deliberated on all relevant aspects in 
this context and provided recommendations. 
In particular, the Supervisory Board intensively 
discussed and reviewed the plausibility of busi-
ness transactions of importance to the company 
on the basis of written and oral reports of the 
Board of Management.

Focus of the Supervisory Board’s Activities
In particular, reports on the effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic were discussed at all 
Supervisory Board meetings in 2020, in 
addition to the detailed reporting of the Board 
of Management on current business develop-
ment, including its underlying conditions and 
projects, the risk situation and the status of the 
strategic investments. In addition, the Board 
of Management regularly informed on S-Group 
business development and on the external 
audits currently being carried out at Berlin Hyp.

Following the reports made by the Board 
of Management and the auditors and after 
intensive consultation and review, the annual 
accounts and Management Report as at 
31 December 2019 were approved and adopted 
in the balance sheet meeting of the Supervi-
sory Board on 26 March 2020. The Supervisory 
Board Report, the Corporate Governance Report 
and the Non-Financial Statement (sustainability 
report) were discussed and adopted.
 
The Supervisory Board also took note of the 
reports on the Bank’s derivatives portfolio 
and the report on the processing of findings 
from the IT Compliance audit focus. In view of 
regulatory requirements, adverse scenarios 
were taken into account in the medium-term 
planning for 2020 to 2024.

In the course of this meeting, the annual reports 
of the Compliance Officer and the Internal Audit 
were also discussed and acknowledged.

The Supervisory Board also passed the neces-
sary resolutions on the agenda of the Annual 
General Meeting of Berlin Hyp.

Following the resignation of Supervisory 
Board member Artur Grzesiek, the sharehold-

Berlin Hyp is a subsidiary of Landesbank Berlin 
Holding AG and an independent commercial 
real estate financier within the S-Group of the 
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe. According to the 
regulations of the German One-Third Partic-
ipation Act, its Supervisory Board comprises 
five members on the staff side and ten on the 
shareholder side. Apart from the five employee 
representatives, the Supervisory Board is made 
up entirely of representatives of the Sparkas-
sen-Finanzgruppe and a representative of the 
local authorities. It advises and monitors the 
Board of Management and particularly supports 
the Board of Management in the networking 
with savings banks throughout Germany.

Berlin Hyp continued its solid business devel-
opment in 2020 and reinforced its position as 
one of the leading real estate and Pfandbrief 
banks.

With regard to operations, the overarching 
theme was the COVID-19 pandemic, which has 
been spreading since the middle of the first half 
of 2020 and has led to a high increase in mobile 
working at Berlin Hyp. The existing infrastruc-
ture was capable of handling all essential work.

The financial year was also positive overall, with 
a result that exceeded expectations. Despite 
the persistently low level of interest rates, the 
high level of competition in commercial real 
estate financing and the continued increase in 
regulatory requirements, Berlin Hyp is satisfied 
with the better-than-expected earnings trend 
of the 2020 financial year. Significant negative 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have not yet 
been recorded. The Supervisory Board regards 
Berlin Hyp’s performance and its ability to hold 
its own ground in a difficult market environment 
while adhering to a conservative risk strategy 
and culture as steadfast and highly favourable.

In accordance with the legal requirements, the 
Supervisory Board once again concerned itself 
promptly, regularly and comprehensively with 
the position and the development of Berlin 
Hyp, the planning situation, the risk situation, 
risk management as well as compliance, both 
orally and in writing, in 2020. It constantly 
monitored the actions of the Board of Man-
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Loans Committee. The Supervisory Board 
therefore appointed the newly elected Ulrich 
Voigt as a new member of the Loans Committee.

The targets for 2020 were agreed for Alexander 
Stuwe and Gero Bergmann’s appointment as 
a member of the Board of Management was 
extended for a further five years.

In its meeting on 23 September 2020, the 
Supervisory Board defined the key audit 
issues for the 2020 financial year based on 
a proposal from the Audit Committee. In 
addition to the regular reports, it took note 
of the revised report on the new construction 
project at Budapester Strasse 1 (“B-One”) and 
of the report on the status of the IT strategy 
objectives. The Chair of the Supervisory Board 
presented a summary report of the findings 
from the efficiency review and suitability 
examination of the Supervisory Board and the 
Board of Management.
 
The review revealed that the Supervisory 
Board’s work is effective and that the members 
of the Board of Management and Supervisory 
Board possess the necessary expertise, skills 
and experience.

The Supervisory Board took note of the 
complete revision of the German Corporate 
Governance Code (DCGK) and discussed its 
further application.

To ensure a timely succession regulation for 
the head of the Risk Controlling division, the 
Supervisory Board agreed to terminate this 
management function and took note of the 
future separation of the management of the 
Risk Controlling division from the management 
of the risk controlling function within the mean-
ing of supervisory law, and the replacement of 
both functions, with the management of the risk 
controlling function according to MaRisk to be 
taken over by the Risk Management Board.

In the meeting on 25 November 2020, the 
regular reports of the Board of Management 
were supplemented by a presentation on Treas-
ury activities, the status of implementation of 
the B-One project, the report on cybersecurity 

ers needed to elect a new SB member. After 
conducting its own review, the Supervisory 
Board endorsed the recommendation of its 
Presiding and Nomination Committee and 
proposed to the Annual General Meeting the 
election of Ulrich Voigt as the new member 
of the Supervisory Board (see remarks under 
Personnel Issues of the Supervisory Board).

In accordance with the provisions of the German 
Remuneration Ordinance for Institutions (IVV), 
the Supervisory Board took note of the overall 
bonus pool for employees set by the Board of 
Management and established the total amount 
of variable remuneration for the Board of 
Management. Subsequently, on the basis of the 
individual achievement of targets, a decision 
was made on the individual target bonuses 
of the individual members of the Board of 
Management and on the payment of conditional 
bonuses.

Furthermore, adjustments to the rules of 
procedure of the Board of Management were 
acknowledged due to the temporary configura-
tion of the Board of Management with only two 
members and the new business distribution 
plans of the Board of Management due to 
organisational changes in the Bank.

At the meeting on 26 June 2020, note 
was taken of information from the Board of 
Management on the effects of the COVID-19 
pandemic, on strategic investments, donations 
and sponsorships, on the status of implemen-
tation of the SAP-HANA IT project and on the 
construction of a new building as the head
quarters for Berlin Hyp, in addition to the regu-
lar reports. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board 
prepared the annual efficiency and suitability 
examination for the Board of Management and 
the Supervisory Board.

Due to the early retirement of the remuneration 
officer, the Supervisory Board acknowledged the 
recommendations of its Remuneration Control 
Committee and recommended the appointment 
of new remuneration officers.

Having resigned from the Supervisory Board, 
Artur Grzesiek is no longer a member of the 
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The main objective of the PA is to assist in 
the review and preparation of the adoption of 
the annual financial statements. Moreover, it 
is responsible for monitoring the accounting 
process, the efficacy of the risk management 
system, the internal management and con-
trolling system, and the functionality of the 
Internal Audit division. It also deals with compli-
ance issues. The PA comprises five members.

The PNA deals with HR and strategy issues, 
evaluates the efficiency and suitability of the 
members of the Board of Management and 
reviews the application of the DCKG. The PNA 
comprises five members.

The VKA monitors the remuneration systems 
of the members of the Board of Management 
and employees, paying particular attention to 
the effects on risks and risk management at 
Berlin Hyp. It consists of four members.

The KA has its own loan approval powers and 
also acts as the Risk Committee. It therefore 
primarily deals with loan decisions which 
exceed the powers of the “overall Board of 
Management”, as well as with the risk strategy, 
the regular risk reports and the principles of the 
loan business policy. Apart from its meetings, 
written circulation procedures and teleconfer-
ences – on credit decisions, which are within its 
competence – also regularly take place in the 
KA. The KA comprises five members.

The committees reported regularly and in detail 
to the Supervisory Board on their work.

Corporate Governance
As a non-listed public limited company, 
Berlin Hyp is not subject to the regulations 
of the German Corporate Governance Code 
(DCGK), but voluntarily applied it for many 
years. As from the 2020 financial year, it no 
longer applies the DCGK, but is committed to 
complying with the principles of good corpo-
rate governance as set out in the DCGK. The 
Supervisory Board receives a report on corpo-
rate governance in the Bank once a year at the 
balance sheet meeting.

Meetings and Attendance
A total of four Supervisory Board meetings 
and eighteen committee meetings were held 
in the 2020 financial year. Due to COVID-19 
restrictions, the sessions were mainly held as 
teleconferences.

at Berlin Hyp and the final report on the IT 
Compliance project. The updates to the strategy 
documents and the status of the SAP-HANA 
IT project were discussed on a regular basis. 
Subsequently, the Supervisory Board addressed 
the projections for 2020 and the medium-term 
planning for the years 2021 to 2025.

Berlin Hyp’s remuneration systems were 
reviewed on a regular basis and considered 
appropriate. The report on the identification of 
risk carriers was noted as well as the restructur-
ing plan of the LBBH Group.

The application of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code (DCGK) was discussed again and 
the decision was taken to make a commitment 
as an individual institution to the principles of 
good corporate governance as from the 2020 
financial year instead of the formal declaration 
of application of this code.

An adjustment to the existing profit transfer 
contract between Berlin Hyp and LBBH was 
required in order to achieve CRR conformity. 
The Supervisory Board discussed the proposed 
changes and agreed to them.

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board discussed 
the requirements for succession planning of the 
management bodies set out in the 2019 SREP 
notice and decided on appropriate measures.

Corporate and individual targets for 2021 were 
agreed for the members of the Board of Man-
agement. Since Mr. Bergmann announced that 
he would be appointed to the board of another 
bank, the decision was made to conclude a 
termination agreement with him. In light of his 
impending resignation on 31 December 2020, 
the Supervisory Board took note of the reallo-
cation of Board responsibilities required for the 
transition period until the new appointment.

Committees of the Supervisory Board
The work of the Supervisory Board of Berlin Hyp 
was supported by four committees – the Audit 
Committee (PA), the Loans Committee (KA), the 
Presiding and Nomination Committee (PNA) 
and the Remuneration Control Committee 
(VKA). Each committee generally convened as 
needed approximately 10 to 14 days prior to 
Supervisory Board meetings. Written reports 
from the committees were then presented at 
the Supervisory Board meetings.
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of Management consisted of three members. 
Gero Bergmann’s employment contract as a 
member of the Board of Management expired 
on 31 December 2020. An extension that had 
been planned in the meantime was cancelled 
at his request. Gero Bergmann was a member 
of the Board of Management at Berlin Hyp for 
many years, working very successfully as a 
highly knowledgeable and very active contrib-
utor in the committee meetings on the matters 
and decisions within his area of responsibility. 
The Supervisory Board wishes him every suc-
cess and all the best for the future.

Since 1 January 2021, the Board of Man-
agement has comprised two members, 
Sascha Klaus and Alexander Stuwe. The 
Presiding and Nomination Committee was 
tasked with finding a successor. Subject to the 
approval of the ECB, Ms. Maria-Teresa Dreo 
was appointed as a member of the Board of 
Management by the Supervisory Board at an 
extraordinary meeting on 4 February 2021 with 
effect from 1 May 2021.

2020 Annual Financial Statements
The annual financial statements of Berlin Hyp 
and the Management Report for the 2020 
financial year have been audited by KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, 
appointed by the Annual General Meeting, 
taking into account the auditing focus defined 
by the Supervisory Board, and have received an 
unqualified audit certificate. The Supervisory 
Board has acknowledged the audit certificate.

The annual accounts of Berlin Hyp were pre-
pared in accordance with the provisions of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The annual 
accounts, the Management Report and the 
auditor’s reports were presented to the Super-
visory Board before its meetings in time. The 
Board of Management explained the financial 
statements and the risk management system in 
detail at the two meetings of the PA in prepara-
tion for the balance sheet meeting and also at 
the Supervisory Board’s balance sheet meeting. 
The auditor attended these three meetings 
and reported on the scope, focus and material 
results of the audit.
 
The auditor came to the overall conclusion that 
there were no major weaknesses in the internal 
control system or the risk management system.
The KA also dealt with the audit reports for the 
2020 annual accounts, to the extent that they 

At the end of 2020, the Supervisory Board took 
note of the business allocation plan in force as 
from 1 February 2021 and the results of 2020 
SREP in the circulation procedure.

In 16 circulation procedures of the KA, 21 
loan resolutions were made, of which two loan 
decisions were withdrawn within the approval 
period. In one case, the Group-wide credit limit 
was briefly exceeded; this was managed and the 
proposal was submitted to the Risk Committee 
(RA) of LBBH for approval.

Members prevented from attending usually 
participated in the passing of resolutions 
through voting instructions. All Supervisory 
Board members took part in more than half of 
the meetings of the plenum and the committees 
to which they belong.

Conflicts of Interest and How They are 
Handled
The Supervisory Board has passed regulations 
designed to prevent conflicts of interest. In the 
2020 financial year, a total of two committee 
members abstained from voting on five 
resolutions to avoid the appearance of a con-
flict of interest.

Staff Issues of the Supervisory Board
Artur Grzesiek resigned from the Supervi-
sory Board at the end of the Annual General 
Meeting on 27 May 2020. At this Annual 
General Meeting, Ulrich Voigt was elected as 
his successor to the Supervisory Board. Ulrich 
Voigt's term of election is synchronised with 
the term of office of the current members of the 
Supervisory Board for the period up to the end 
of the Annual General Meeting which resolves 
on the discharge of the Supervisory Board for 
the 2020 financial year. The Supervisory Board 
therefore comprised 15 members throughout 
2020 – ten shareholder representatives and 
five employee representatives.

As at 26 June 2020, Ulrich Voigt was also 
appointed as a member of the Loans Committee.

Personnel Issues of the Board of 
Management
Until 30 June 2020, the Board of Management 
was composed of two members – Sascha Klaus 
and Gero Bergmann. During this time, Alex-
ander Stuwe assisted as Chief Representative 
before joining the Board of Management on 
1 July 2020. By the end of 2020, the Board 
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Education and Further Training
The members of the Supervisory Board were 
responsible for obtaining the necessary training 
and continuing education for their duties at 
their own responsibility and are supported in 
this process by the company. At least once a 
year, further training is provided by means of 
lectures by external or internal speakers prior to 
a committee meeting. In 2020, the committee 
members discussed topics such as “the latest 
developments in the banking industry and 
banking supervision”.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the 
members of the Board of Management as well 
as all employees for the successful results and 
for their enormous personal dedication in the 
2020 financial year.

Berlin, March 2021

For the Supervisory Board

Helmut Schleweis
Chair

contain statements on the lending business 
and risk situation of Berlin Hyp, and raised no 
objections.

The PA closely examined the documents and 
recommended that the Supervisory Board 
approve the annual financial statements. The 
Supervisory Board approved the results of the 
audits following inspection of the auditor’s 
reports and detailed discussion, and determined 
that there were no objections to be raised 
even after the final results of its own audits. 
It approved the annual financial statements 
prepared by the Board of Management. The 
2020 annual financial statements are thereby 
adopted. According to the profit transfer agree-
ment, the earnings for 2020 are transferred to 
Landesbank Berlin Holding AG. During the audit 
of the annual financial statements, the Chair of 
the PA regularly informed himself of the audit’s 
status in consultation with the auditor KPMG.

Sustainability Report (Non-Financial 
Declaration)
The PA and the Supervisory Board also 
addressed the 2020 non-financial declaration 
prepared by the Board of Management. In its 
role as auditor, KPMG performed an audit with 
limited certainty and found no grounds for 
objection. In the PA meeting in preparation for 
the balance sheet meeting as well as in the bal-
ance sheet meeting of the Supervisory Board, 
the Board of Management provided a detailed 
explanation of the documents, while the rep-
resentatives of KPMG reported on the material 
findings of their audit and answered follow-up 
questions by members of the Supervisory 
Board. The Supervisory Board had no objections 
after performing its review.
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bers; it consisted again of three members 
from 1 July 2020 until the end of the year. 
The changes in the Board of Management as 
of 1 January 2021 are described on page 4 in 
the Annual Report – Report of the Supervisory 
Board. Regardless of the overall responsibility 
of the Board of Management, the individual 
members lead the divisions assigned to them 
by the business organisation plan at their own 
responsibility. The members consistently act 
for the benefit of the company as a whole. The 
members of the Board of Management inform 
each other about all material developments 
in their divisions and coordinate all measures 
affecting multiple spheres of responsibility.
 
The varied expertise of the individual Board of 
Management members ensures that the Board 
of Management remains sufficiently diversified. 
In 2017, the Supervisory Board set a target of 
zero per cent for the proportion of women on 
the Board of Management based on the current 
contractual relationships. Following Gero Berg-
mann’s departure from the Board of Manage-
ment, this will now be significantly exceeded by 
the appointment of Maria Teresa Dreo – subject 
to the approval of the regulatory authorities as 
from 1 May 2021.

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board sets specific goals for its 
composition and a competence profile for the 
entire committee. In doing so, diversity is a key 
consideration. Proposals from the Supervisory 
Board to the Annual General Meeting take 
these objectives into account. As at 31 Decem-
ber 2020, all objectives set by the Supervisory 
Board with regard to its composition had been 
implemented.
 
The diversity of the Board is established so 
that the qualifications and personalities of the 
individual members guarantee optimal super-
vision of the company. This requires that all 
Supervisory Board members have knowledge, 
in particular, of Berlin Hyp’s relevant market 
environment and its banking business.
 
The Supervisory Board has recorded the 
detailed requirements in writing in a selection 
and diversity strategy. It describes details of 

The Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board of Berlin Hyp firmly believe that good 
corporate governance is a material part of the 
foundation upon which the lasting success of the 
company, the confidence of its business partners 
and employees and the trust of financial markets 
is built. This is why the general principles of good 
corporate governance and any new develop-
ments in this regard will continue to be reported 
annually in the course of the reporting year.
 
Until 2019, this was done under the direct 
application of the German Corporate 
Governance Code (DCGK), which established 
recognised standards of good and trustworthy 
corporate governance for listed companies.
 
In 2020, the decision was made to continue 
following the principles of the DCGK to the 
extent that they apply to a non-listed company, 
but to take distance from it and develop it for 
more institution-specific application.
 
Berlin Hyp focuses in particular on certain 
regulations that deal with the structure of the 
bodies, their tasks and their interactions, and 
the transparency of the company. In these 
areas, the Berlin Hyp largely complies with 
the recommendations and suggestions of the 
Code. For the sake of transparency, all informa-
tion published by the Bank – including annual 
and interim financial reports – can also be 
accessed via its website.

Board of Management
Berlin Hyp’s Board of Management leads the 
Bank at its own responsibility with the objec-
tive of sustainable value creation and in the 
best interests of the company. It is committed 
to the principles of good, responsible and 
efficient business management and control. It 
manages the Bank in compliance with statutory 
provisions, the Articles of Association, the 
Rules of Procedure and the internal company 
guidelines. The Board of Management develops 
the strategic orientation of the Bank, agrees on 
it in consultation with the Supervisory Board 
and ensures its implementation.
 
In the 2020 financial year, the Board of 
Management initially consisted of two mem-
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Section 25d (11) Nos. 3 and 4 German Banking 
Act (KWG) and which each Supervisory Board 
member was able to individually fill out before 
the meeting. The findings of the evaluation 
were then presented by the Chair of the 
Supervisory Board at the meeting and jointly 
discussed and debated. The 2020 review indi-
cated that the efficiency of Supervisory Board 
activity was given. Furthermore, the Supervi-
sory Board noted that its members have the 
required knowledge, abilities and experience 
for the activities of the Supervisory Board and 
its committees. Suggestions from Supervisory 
Board members have been and will be taken 
into account for work in the future. The the-
matic delimitation of the committees over time 
was mentioned as positive. The written reports 
from the committees provide the Supervisory 
Board members with comprehensive informa-
tion about the discussions of the committees in 
advance of each meeting.
 
The members of the Supervisory Board are 
responsible for obtaining the necessary train-
ing and continuing education for their duties 
at their own responsibility and are supported 
in this process by Berlin Hyp. The company 
regularly informs the Supervisory Board about 
the latest changes in statutory law and offers 
opportunities for further training within the 
framework of in-house events.
 
Close Cooperation between the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board
Berlin Hyp’s Board of Management and 
Supervisory Board work together closely based 
on mutual trust. At least four Supervisory 
Board meetings usually take place during 
the financial year, as in 2020. The Board of 
Management informs the Supervisory Board 
extensively and promptly on all issues relevant 
to the company relating to strategy, planning, 
business development, the risk situation, risk 
management and compliance of the Bank. The 
Supervisory Board coordinates the company 
strategy and its implementation with the Board 
of Management. It explores deviations in busi-
ness performance from plans and goals and 
states the reasons for these. Supervisory Board 
meetings regularly begin with a look at the 
Bank’s environment and current projects, such 

the knowledge, skills and experience required 
for effective monitoring of the Board of Man-
agement. These include, in particular, knowl-
edge and experience in the fields of real estate, 
the capital market, securities and accounting. 
Independence rules are also defined. Further-
more, Supervisory Board members should be 
able to devote sufficient time to the perfor-
mance of their duties.
 
In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, 
all members of the Supervisory Board are 
independent. The members of the Supervi-
sory Board are not subject to any conflicts of 
interest, particularly any that could result from 
an advisory function or board membership on 
behalf of customers, suppliers, lenders or other 
business partners of the company. Members 
of the bodies do not participate in the discus-
sion and passing of resolutions by the bodies 
if conflicts of interest or the impression of a 
conflict of interest exist in individual cases. In 
the financial year 2020, no conflict of interest 
requiring disclosure arose. In five cases, a total 
of two members of the body abstained from 
voting on a resolution to avoid the appearance 
of a conflict of interest.
 
According to the equality law provisions of the 
General Act on Equal Treatment relevant for 
Berlin Hyp, the Supervisory Board set a target 
for itself in a resolution dated 26 June 2017 to 
maintain the status quo of 13% (two women) 
with regard to the proportion of women on 
the Supervisory Board until 30 June 2022. At 
present, two women are represented on the 
Supervisory Board, which means that the quota 
has been met.
 
Attention is given to potential conflicts of 
interest and compliance with the age limit of 70 
years as stipulated in the Rules of Procedure. 
The age diversity at the end of the financial 
year was between 53 and 66 years.
 
The Supervisory Board submits itself to 
efficiency reviews each year. The most recent 
review was conducted at the Supervisory Board 
meeting on 23 September 2020 and was based 
on a detailed questionnaire, as in the past, 
which addressed relevant topics according to 
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developments and events related to the Bank. 
For example, the planned publication dates for 
financial reporting are found in the financial 
calendar. All annual reports and interim reports 
are also archived and available on the website. 
In addition, the website contains important 
capital market information such as the current 
composition of the cover funds. Almost all 
information published by the Bank online is 
also published in English.

Risk Culture 
Berlin Hyp’s business philosophy has always 
been based on a triad of stable earnings, 
efficient structures and low risks. The Bank 
therefore fosters a risk culture that is designed 
to ensure the long-term success of its business 
and its corporate value. It defines risk aware-
ness, readiness and management at the Bank. 
The conservative risk culture at Berlin Hyp is 
reflected in its business processes, guidelines, 
financing principles and Code of Conduct and is 
evident in the decisions made by management 
and employees in their daily work.

Compliance
Berlin Hyp has a proven compliance manage-
ment system that monitors the development of 
legal and regulatory frameworks and initiates 
implementation measures if necessary. It 
serves to protect the Bank and its customers 
and therefore reinforces the trust of customers 
in Berlin Hyp. The Bank has set up a central 
compliance function to ensure compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements and to assist 
other specialist departments in performing 
their duties with regard to compliance issues. 
In addition, the compliance function regularly 
carries out preventive measures and adequacy 
and efficiency surveys in the specialist areas 
and performs risk analyses.
 
 
In addition to the existing contact channels, 
Berlin Hyp has implemented a whistleblower 
system that can be used by employees, 
customers, business partners and other 
stakeholders. This includes the function of an 
external ombudsman, whom whistleblowers 
can contact in confidence if they come across 
suspected criminal activities or illegal business 
transactions.
 

as the large-scale projects for the digitisation 
of the Bank or the ongoing development of 
sustainability management.
 
The approach to risks in connection with the 
Bank’s business activity is material to the Board 
of Management and the Supervisory Board. 
Both bodies require regular reports about 
risks and their development. Berlin Hyp’s risk 
management system is continually developed 
further by the Bank and is examined by the 
auditors. The Board of Management passes 
on information that is material with regard to 
the risk aspects to the Chair of the Supervisory 
Board without undue delay.
 
Due to COVID-19, the Supervisory Board meet-
ings were smoothly transitioned to a digital 
format in March 2020.
 
For strategic issues and discussions on strategic 
orientation, the Board of Management involves 
the Supervisory Board as appropriate.
 
The composition of the Board of Management 
and the Supervisory Board, as well as the 
spheres of responsibility of the individual 
members of the Board of Management, is pre-
sented on pages 2 and 3 of the Annual Report. 

Efficiency Improvement by Committees
The Supervisory Board is assisted by four 
formed committees in accordance with 
regulatory requirements and with the aim of 
increasing efficiency. The Loans Committee is 
also active as the Risk Committee pursuant to 
the German Banking Act (KWG). The meetings 
were held in the usual way, with the committee 
meetings taking place 10 to 14 days before 
the Supervisory Board meetings. Written and 
oral reports from the committees provide the 
SB members with comprehensive information 
about the discussions of the committees in 
advance of each SB meeting. The Chair of the 
Supervisory Board does not hold the chair of 
the Audit Committee and the Chair of the Loans 
Committee (also the Risk Committee) does 
not hold an additional chair of the governing 
bodies. For details regarding the responsibil-
ities of the various committees and the areas 
they focused on in 2020, see the Supervisory 
Board Report in this Annual Report.

Transparency
Open communication and transparency are 
extremely important at Berlin Hyp. The Bank’s 
website provides information about all material 
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Organisational Structure
Berlin Hyp AG (Berlin Hyp) is a stock corporation 
(Aktiengesellschaft) and forms part of the 
Landesbank Berlin Holding AG Group (LBBH), 
Berlin, the majority of whose shares are held 
by the Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe 
mbH & Co. KG. As a subsidiary of Landesbank 
Berlin Holding, Berlin Hyp is included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the 
Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH 
& Co. KG (smallest and largest consolidation 
group as defined in Section 285 Nos. 14 and 14a 
of the German Commercial Code [HGB]). A profit 
and loss transfer agreement is in place between 
Berlin Hyp and Landesbank Berlin Holding. The 
Group structure as at 31 December 2020 is as 
follows1:

Until 31 December 2020, the Berlin Hyp Board 
of Management comprised three members who 
had the following areas of responsibility:

Sascha Klaus (Chair)
	�Finance
	�Governance
	�Information Technology
	�Communications and Marketing
	�Staff
	�Internal Audit
	�Company Strategy

Gero Bergmann
	�B-One
	�Portfolio Management
	�Treasury
	�Sales Real Estate Financing

Alexander Stuwe
	�Data Management
	�Lending (Real Estate and Capital Market)
	�Risk Controlling
	�Valuation
	�Risk Management
	�Future Management Process
	�Representatives

Mr. Gero Bergmann left the Berlin Hyp Board  
of Management upon the expiry of 31 December 
2020. Since 1 January 2021, the Board of 
Management has comprised two members, to 
whom the following areas of responsibility have 
been assigned: 

Sascha Klaus (Chair)
	�B-One
	�Finance
	�Information Technology
	�Communications and Marketing
	�Staff
	�Treasury
	�Company Strategy
	�Real Estate Financing Sales (RF) (from 1 
February 2021: RF1 – Foreign Sales)
	�Portfolio Management (from 1 February 
2021: RF2 – Domestic Sales & Portfolio 
Management)

Alexander Stuwe
	�Data Management
	�Lending (Real Estate and Capital Market)
	�Internal Audit
	�Governance
	�Risk Controlling
	�Valuation
	�Risk Management
	�Future Management Process
	�Representatives

In view of the future challenges facing Berlin 
Hyp, a project was set up to review the organi-
sational structure, the processes and the future 
workforce of the company and a target vision 

1 �The names Landesbank Berlin AG and Berliner Sparkasse 
are used synonymously in the following.
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its Immo product range developed specifically 
for savings banks, the Bank provides added 
value, above all with the secured “ImmoSchuld-
schein” and the “ImmoAval” and “ImmoGarant” 
products. The products and services Berlin Hyp 
offers to savings banks also include support for 
syndicate financing and a range of services in 
the valuation and restructuring of problematic 
loans. As an S-Group partner, Berlin Hyp is 
constantly developing products and services for 
the institutions with the aim of making a lasting 
and positive contribution to the success of the 
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe.

As a real estate sector partner, Berlin Hyp is one 
of the first ports of call for investors from the 
private and commercial real estate sectors. In 
addition to capital investment companies and 
real estate funds, this also includes housing 
construction companies and cooperatives 
as well as selected project developers. The 
Bank offers its customers individual solutions 
for real estate financing in all common asset 
classes, either as individual properties or in 
portfolios. In addition to traditional mortgage 
loans, the Bank offers guarantees as well as 
building contractor and development financing. 
Through its business model, Berlin Hyp focuses 
on real estate financing in economic centres in 
Germany and select foreign markets.

The Bank is an issuer of mortgage Pfandbriefe 
and senior unsecured and subordinated bonds 
on the capital market. Both mortgage Pfand-
briefe and senior unsecured bonds can also be 
issued as Green Bonds. As a bank specialising 
in commercial real estate, Pfandbriefe make 
up the primary refinancing instruments. These 
Pfandbriefe are issued both as benchmark 
bonds as well as private placements in the form 
of bearer bonds or registered bonds. As the 
issuer of the first Green Pfandbrief, Berlin Hyp is 
a pioneer in the capital market. Berlin Hyp is the 
most active issuer of Green Bonds in Europe in 
the commercial bank segment.

Locations
Berlin Hyp is headquartered in Berlin. It also has 
domestic sales offices in Düsseldorf, Frankfurt 
am Main, Hamburg, Munich and Stuttgart, as 
well as abroad in Amsterdam, Warsaw and Paris.

was developed. Based on this target vision, 
organisational changes and adjustments were 
made to the organisational structure in the 
middle of the year. These include the newly 
created B-One and Data Management divisions. 
The previous project for the construction of a 
new energy-efficient building as the headquar-
ters for Berlin Hyp at its current location has 
been fully integrated into the B-One division. 
The former Company Organisation division 
was dissolved and the tasks were successively 
integrated into other divisions/departments, 
including the B-One division.

The Bank’s strategic goal for its core business 
is to leverage additional earnings potential 
through new products and new markets. In order 
to create the necessary framework conditions, 
the Real Estate Financing Sales division was 
split into the domestic and foreign segments at 
the beginning of February 2021. To this end, the 
RF division was renamed “RF1 – Foreign Sales”. 
In addition, in order to continue and bundle 
the successful cooperation in the domestic 
business with the savings banks, the “Domestic 
Sales” segment with the domestic branches was 
integrated into the Portfolio Management (PM) 
division and this division was renamed “RF2 – 
Domestic Sales & Portfolio Management”.

Berlin Hyp is divided overall into 15 divisions 
with 47 departments and eight teams.

The Supervisory Board of Berlin Hyp has formed 
four committees: the Loans Committee, the 
Audit Committee, the Presiding and Nomina-
tion Committee and the Remuneration Control 
Committee. 

Business Activities
Berlin Hyp is a banking institution specialised 
in commercial real estate financing. With 150 
years of experience in the industry and mem-
bership in the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe, Berlin 
Hyp is one of Germany’s leading real estate and 
Pfandbrief banks. 

Under the umbrella of Landesbank Berlin Hold-
ing, Berlin Hyp is a partner and competence 
centre for the commercial real estate financing 
operations of the German savings banks. With 
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Locations
Germany and throughout Europe

Berlin 
Düsseldorf  
Frankfurt 
Hamburg 
Munich
Stuttgart

Paris

Amsterdam

Warsaw

Products and Services
Berlin Hyp develops individual financing 
solutions for its customers. A broad range of 
products is used to meet customers’ require-
ments. Among other products, this includes 
fixed-interest loans, reference interest rate 
loans, cash loans and sureties, framework lines, 
interest hedge products, financing products for 
construction work (construction enterprises and 
developers), business current accounts, oper-
ating equipment loans and overnight money/
term money, as well as valuations and payment 
transaction services. These enable the Bank to 
offer a full range of customer care as a one-stop 
real estate financer.

To manage risks and optimise returns, many 
financing transactions are processed together 
with partners. For the most part, Berlin Hyp’s 
product range is therefore consequently 
suitable for syndicates. The Agency Desk service 
unit provides special services relating to the 
syndicate business.

With the standardised products “ImmoSchuld-
schein”, which allows savings banks to partici-
pate in the potential returns of commercial real 
estate financing, “ImmoAval”, which combines 
co-liability through a guarantee with simple 
documentation, and “ImmoGarant”, which 
was newly developed in 2019, Berlin Hyp has 
created a product range that is consistently 
tailored to the needs of savings banks. In line 
with the strategic orientation of the Bank, all 
Immo products will be offered in future via the 
ImmoDigital portal solution, which was newly 
developed in 2020; only ImmoAval offers are 
available via ImmoDigital in the initial phase. 
The Berlin Hyp product portfolio for savings 
banks also includes standard syndicated 

financing, investment products such as Pfand-
briefe and debentures, and support services in 
valuation and restructuring (“ImmoRisikoDi-
alog”). Furthermore, Berlin Hyp is continually 
expanding its product portfolio with the aim of 
establishing its position over the long term as a 
real estate service provider for savings banks.

The sales structure is decentralised and 
targeted to meet the needs of the savings banks 
in order to strengthen the group philosophy. 
Regional savings bank advisers and apprais-
ers advise the savings banks from the Bank’s 
branches in Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, 
Munich and Stuttgart. An advisory board 
consisting of the boards of selected savings 
banks in all S-Group regions advises Berlin Hyp 
twice a year on all issues relating to the S-Group 
business. 

OnSite ImmoAgent GmbH, a company founded 
by Berlin Hyp, provides commercial real estate 
inspection services on the market for both 
savings banks and third parties. 

Sustainability is a central aspect of Berlin Hyp’s 
company strategy. Since 2015, Berlin Hyp’s 
value chain has included an additional impor-
tant element of sustainability – green bonds for 
the refinancing of green assets. They thus offer 
investors added value beyond the creditwor-
thiness of the bank and its cover funds. Green 
bonds are issued in the form Green Pfandbriefe 
and Green Senior Unsecured Bonds. The financ-
ing of green buildings, among other things, 
represents an element of the Bank's sustaina-
bility activities that relates directly to its core 
business, commercial real estate financing.

Medium and long-term refinancing is generally 
carried out by issuing mortgage Pfandbriefe, as 
well as through unsecured issues.
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As an S-Group partner of the savings banks for 
commercial real estate financing, Berlin Hyp 
applies its expertise and develops its portfolio 
of products and services consistently in line 
with the needs of the savings banks with the 
aim of establishing its position over the long 
term as a partner and real estate service pro-
vider in the Sparkassen Finanzgruppe.

Berlin Hyp has adopted a far-reaching sustain-
ability agenda. As a green real estate financier, 
the Bank feels committed to the climate goals 
of the EU and the Federal Republic of Germany, 
and intends to make an ambitious contribution 
in this regard. A package of objectives and 
measures to address sustainability issues was 
therefore adopted at Berlin Hyp.

Berlin Hyp will continue to increase the share 
of green buildings in its real estate portfolio – 
raising it up to one-third by the year 2025. 
In addition, Berlin Hyp is developing new 
sustainability products, among them currently 
a loan specifically designed to finance building 
transformation projects.

Excellent information infrastructure is crucial 
when it comes to the evaluation criteria for 
sustainable and green financing and the 
associated risks. The goal of Berlin Hyp is 
therefore to achieve full transparency on the 
climate performance and climate risks of its 
portfolio by 2025.

The Berlin Hyp Board of Management has 
summarised the company strategy in a strategy 
document. It describes the business strategy 
that forms a binding strategic framework for 
the Bank’s business activities. The functional 
strategies and operating targets are derived 
from this.

Berlin Hyp pursues two major strategic goals:

1. �Berlin Hyp is the most modern commercial 
real estate financier in Germany.

2. �Berlin Hyp is an S-Group partner of the 
German savings banks.

For the Bank, this means the consistent imple-
mentation of its digitisation and innovation 
activities. In this regard, the most important 
element consists of large-scale internal 
projects which aim to digitise and partially 
automate the Bank’s key business processes 
and make them data-driven. 

In addition, Berlin Hyp is actively involved in 
the digital real estate ecosystem and is testing 
new business models and additional product 
and service offerings for its customers with 
innovative companies and start-ups from the 
PropTech realm. As an active strategic investor, 
Berlin Hyp participates in selected companies 
while also entering into strategic partnerships 
and cooperations. 

The Bank is trying to tap into additional 
earnings potential beyond the core business of 
real estate financing in the future through new 
business areas.

share of green buildings  
in the real estate portfolio

Objective by 2025

1/3
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Other financial indicators are also included in 
the management, such as the liquidity cover-
age ratio (LCR) and the (not yet mandatory) 
leverage ratio, both of which will become more 
important in the future.

Non-Financial Performance Indicators
Berlin Hyp has defined the following most 
important non-financial performance indicators 
to manage its business activities:

	� 	Acquisition of new customers: the Bank 
defines all new business partners that 
cannot be assigned to any group of clus-
tered customers in the portfolio as new 
customers. The key figure “Acquisition of 
new customers” describes the share of 
lending concluded with new customers in 
new lending. 
	�S-Group Business: volume of business 
conducted with S-Group partners and the 
number of active business relationships 
within the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe.

In addition, the management also relies on 
other supporting non-financial performance 
indicators, such as the employee capacity 
measured in FTEs (full time equivalents). In 
terms of sustainability, further non-financial 
performance indicators include Green Bonds, 
green financing and the sustainability rating.

We will address the most important financial 
and non-financial performance indicators 
in more detail, particularly in the Economic 
Report.

Berlin Hyp’s business policies are managed 
on the basis of annually recurring strategy 
and planning processes, in compliance with 
regulatory requirements and the risk strategy 
approved by the Board of Management. The 
management is therefore risk and value-ori-
ented, and is generally based on the process 
stages of planning, implementation, assess-
ment and adjustment. The central management 
tools are the financial statements and budg-
ets, the financial and risk reports, as well as 
liquidity, new business and portfolio reports as 
prepared in accordance with German commer-
cial law and regulations. Potential deviations 
and their causes are continuously analysed on 
the basis of budget/actual comparisons.

Financial Performance Indicators
Berlin Hyp has defined the following most 
important financial performance indicators to 
manage its business activities:

	�Transfer of profit to Landesbank Berlin 
Holding 
	�Net interest and commission income
	�Cost-income ratio: ratio of operating 
expenditure to net interest and commission 
income, plus other operating income
	�Return on equity: ratio of profit before 
income tax and profit transfer, plus the 
change in the special item for general bank-
ing risks pursuant to Section 340g German 
Commercial Code (HGB) and the average 
balance sheet equity including the special 
item for general banking risks pursuant to 
Section 340g German Commercial Code 
(HGB)
	�Common equity Tier 1 ratio: ratio of Com-
mon equity tier 1 capital allocable under 
regulatory requirements to the total risk-
weighted assets
	�New lending volume

Management System



The decline in investments in fixed-assets was 
considerably more significant, whereas con-
struction investments declined only marginally 
despite the strained economic situation. This 
development is due to the cyclical dynamics 
that had developed in previous years and the 
high order backlog at the capacity limit, the 
quantification of which is not reflected in the 
construction investments until the trades have 
been completed. The temporary reduction 
in VAT for the second half of the year was an 
additional driver. In addition, the financing 
conditions remained very favourable as a result 
of the expansionary monetary policy.

Industry Development
In the reporting year, the monetary policy was 
dominated by the COVID-19 crisis. In March, 
the FED cut its key interest rates significantly 
in two steps from 1.50 to 1.75 per cent to 
a target range of 0.00 to 0.25 per cent. The 
interest rate cuts will be accompanied by 
an unlimited bond-buying programme that 
will continue until further progress is made 
toward full employment and price stability. 
In the eurozone, the European Central Bank 
(ECB) kept the main refinancing rate at 0 per 
cent and the deposit rate at minus 0.50 per 
cent. The ECB launched the PEPP (Pandemic 
Emergency Purchase Programme) in addition 
to the existing bond buying programmes, 
which initially envisaged the purchase of bonds 
worth €750 billion. In the course of the crisis, 
the ECB has increased this by €600 billion and 
subsequently again by €500 billion to a total of 
€1,850 billion. This programme is to run until 
at least the end of March 2022. In addition, the 
ECB adjusted the conditions for its targeted 
longer-term refinancing transactions (TLTRO-
III) at the end of April. In the best case and 
depending on the volume of their lending, 
banks can thus capture an interest rate of 50 
basis points below the deposit rate on their 
tended volume for part of the lending term. At 
its December meeting, the Governing Council 
of the ECB decided on three additional TLTRO 
tranches under the most favourable conditions.

From mid-February onwards, the capital market 
environment in the eurozone was characterised 
by great uncertainty. Yields on ten-year German 

Macroeconomic Development2

Under the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
global economic growth in 2020 posted a 
noticeable decline compared to the previous 
year. With the measures taken everywhere dur-
ing the summer to curb the infection, economic 
life and the consumption behaviour of citizens 
was nearly normalised, leading to strong 
catch-up effects. But almost all countries were 
hit by a second wave of infection starting in 
late summer; as a result, the economic recovery 
that had begun was held back again in spite of 
extensive economic policy instruments.

The economic downturn resulting from cuts 
due to the pandemic had a noticeably stronger 
impact in the eurozone than on the global 
economic average, particularly in the wake of 
the second wave of infection.

Economic growth in Germany in 2020 was also 
strongly influenced by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
After a massive slump, the easing of measures 
and the declining number of infections led to 
an unprecedented recovery in early summer. 
This was significantly impeded by a resur-
gence in infection rates and another round of 
lockdown restrictions, although these were less 
drastic.

Overall, private consumption showed strong 
fluctuations in line with the pandemic trend, 
with a significant decrease at the bottom line 
compared to the previous year. Extensive fiscal 
stimulus programs helped support citizens’ 
purchasing power and limit the considerable 
decline in private consumption. On the other 
hand, companies largely managed to maintain 
their performance. A drastic increase in the 
unemployment rate and the number of insol-
vencies in accordance with the overall situation 
was therefore avoided in the past year.

The respective import and export figures 
decreased significantly compared to the previ-
ous year. However, they also rose sharply again 
in the interim recovery period, nearly reaching 
pre-crisis levels during that time.

2 �Sources for macroeconomic underlying conditions: German 
Institute for Economic Research (DIW), Kiel Institute for the 
World Economy (IfW).
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economic recovery given the progress made on 
COVID-19 vaccines, share prices recovered in 
the course of the year. The DAX closed the year 
at 13,718 points, having reached a new all-time 
high just before.

The year 2020 was heavily impacted by the 
slump in German economic performance due to 
the pandemic. At the same time, the ongoing 
low interest rate environment, the lack of 
investment alternatives and the high volume 
of liquidity were factors that influenced the 
developments in the commercial real estate 
investment market in Germany. With a transac-
tion volume of around €79.2 billion, the com-
mercial real estate market registered a 12 per 
cent decline compared to the historically high 
result of the previous year. With a total volume 
of around €20 billion, commercially traded 
residential real estate was at a significant high. 
The increase in the residential segment was 
around 23 per cent compared to the previous 
year. This result reflects the high level of trust 
enjoyed by the German residential investment 
market worldwide due to state support meas-
ures such as short-time work compensation or 
the possibility of special depreciation for the 
construction of multi-storey buildings. Rent 
regulations such as the Berlin rent cap do not 
appear to have had any significant negative 
impact on investor interest. 

The market share of international investors on 
the residential investment market increased 
significantly in the reporting year to 30 per 
cent (previous year: 13 per cent). With regard 
to the commercial investment market, demand 
from international investors was also notice-
ably higher in 2020 – its share increased by 
5 percentage points to 47 per cent compared 
to 2019. This confirms the statement from the 
Berlin Hyp Trendbarometer survey in June 
2020 with regard to the full year 2020. In the 
first half of the year, nearly two-thirds of the 
survey participants still rated the German com-
mercial real estate market as more attractive 
than the other European markets despite the 
coronavirus crisis.

The measures implemented to curb the COVID-
19 pandemic affected the different types of real 
estate to varying degrees: For example, parts 
of the retail and hotel property segment have 
been affected very negatively by the decline in 
the number of passengers and guests. Since 
the retail segment in particular is divided into 
many different types of businesses, a detailed 

government bonds initially benefited from their 
reputation as a safe haven and fell from minus 
0.23 per cent at the beginning of the year to 
a peak low of minus 0.86 per cent. Against 
the backdrop of the significant increase in 
government debt caused by the fiscal support-
ive measures, the yields of ten-year German 
federal bonds initially rose again briefly to the 
levels of the beginning of the year. Volatility 
decreased and yields fluctuated mainly within 
a corridor of minus 0.40 to 0.60 per cent, 
ultimately ending the year 2020 at minus 0.57 
per cent. The swap curve flattened out com-
pared to the beginning of the year and was in 
the negative range across all maturities (up to 
50 years) as of the reporting date. The ten-year 
swap point level fell from 0.11 per cent at the 
beginning of the year to minus 0.26 per cent.

Against the background of the COVID-19 
pandemic and the more favourable TLTRO-III 
conditions that resulted, the issue volume in 
the covered bond segment remained signif-
icantly below that of previous years. Never-
theless, even during the crisis it was possible 
to place issues on the market at high spreads 
and new issue premiums. At its peak, spreads 
of the Iboxx index for mortgage Pfandbriefe 
widened by 15 basis points until mid-April. The 
comprehensive European and national support 
measures, as well as demand from the Euro-
pean Central Bank in the context its purchasing 
programmes, reduced risk premiums from 
mid-April. As a result of the tight risk premiums 
combined with the low interest rate level, only 
around one per cent of all outstanding bonds 
in the iBoxx EUR Covered Index reported a 
positive return at the end of 2020. The share 
was around 24 per cent in the previous year. 

The spreads for uncovered bank bonds showed 
a similar movement to that of covered bonds. 
However, the significant expansion of risk 
premiums in the interim was compensated for 
again over the course of year. At the end of the 
period under review, euro-denominated senior 
non-preferred bonds traded at on average 
seven basis points higher than at the begin-
ning of the year, while senior preferred bonds 
only gained around one basis point. Berlin 
Hyp bonds stand out as having the lowest risk 
premiums of any German bank.

In March, the stock markets plummeted in 
record speed on both sides of the Atlantic due 
to the crisis. Driven by expansionary fiscal 
and monetary policy and the hope of a rapid 
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analysis is highly relevant. While food-related 
retail business types, such as supermarkets 
and food discounters, were highly favoured by 
investors, shopping centres were extremely 
uncertain about their future role in the retail 
landscape. Nevertheless, larger-scale trans-
actions in the first half of 2020 contributed to 
a 21 per cent year-on-year increase in retail 
property transaction volumes to €12.3 billion. 
On the other hand, capital invested in hotel 
properties posted a sharp decline of 60 per 
cent compared to the previous year, resulting in 
a transaction volume of nearly €2 billion. 

Office properties – especially those with long 
lease terms and tenants with strong credit 
ratings – were the most significant real estate 
investment class in 2020. Its share of all usage 
types, including the commercially traded 
residential segment, amounted to 35 per cent 
with a transaction volume of around €27.6 
billion (previous year: around €40 billion). The 
concentration on core real estate, the limited 
product availability and trends accelerated by 
the COVID-19 pandemic that cannot be conclu-
sively evaluated, such as temporary work-from-
home measures or remote working, explain 
the transaction volume in the office segment, 
which has declined by 31 per cent. 

By contrast, investors focused even more of 
their attention on logistics properties given the 
high growth rates in e-commerce due to the 
pandemic. Transaction volumes rose by 10 per 
cent year-on-year to around €7.6 billion. 3

3 �Sources for the sector-related environment: BNP Paribas 
Real Estate, CBRE.
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following berlinhyp21, Berlin Hyp has achieved 
several major milestones through its large-scale 
projects and also established a wide range of 
perspectives in terms of cultural reflection.

The culture of discussion and feedback has 
changed, and internal cooperation continues to 
develop as the share of mobile work increases, 
even outside of the context of COVID-19. New 
structures have been established within many 
departments and teams – from new role defini-
tions and flatter hierarchies to the piloting of 
various ways of working, such as self-organised 
teams.

Consistent progress was also made on large-
scale projects, a new portfolio management 
was established, the credit application line was 
further digitised and the first fully digital trans-
action with a savings bank was also completed. 
At the same time, the Bank is continuing to test 
new ways of working in the temporary loca-
tions in order to determine the best working 
environment in parallel with the construction of 
the new headquarters.

In addition, the Bank is continuously exploring 
new business approaches and is examining 
cooperation with innovative companies in the 
PropTech scene. Berlin Hyp currently holds 
three strategic investments. In addition to the 
company “OnSite ImmoAgent GmbH” founded 
by the Bank and supported by another strategic 
investor, the investments in the venture capital 
fund “PropTech1” and in the “21st Real Estate 
GmbH” remain unchanged. Additional invest-
ment opportunities are under examination.

New Lending Slightly Below the Previous 
Year’s Level
Berlin Hyp reports contracted new lending in 
the amount of €5.7 billion for 2020, which is 
below the outstanding result of the previous 
year as expected (€6.3 billion). With realised 
extensions (capital employed ≥ 1 year) of €1.0 
billion (€1.0 billion), this put the total new 
business volume at €6.7 billion (€7.3 billion). 
Despite the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
this result was in line with the planning and 
prior-year forecast. 

Berlin Hyp continued its solid business devel-
opment in 2020 and reinforced its position as 
one of the leading real estate and Pfandbrief 
banks. Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
financial year was pleasing overall, with a result 
that exceeded expectations before being trans-
ferred to Landesbank Berlin Holding AG. 

Once again, the business development was 
influenced by the continued low interest rate 
phase, intense competition among commercial 
real estate financiers and the increased regu-
latory requirements. However, the overarching 
theme was the COVID-19 pandemic, which has 
been spreading since the middle of the first 
half of 2020 and has led to a very high increase 
in mobile working at Berlin Hyp. The timely 
switch to mobile endpoints and the increasing 
digitisation of core banking processes meant 
that the existing infrastructure was capable of 
handling all essential work. 

The impact of market uncertainties on the 
bank’s credit holdings was discussed at regular 
intervals within a COVID-19 task force. In addi-
tion to the ongoing monitoring of the property 
types particularly affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic, the related financing activities were 
continuously analysed in detail. 

In the course of the economic and sector-re-
lated developments, no measures have been 
taken as of yet – apart from rating changes 
– for the Bank’s loans in the portfolio beyond 
inclusion in the increased support in the loan 
back-office. There were only a small number 
of deferment requests from customers due to 
COVID-19 in relation to the credit exposure. 
This underscores the quality of the financing 
portfolio, which is clear from the continued high 
share of financing in good and very good rating 
classes and a very low rate of non-performing 
loans (NPL). Please refer to the statements in 
the risk report of this management report in 
this regard. Information is also provided about 
the Bank’s approach, the potential impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the real estate market, 
and the RWA and risk provisioning.

Following the launch of the future-oriented pro-
cess <next dimension berlin hyp> in March 2020 

2020

€ 6.7 billion

New lending

including long-term
extensions
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Of Berlin Hyp’s new lending, 77 per cent (70 per 
cent) was accounted for by domestic proper-
ties, 49 per cent (49 per cent) of which were in 
A cities, 17 per cent (nine per cent) in B cities, 
and eleven per cent (twelve per cent) in other 
locations in Germany. The financing of foreign 
properties accounted for 23 per cent (30 per 
cent), distributed among the lending regions of 
Benelux at 15 per cent (twelve per cent), France 
at two per cent (nine per cent) and Poland at six 
per cent (nine per cent). 

At 68 per cent, most new lending related to 
the investors customer group. Another 19 per 
cent was realised with developers and builders. 
Contracts with housing societies accounted for 
13.0% of new business.

New lending is broken down by real estate type 
as shown on the right. 

Public Sector Lending Reduced Further in 
Line with Strategy
The Bank no longer actively pursues new public 
sector lending in accordance with its strategy. 
As in previous years, no new loans were issued 
in the 2020 financial year. Loan volume 
decreased by €0.1 billion to €0.4 billion and is 
being reduced further as and when individual 
loans become due.

COVID-19 Slows the Development of the 
S-Group Business
Berlin Hyp’s S-Group business grew 
satisfactorily in 2020, although slightly less 
than planned. The reason for this was the 
recessionary economic development triggered 
by the COVID-19 pandemic, especially in the 
first half of the year, and the resulting restraint 
in the financing market. A total volume of 
€1.4 billion (€1.9 billion) in financing was 
realised with S-Group partners along the entire 
product range. 

In the traditional syndicate business, a total 
volume of €806 million was financed in several 
transactions. In addition, two ImmoSchuld-
schein transactions with a total volume of 
€285 million and several ImmoAval transac-
tions with a total volume of €233 million were 
completed. The demand was steady for the 

ImmoGarant product, which was first developed 
in 2019. ImmoGarant transactions with a total 
volume of €96 million were realised together 
with savings banks in the financial year.

The number of business relationships with 
savings banks increased further with 153 
institutions (151) from all S-Group regions. The 
minimal increase in the number of institutions 
is the result of mergers of certain savings 
banks, but despite the difficult framework con-
ditions, three new savings banks were acquired 
as users of our Immo products.

In line with its strategic objective, Berlin 
Hyp also developed the new online platform 
ImmoDigital exclusively for savings banks 
and launched it on the market in 2020. The 

Regions
in % 49+17+11+23 49Germany – A cities

Germany – B cities

Germany – other

International

17

11

23

Real estate types  
in % 40+34+9+9+3+5 40Office

Residential

Retail

Logistics

Management

Other

34

9

3

9

5
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long-term refinancing of Berlin Hyp. In 2020, 
the Bank borrowed €2.2 billion in capital 
(€3.8 billion) using these instruments. Despite 
the COVID-19 pandemic, market access was 
available at all times. With a total of four 
benchmark transactions, including one in 
foreign currency for the first time, the Bank was 
a regular issuer on the syndicated bond market. 
Three of these issues, including the Swiss franc 
debut bond, were structured as green bonds. 
The Bank therefore managed to issue two or 
more green bonds in a year for the fourth time 
in a row and remains the most active issuer of 
Green Bonds in Europe in the commercial bank-
ing segment with ten outstanding euro issues.

Equity Position Strengthened through 
Further Additions
The common equity tier 1 ratio is 13.4 per 
cent (13.3 per cent) and the total capital ratio 
is 15.8 per cent (16.0 per cent), taking into 
account the approval of the annual accounts. By 
reinforcing the special item for general banking 
risks according to Section 340g of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) with an additional 
€70.0 million (€90.0 million) and applying the 
simplification rules of CRR II, capital ratios were 
maintained at a stable level with constant risk 
assets. As such, the Bank’s forecasts in the 
previous year were exceeded.

first transaction on the platform was already 
successfully completed by the end of 2020. 
ImmoDigital enables participating savings 
banks to evaluate the investments selected by 
Berlin Hyp for the savings bank, conclude corre-
sponding syndicate agreements and manage 
agreed investments. The platform is designed 
to relieve conventional communication chan-
nels, reduce media discontinuities and facil-
itate processes by pooling all relevant infor-
mation centrally in one place. The objective is 
to achieve a completely digital processing of 
the investment formats of the Immo product 
range developed by Berlin Hyp for German 
savings banks. In its current version, the Immo
Digital platform will initially offer the product 
ImmoAval. We are striving for the integration of 
further Berlin Hyp “Immo” products.

By expanding the range of the products and 
services for savings banks, Berlin Hyp is 
responding to the needs of the savings banks 
for further diversification of investment oppor-
tunities and additional services while strength-
ening its position as the S-Group partner of the 
savings banks.

Refinancing at Very Favourable Conditions
Mortgage Pfandbrief and unsecured bond 
issues are generally used for the medium-to-
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Operating Expenditure at the Previous Year’s 
Level
Operating expenditure comprises staff expend-
iture, other operating expenditure and amor-
tisation on tangible assets and depreciation of 
intangible assets. It amounted to €173.2 million 
and was thus only €0.9 million higher than the 
previous year’s figure, in line with expectations.

Compared to the previous year, staff expend-
iture decreased by €10.4 million to €82.0 
million due to lower pension obligations. 

Other operating expenditure amounted to 
€70.1 million, which corresponds to an increase 
of €2.6 million from the same period in the 
previous year. It primarily includes IT expendi-
ture, legal and consulting costs, the expenses 
from the annual payment of the European bank 
levy, building and premises costs, and the 
allocation of the administrative holding costs of 
the managing institution under regulatory law. 
The increase reflects the increasing demands 
on information technology and regulatory 
reporting requirements and must be viewed 
positively in view of the initiated projects. 
Compared to the previous year, the expenditure 
for the European banking levy increased again 
by €1.4 million to €13.4 million.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
and amortisation of intangible assets increased 
sharply by €8.7 million to €21.1 million. This 
is due to the significantly reduced remaining 
useful life of the existing building at Budapes-
ter Strasse 1 in connection with the planned 
new building at the Berlin headquarters. The 
building had been fully depreciated as at the 
reporting date.

Other Operating Result Impacted by One-Off 
Effects
The other operating result amounted to €-1.7 
million after €-1.6 million in the previous year. 
It includes expenditures from the continuous 
interest accrual of pension reserves and the 
adjustment of the strategic resource planning 
reserve, as well as income from the reversal of 
reserves for legal risks arising from the German 
Federal Court of Justice (BGH) ruling on loan 
processing fees on 4 July 2017. 

Profit Transfer Significantly Below the Previ-
ous Year
Berlin Hyp generated earnings of €23.4 
million for the 2020 financial year before profit 
transfer. This was significantly below the pre-
vious year’s figure of €61.0 million. Given the 
ongoing low interest rate environment, strict 
regulatory requirements and intense compe-
tition in commercial real estate financing, the 
Bank is satisfied with the higher-than-expected 
earnings trend. Significant negative effects 
of the COVID-19 pandemic have not yet been 
recorded. Despite the fact that lending risks 
have not yet materialised, the Bank has again 
formed provision reserves and continued to 
strengthen the special item pursuant to Section 
340g of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
by allocating €70.0 million (previous year: 
€90.0 million) using its own resources. The 
main reasons for this development of profit are 
described in the following sections. 

Net Interest Income Rose Slightly
Net interest income amounted to €313.1 
million, exceeding last year’s figure by €3.4 
million, which is significantly higher than what 
had been expected. In addition to the increase 
in the average mortgage loans portfolio of €1.4 
billion, the participation in the targeted longer-
term refinancing operations of the Deutsche 
Bundesbank (TLTRO-III) and the resulting 
interest rates also had a positive effect. Other 
one-off effects, including prepayment charges 
for unplanned repayments in particular, were 
largely neutralised by compensatory measures, 
particularly the closing of interest rate swaps 
with negative market values. 

Net Commission Income Increased
Compared to the previous year, net commission 
income increased by €2.2 million to €20.0 
million. It mainly includes commission income 
from the lending business, which was higher 
than in the previous year due to the positive 
development of new lending. Due to rulings of 
the German Federal Court of Justice (BGH) from 
2017 on loan processing fees, the processing 
fees were mapped extensively in the interest 
margins and distributed over the term. 

€ 96.6

Operating result
(after risk provisioning)

million
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on the participation in 21st real Estate. Net 
income from investments in the previous year 
was €-4.0 million.

Further additions to the fund for general 
banking risks 
The Bank used the favourable economic devel-
opment to strengthen the Fund for General 
Banking Risks by an additional €70.0 million 
(previous year’s allocation: €90.0 million) in 
accordance with Section 340g of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). This fund amounted to 
€488.0 million as of the reporting date. 

Operating Result before Income Taxes and 
Profit Transfer Significant Lower than in the 
Previous Year
Taking into account the further increase in 
provision reserves, the Bank reports pre-tax 
earnings of €23.6 million, which is higher than 
planned. This represents a decrease of €38.0 
million compared with the pro rata profit of 
2019.

Profit and loss transfer agreement
Based on the profit transfer agreement 
concluded with Landesbank Berlin Holding, 
Berlin Hyp transferred a profit of €23.4 million 
(€61.0 million). 

Return on Equity Declined
The return on equity was 6.8 per cent and was 
below target due to the lower-than-planned 
allocation to the special item for general 
banking risks pursuant to Section 340g of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the exten-
sive formation of provision reserves. It was 
significantly below the previous year’s figure of 
11.6 per cent.

Better Cost-Income Ratio
The cost-income ratio expresses the relation-
ship of operating expenditure to net interest 
and commission income, including the other 
operating result.
Despite the operating expenditure, which 
was negatively impacted to some extent by 
one-off effects, such as the higher deprecia-
tion of the main building and investments in 
future projects, and the deterioration in other 
operating income, the increase in net interest 
and commission income led to a decline in the 
cost-income ratio by 0.6 percentage points 
to 52.3 per cent. A significant increase in the 
cost-income ratio was expected in the plan. As 
such, the achieved development was better 
than expected.

Risk Provisioning Increased
For the lending business, the Bank’s risk 
provisioning stood at €81.4 million, which was 
higher than expected (net, previous year: €7.5 
million). Berlin Hyp has taken into account the 
growing latent risks arising from the COVID-19 
pandemic by setting up an additional manage-
ment adjustment as part of lump-sum value 
adjustment for valuated loans and creating 
reserves for irrevocable lending commitments. 
Due to the active risk management of the Bank, 
there were no pandemic-related loan defaults 
in the reporting year. A detailed overview of the 
development of the lending risk provisioning 
can be found in the notes.

Risk provisioning for securities in the liquidity 
reserve posted a net income of €19.8 million 
due to sales. The net income in the previous 
year was €9.7 million. 

Net Income from Investments Slightly 
Improved
Net income from investments of €-2.8 million 
mainly includes an unscheduled write-down 
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Earnings Development 2020

€m

2019

€ m

Veränderung

€ m

Net interest and commission income 333.1 327.5 5.6

	 Net interest income 313.1 309.7 3.4

	 Net commission income  20.0 17.8 2.2

Operating expenditure  173.2 172.3 0.9

	 Staff expenditure 82.0 92.4 –10.4

	 Other operating expenditure 70.1 67.5 2.6

	 of which Expenditure for bank levy 13.4 12.0 1.4

	  Depreciation on fixed assets 21.1 12.4 8.7

Other operating revenue/expenditure –1.7 –1.6 –0.1

Operating result before risk provisioning 158.2 153.6 4.6

Risk provisioning –61.6 2.2 –63.8

	 Valuation result of lending business –81.4 –7.5 –73.9

	 Valuation result of securities business 19.8 9.7 10.1

Operating result after risk provisioning 96.6 155.8 –59.2

Financial investment result –2.8 –4.0 1.2

Fund for general banking risks 70.0 90.0 –20.0

Other taxes 0.2 0.2 0.0

Operating result before income taxes and profit transfer 23.6 61.6 –38.0

Income taxes ("−" = earnings) 0.2 0.6 –0.4

Profits transferred on the basis of the profit transfer agreement 23.4 61.0 –37.6

Net income 0.0 0.0 0.0
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Balance Sheet Total Increased Significantly
Compared to the previous year, the balance 
sheet total increased significantly by €6.4 
billion to €33.4 billion as at 31 December 2020. 
On the assets side, the rise was mainly due 
to the rise in mortgage loans and securities 
portfolios and higher Bundesbank deposits. The 
individual balance sheet items developed in line 
with the strategic orientation of the Bank. 

Changes in Major Balance Sheet Items
Claims against banking institutions decreased 
by €0.2 billion to €0.1 billion. The decrease is 
mainly due to lower time deposit investments.

Claims against customers increased by €2.0 
billion to €24.4 billion. The increase was mainly 
due to mortgage loans, whose portfolio grew 
by €2.1 billion and reached a new high of €23.9 

billion. Additions to new lending were offset to 
a lesser extent by planned and extraordinary 
outflows through early repayments. As part of 
the strategic reduction in public sector lending, 
the portfolio continued to decline by €0.1 
billion to €0.4 billion. Compared to the previous 
year, the amount of loan commitments not yet 
disbursed remained nearly unchanged at €3 
billion.

The portfolio of debentures and other fixed-in-
terest securities increased significantly by €2.5 
billion to €6.2 billion. Nominal additions of €6.2 
billion were offset by disposals of €3.7 billion.

As at 31 December 2020, the issuer structure of 
the securities portfolio was as follows:

 	� Covered

 	� Sovereign risk

 	� Sovereign guaranteed

 	� Senior unsec without GW

 	� Supranational

 	� Companies (Germany and abroad)

Lending risk 
in %

33+30+19+11+4+3
11.6

18.7

3.3 2.9

33.1

30.4

 	� Germany

 	 France

 	 Scandinavia

  	 North America

  	 BE/NL/LUX

 	 Supranational

 	 UK

 	 Spain

 	 Austria

 	 Eastern Europe

 	 Switzerland

Countries 
in %

54+15+10+6+5+3+2+2+2+1+054.610.3

6.4

4.7

1.4

3.0
2.1
1.4

0.3
0.9

14.9
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ber 2020. Subordinated capital of €186.1 million 
can also be taken into consideration as available 
under regulatory law.

During the reporting year, the requirements with 
respect to regulatory capitalisation (CRR/CRD IV, 
Solvency Regulation) were complied with as of 
the reporting dates. Berlin Hyp identifies regula-
tory capital backing for counterparty default risk 
with the aid of the IRB-based approach (internal 
ratings-based approach). Operational risk is 
calculated using the Advanced Measurement 
Approach (AMA). The common equity Tier 1 
capital after adoption was €1,386.7 million as at 
31 December 2020, equity was €1,630.8 million, 
and overall risk (RWA) amounted to €10,320.9 
million. The capital ratios were 13.4% for the 
common equity tier 1 capital ratio and 15.8% for 
the total capital ratio. 

Additional Performance Indicators
The leverage ratio calculated according to the 
Delegate Regulation (EU) 2015/62 was 4.1% 
after adoption as at 31 December 2020. The 
balance-sheet-oriented minimum requirement 
for eligible liabilities (MREL) will probably not 
become relevant for reporting until 2021 when 
the decision is taken by the liquidation author-
ity. As at 31 December 2020, it was 17.5 per 
cent based on the leverage ratio exposure and 
57.0 per cent based on the total risk exposure 
amount (TREA). 

Securities with a nominal volume of €0.2 billion 
(€0.2 billion) are valued as fixed assets, since 
they are not classified as a liquidity reserve and 
partially serve to cover Pfandbriefe issued by 
the bank.

Liabilities to banking institutions increased 
significantly by €5.4 billion to €9.5 billion. The 
€1.0 billion decrease in Lombard loans was 
offset by a sharp increase of €6.6 billion in 
liabilities from fixed-term deposits, in par-
ticular through participation in the TLTRO-III 
programme of the Deutsche Bundesbank. 

Liabilities to customers increased slightly by 
€0.2 billion to €4.5 billion compared to the 
previous year. 

Securitised liabilities to customers increased 
by €0.9 billion to €17.1 billion. New issues of 
€3.4 billion were offset by maturities of €2.2 
billion and repurchases of €0.3 billion.

Equity
Berlin Hyp’s subscribed capital amounted to 
€753,389,240.32 as at 31 December 2020. It 
is fully paid up and divided into 294,292,672 
bearer shares. The shares have a theoretical par 
value of €2.56. Furthermore, the special item 
for general banking risks pursuant to Section 
340g of the German Commercial Code (HGB) was 
€488.0 million (€418.0 million) as at 31 Decem-
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on the Swiss capital market, where it issued a 
bond in Swiss francs for the first time, also in 
green format. The eight-year senior preferred 
bond of CHF 125 million was placed within a 
short period of time on a spread of mid-swap 
+50. The Bank therefore managed to issue two 
or more Green Bonds in a year for the fourth 
time in a row and remains the most active 
issuer of Green Bonds in Europe in the com-
mercial banking segment with ten outstanding 
euro issues.

In addition, the Bank bought back short-term 
Pfandbriefe in June as part of a public tender 
worth €303 million and participated in three 
tranches of the TLTRO-III programme. 

As of the reporting date, Moody’s continued 
to rate Berlin Hyp’s mortgage Pfandbriefe 
Aaa with a stable outlook, while the senior 
preferred and senior non-preferred ratings 
remained Aa2 (with a stable outlook) and 
A2, respectively. As part of a methodologi-
cal adjustment, Fitch upgraded the senior 
preferred bonds one notch to AA-. The senior 
non-preferred rating remained unaffected by 
this and remains A+. Against the background 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, Fitch revised the 
outlook for the Issuer Default Rating (IDR) of 
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe, the Bank’s support 
provider, from stable to negative. This was 
accompanied by a change in Berlin Hyp’s IDR 
outlook. This affects the outlook for the ratings 
of the senior preferred and senior non-pre-
ferred bonds.

In the reporting period, the refinancing funds 
raised amounted to €2.2 billion. Of this total, 
€1.6 billion were attributable to mortgage 
Pfandbriefe and €0.6 billion to unsecured bank 
bonds, which were assumed at very good con-
ditions compared to competitors. Around €0.1 
billion of covered and €0.5 billion of uncovered 
securities were issued as private placements. 

Berlin Hyp issued syndicated bonds four times 
in the reporting year. In February, the Bank 
issued a seven-year Pfandbrief with a volume 
of €500 million and a coupon of 0.01 per cent 
at a re-offer spread of mid-swap minus 1 basis 
point. Yields were minus 0.201 per cent. The 
majority of the issue (77 per cent) went to 
domestic investors, followed by investors from 
the Nordic countries (8 per cent) and the UK 
(6 per cent). Banking institutions and savings 
banks formed the largest investor group, 
accounting for 54 per cent. At the end of June 
and the end of August, the Bank also placed 
its ninth and tenth Green Bonds, each in the 
form of Green Pfandbriefe worth €500 million 
on the capital market. Demand from domestic 
and foreign investors was balanced for both 
the eight-year and ten-year transaction. In 
terms of investor groups, banks and savings 
banks showed the most interest, followed by 
funds. Both bonds were clearly oversubscribed, 
allowing them to be priced to a re-offer spread 
of mid-swap +5 and 6 basis points respectively 
and a yield of -0.228 and -0.122 per cent in the 
midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, 
Berlin Hyp made its foreign currency debut 

Aaa
from Moody’s

Pfandbrief issue rating



Capital market refinancing *

Capital market refinancing in 
foreign currencies*
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Portfolio 
without pro 

rata interest 
31/12/2019

New issues**  

01/01 – 
31/12/2020

Maturities***  

01/01 – 
31/12/2020

Portfolio 
without pro rata 

interest
31/12/2020

€m €m % €m €m

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 10,285.0  1,584.0   75.1   1.433.2   10,435.8  

Public Pfandbriefe 20.0  -  -  -  20.0  

Other bearer bonds, non-preferred  3,409.0   -  -  279.0   3,130.0  

Other bearer bonds, preferred  2,060.0   341.5   16.2   5.0   2,396.5

Registered mortgage Pfandbriefe  1,773.9   28.0    1.3    194.5    1,607.4

Registered public Pfandbriefe  432.0   - -  192.0    240.0

Schuldschein loans, non-preferred  483.3   - - 73.0  410.3

Schuldschein loans, preferred  30.0    70.8  3.4   -  100.8

Registered bonds, non-preferred  1,384.8    63.4    3.0   128.7  1,319.5   

Registered bonds, preferred  121.4    22.0    1.0   -  143.4   

Subordinated bearer bonds  6.0   - - 6.0 -

Subordinated Schuldschein loans  219.2   - - 99.7  119.5   

Subordinated registered bonds  108.0   - - -  108.0   

 20,332.6   2,109.7 100.0  2,411.1    20,031.2   

Portfolio 
without pro rata 

interest
31/12/2019

New issues**  

01/01 – 
31/12/2020

Maturities***  

01/01 – 
31/12/2020

Portfolio 
without pro rata 

interest
31/12/2020

CHFm CHFm % CHFm CHFm

Other bearer bonds, preferred -  125.0  100.0 -  125.0  

-  125.0  100.0 -  125.0  

*	 Zero balances.
**		 New issues in 2020 incl. capitalisation at zeros.
***	Maturities and early repayments incl. terminations.

*	 Zero balances.
**		 New issues in 2020 incl. capitalisation at zeros.
***	Maturities and early repayments incl. terminations.
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to the special item for general banking risks 
pursuant to Section 340g of the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB) of €70.0 million and after 
adoption exceeded expectations, even taking 
into consideration the stricter equity require-
ments according to CRR II/CRD IV.

At €5.7 billion, new business volume slightly 
exceeded its predicted level and was below the 
previous year’s level of €6.3 billion. Including 
long-term extensions, new business decreased 
by €0.6 billion to €6.7 billion (€7.3 billion).

Non-Financial Performance Indicators
The share of new business with new customers 
was 27 per cent of the total volume of new 
business, which was significantly higher than 
expected.

The market penetration at the savings banks, 
i.e. the number of savings banks with which 
Berlin Hyp maintains business relations, is a 
reflection of the Bank’s strategic goal of posi-
tioning itself as S-Group partner of the savings 
banks and its brand core, based on partnership. 
Furthermore, Berlin Hyp strives to expand its 
product and service portfolio consistently in 
order to further increase its appeal as S-Group 
partner. In 2020, the volume of the S-Group 
business amounted to €1.4 billion (€1.9 
billion) and was significantly below expecta-
tions, impacted above all by the effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, it was not 
possible in the past financial year to continue 
the trend of the previous years; however, with 
active business relationships with 153 savings 
banks (151 institutions) from all S-Group 
regions, networking within the Sparkassen-Fi-
nanzgruppe expanded further, even in times of 
greater uncertainty. This was mainly due to the 
continuous expansion of the product portfolio 
of Berlin Hyp. 

For the market segment, the target portfolio for 
management purposes has become estab-
lished in recent years. It includes the following 
aggregation groups: Real estate types, cus-
tomer groups, lending regions, rating classes 
and Green Bond financing capability. The 
specified target portfolio values, which reflect 
the Bank’s conservative risk strategy, were 

Financial Performance Indicators
Taking into account the allocation of €70.0 
million to the special item for general banking 
risks pursuant to Section 340g of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB), the transfer of profit 
to Landesbank Berlin Holding amounted to 
€23.4 million, which was €37.6 million below 
the previous year’s figure. The decline was not 
as sharp as forecast in last year’s management 
report due to risk provisioning expenditures, 
which were well below expectations. Neverthe-
less, it was influenced by the difficult condi-
tions described in the course of the business. 

Compared to the previous year, net interest 
and commission income increased by €5.6 
million to €333.1 million. As such, net interest 
income increased contrary to expectation and 
improved by €3.4 million to €313.1 million. 
Besides a higher average mortgage loan 
portfolio, the increase was due to the partici-
pation in the targeted longer-term refinancing 
operations with the Deutsche Bundesbank 
(TLTRO-III) and the resulting interest. Net 
commission income, which we had expected to 
remain at the level of 2019, also improved, and 
at €20.0 million was €2.2 million higher than in 
the previous year. 

Fortunately, the cost-income ratio of 52.3 per 
cent was significantly lower than expected. 
Operating expenditure, which was at the same 
level as in the previous year, combined with the 
increased net interest and commission income 
led to a moderate decline in the cost-income 
ratio of 0.6 percentage points. 

The return on equity was 6.8 per cent as at the 
reporting date, 4.9 percentage points below 
the previous year’s figure. Due to the reduced 
profit transfer to Landesbank Berlin Holding 
AG, the lower allocation to the special item for 
general banking risks pursuant to Section 340g 
of the German Commercial Code (HGB) com-
pared with the previous year, and the extensive 
formation of provision reserves, neither the 
very positive prior-year figure of 11.6 per cent 
nor the target range were achieved. 

At 13.4 per cent (13.3 per cent), the common 
equity Tier 1 capital ratio after the allocation 
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ISS ESG (formerly oekom research) confirmed 
the prime status of Berlin Hyp with an overall 
B-rating in October 2020. Berlin Hyp received 
a Sustainalytics ESG risk rating of 11.9 in 
October 2020, confirming it as “low risk”. The 
rating agency MSCI raised Berlin Hyp’s previous 
sustainability rating from “BBB” to “A” in 
November 2019.

These very good rating results from the rating 
agencies document Berlin Hyp’s outstanding 
commitment to sustainability management, 
honour its investment products – green bonds 
– and recognise its responsible attitude to 
people and the environment.

complied with overall in 2020. Individual devi-
ations were analysed and taken into account 
in the portfolio management. Regular internal 
research studies are employed to analyse and 
evaluate Berlin Hyp’s markets.

In addition to market conditions, the perfor-
mance of Berlin Hyp depends largely on its 
employees. Since the reporting year 2018, the 
headcount in full-time equivalents (FTE) has 
been a non-financial performance indicator. 

As of 31 December 2020, the headcount was 
552 FTEs (564 FTEs), which included 20 FTEs 
(23 FTEs) of junior staff. 

The implementation of a new, future-oriented 
organisational structure was launched in 2020. 
In this context, employee qualification is of 
even greater importance.

Strategic resource planning is a means to 
ensure the functional capability and future 
viability of Berlin Hyp. To support strategic 
resource planning, early retirement and sever-
ance agreements are offered on the basis of a 
works agreement. In the medium to long term, 
the Bank’s age structure leads to an increasing 
number of employees who leave Berlin Hyp 
when they reach retirement. As knowledge is 
transferred to successors, positions are often 
temporarily double-staffed. 

Through the financing of sustainable, cli-
mate-friendly properties (green buildings), and 
their refinancing via green bonds, Berlin Hyp 
has actively supported the dynamic develop-
ment of the market for sustainable bonds since 
2015. After making its debut with the world’s 
first Green Pfandbrief in 2015, ten Green Bonds 
with a total volume of €5 billion have since 
been issued. Furthermore, Berlin Hyp placed 
an eight-year green senior preferred bond 
worth CHF 125 million and issued its first green 
private placement. In addition, the financing of 
energy efficient buildings and their refinancing 
with Green Bonds has been a permanent goal 
of the Bank’s company strategy since the spring 
of 2016. 
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The Bank transferred a result after taxes of 
€23.4 million (€61.0 million), which was more 
than planned, to Landesbank Berlin Holding AG 
as profit. New business targets were achieved. 

The year 2020 was heavily impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In view the credit risks 
that have not yet materialised, the unchanged 
high level of competition in commercial real 
estate financing, the persistently low level of 
interest rates and the increased regulatory 
requirements, the Board of Management is sat-
isfied with the better-than-expected earnings 
trend. 
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pressure on the real estate markets, contrary 
to previous expectations, due to vacancies 
and value losses in commercial real estate, 
thereby leading to rising risk provisioning 
expenditures. Furthermore, there could be a 
decrease in the volume of new business and 
the number of holdings in the commercial real 
estate financing business. It therefore cannot 
be ruled out that the further developments in 
the COVID-19 crisis will lead to negative effects 
on the planned earnings figures. In such a situ-
ation, the profit transfer in 2021 could also be 
significantly lower than the result in 2020 due 
to rising risk provisioning expenditures and a 
negative impact on the interest result. Should 
this be the case, the other key management 
indicators may also develop less favourably 
than those shown in the forecast report. There 
may also be consequences for regulatory 
capital and the regulatory indicators. Moreover, 
this may give rise to liquidity risks. It cannot be 
ruled out that the further developments in the 
COVID-19 crisis in the 2021 financial year may 
also have a negative impact on risk manage-
ment parameters.

After the balance sheet date of 31 December 
2020, a lengthy hard lockdown period con-
tinued through January, with significantly 
reduced economic activity and limited busi-
ness activities for many companies (including 
hotels, non-food retailers, etc.). As a result, the 
spread of COVID-19 continues to have a con-
siderable impact on the economic activity in 
many markets. This also means a significantly 
increased likelihood that the economy will 
continue to struggle and that the real estate 
industry will also face negative consequences 
in future. In this respect, there is a value-gen-
erating event after the balance sheet date. 

The concrete effects on the economy, individ-
ual markets and sectors cannot be conclusively 
assessed as yet. The forecasts contained in 
the management report reveal a high degree 
of uncertainty in view of the dynamics that 
are emerging. However, as far as the effects 
of COVID-19 on the economy are reflected 
in sustained economic and capital market 
pressures and the current situation persists 
or worsens, this could also put significant 

Report on Subsequent Events
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are pinned on the development of vaccines. 
The continuation of the highly expansionary 
monetary and fiscal policy will provide a 
supportive stimulus. On the other hand, the 
described recovery path will be at risk due to 
the re-emergence of the infection if travel and 
contact restrictions are lifted too early, or the 
virus mutates. Trade policy conflicts, which had 
a negative impact on the economic develop-
ment before the outbreak of the pandemic, 
could also resurface. However, after the change 
of government in the US, it can be assumed 
that the protectionist attitude on the other side 
of the Atlantic will relent, at least for the EU. 

The eurozone is expected to have a particularly 
dynamic economic growth, due above all to the 
high recovery potential following the renewed 
slump in the second half of 2020. In addition, 
efforts are underway to have all highly vul-
nerable population groups rapidly vaccinated 
by mid-2021 at the latest. Specific risks for 
the eurozone are arising from the effects of 
Brexit. Although the withdrawal agreement was 
approved at the end of the year, there are now 
disruptions caused by border controls and new 
supply chains to be coordinated. In the medium 
term, trade barriers could arise as a result of 
potentially diverging product standards.

But they carry less weight from a German 
perspective. Anticipatory shifts in the trade of 
goods and foreign investments to the other EU 
countries and outside the EU to China and the 
US already occurred last year. 

Given the opportunities and risks described, 
we also expect significant growth rates in 
economic performance for Germany. These 
will be below the EU average due to the lower 
prior-year effect. 

Assumptions Relating to Industry 
Development
The monetary policy of the most important 
central banks will remain expansive for the 
foreseeable future, resulting in continued low 
and negative interest rates. This also applies in 
particular to the ECB. The recovery path taken 
by the economic activity in view of the ongo-
ing pandemic will determine the extent and 

The forecast report should be read together 
with the other chapters of this management 
report. The forecast statements contained in 
the report are based on estimates and conclu-
sions from the information currently available. 
The statements are based on a number of 
assumptions relating to future events that have 
been integrated into the corporate planning of 
Berlin Hyp. There are uncertainties and risks 
regarding the occurrence of future events, 
many of which are beyond the Bank’s control. 
As such, actual events may differ from the 
forecasts made in the forecast report.

In particular, the concrete effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the economy, individual 
markets and sectors cannot be conclusively 
assessed as yet. Given the situation, the fore-
casts presented below are highly uncertain.

Forecasts can only be made in a volatile 
environment to a limited degree. The main 
opportunities and risks of the forecasts for 
the key management indicators are presented 
below. Opportunities are defined as possible 
future developments or events that may lead to 
a positive forecast or target deviation for Berlin 
Hyp. On the other hand, risks are defined as pos-
sible future developments or events that may 
lead to a negative forecast or target deviation for 
Berlin Hyp. The risk types specific to banks are 
explained separately in the extended risk report.

Assumptions Relating to Macroeconomic 
Development4

For 2021, we expect a significant recovery 
in the global economy compared with the 
previous year, with positive growth rates. The 
economic development will essentially depend 
on pandemic-related events.

In the past financial year, we have already 
seen that rapid recovery effects occur as soon 
as infection rates permit a return to a mostly 
normal economy. This is directly related to the 
implemented lockdown measures and their 
effectiveness. For example, the economy in 
China has now fully recovered. Further hopes 

4 � �Sources for assumptions relating to macroeconomic deve-
lopment: German Institute for Economic Research (IDW), 
Kiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW), ifo Institute.
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In 2020, the Bank made a great deal of progress 
toward its goal of becoming Germany’s most 
modern real estate financier. In particular, 
consistent progress was made on large-scale 
projects, the future-oriented process <next 
dimension berlin hyp> was further developed 
and new ways of working were tested. In addi-
tion to the next milestones in these areas, Berlin 
Hyp will also be focusing on cloud solutions and 
will enable even more flexibility for the work-
force with the “Digital Workstation” in 2021.

The Bank continues to pursue a consistent IT 
strategy with the aim of providing a complete 
digital platform, from initial customer contact to 
external reporting. SAP HANA and highly stand-
ardised applications play a key role in ensuring 
the required future viability, flexibility, security, 
quality and availability of data and reports. 
Process optimisations will likely be achieved 
in 2021 through the ongoing digitisation of 
the Bank’s core processes, which will make it 
possible to react even more quickly to customer 
demands. 

The core business of Berlin Hyp remains a solid 
starting point, i.e. the individual financing struc-
tures with risk-appropriate pricing and a high 
domestic share. The financing and consideration 
given to activities in selected foreign markets 
is being pursued in order to achieve balanced 
portfolio diversification in terms of risk and 
revenue. Additional management capacities 
have been allocated to these activities since the 
beginning of 2021. 

In 2021, Berlin Hyp plans to develop business 
relationships with other savings banks in the 
S-Group business and to moderately increase 
the volume of the S-Group business compared 
with the previous year. However, due to the 
regional principle and the individual business 
focus of each savings bank, the growth rates in 
market penetration are generally limited. Failure 
to achieve this goal does not hold any iden-
tifiable risks to the Bank’s business model or 
business success. However, achieving this goal 
increases Berlin Hyp’s chances of positioning 
itself sustainably as a long-term S-Group partner 
within the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe.

duration of corresponding measures. The fiscal 
measures that have already been introduced 
will further increase the already high debt 
ratios in many European countries; this will 
hamper a more restrictive monetary policy in 
the future even further. Possible restrictions 
in the monetary policy resulting from an 
increase in the inflation rate have already been 
addressed in advance with a more flexible 
interpretation of the definition of price stability. 

Even under demanding conditions, Berlin Hyp 
should be able to gain access to all segments of 
the capital market on fair market terms.

In conjunction with an economic recovery and 
in view of the unchanged favourable financing 
conditions and the pressure from investors to 
find yields, Berlin Hyp expects the real estate 
investment market to remain highly dynamic 
in 2021. It should once again be realistic for 
the threshold of €70 billion on the commercial 
and residential real estate investment market 
to be met or even exceeded. A high transaction 
volume of €15 to €20 billion can be expected 
again for the residential segment. Investor 
demand for residential properties will remain 
high in view of the stabilising effect of the 
short-time working regulation and relatively 
secure rental income as a result. The search for 
adequate returns will keep investor demand 
on the commercial property market for core 
office properties at A and B locations, grocery-
anchored retail properties and logistics 
properties at a high level. A transaction volume 
with commercial properties of around €50 to 
€55 billion will likely be achieved. 5

Business Development
Integration into the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe 
and the stable shareholder background remain 
a solid basis for Berlin Hyp to continue its 
successful business activities. The Bank also 
wants to tap into additional potential through 
its experienced workforce together with a solid 
refinancing strategy and its innovative strength. 
Berlin Hyp believes itself to be well positioned 
for the future in a challenging environment. 

5 � �Sources for assumptions relating to sector development: 
BNP Paribas Real Estate, CBRE, ECB, ifo Institute, Savills.
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Given the challenging and unstable planning 
environment impacted by the pandemic, we 
expect new business in 2021 to be significantly 
lower than the level reached in the 2020 
financial year. Although the real estate markets 
and asset classes, which have so far been very 
crisis-resistant, run the risk of falling short of 
the plan, they may also offer opportunities for 
a slightly higher level of new business com-
pared to the planning, depending on how the 
pandemic progresses.

Due to the lower expected volume of new busi-
ness in the light of the COVID-19 pandemic, net 
commission income is expected to be moder-
ately below the level of the previous year. 

Berlin Hyp expects an overall slight increase 
in operating expenditure in 2021 compared to 
the previous year. Human resource expenditure 
will develop under the influence of the negative 
effects associated with the allocations to pen-
sion obligations resulting from falling average 
interest rates and the results of future collec-
tive agreements. In addition to the continuing 
high level of cost awareness and extensive opti-
misation activities for the adaptation of human 
resources, strategically essential projects, 
such as the optimisation and digitisation of 
the loan process, the creation of an integrated 
SAP bank and the construction of the new 
headquarters, will lead to higher expenditure. 
Berlin Hyp’s headcount is expected to decline 
in the medium to long term based on the cur-
rent state of knowledge. Since January 2019, 
resource management in this regard has been 
essentially based on a company agreement. 

Contributions to the European banking levy are 
calculated by the banking supervisory author-
ity. Berlin Hyp assumes that the contributions 
will not see any major adjustments compared 
to the 2020 level.

For the above reasons, the cost-income ratio 
will increase significantly in 2021 after the 
planned increase for 2020 failed to materialise. 
With the results of the successful implementa-
tion of projects and other initiated measures, 
significant reductions can be expected again in 
the following years.

If the plans for the above-mentioned projects 
and levies are exceeded, this can have a posi-
tive impact on operating expenditure and the 
cost-income ratio. On the other hand, there is 
a risk that failure to reach planned objectives, 

The public-sector lending business is not part of 
the Bank’s core business and will continue to be 
hived off. 

Due to capital market conditions, the securities 
portfolio increased in 2020. In consideration of 
the regulatory requirements, however, earnings 
potential that arises should continue to be used 
to support the interest result while maintaining 
the conservative investment strategy. Berlin 
Hyp does not expect the securities portfolio to 
increase significantly in 2021. 

Berlin Hyp expects the net interest and commis-
sion income in 2021 to be significantly lower 
than the impressively high level reached in the 
2020 financial year. 

It also expects stable net interest income in 
the core business with its planned portfolio 
increases. However, the low and flat yield curve 
remains unchanged and, combined with lower 
new business and growth margins, will cause 
some pressure. Earnings contributions from 
credit processing fees and their distribution 
over the term are expected to remain positive 
in the net interest income. There are opportu-
nities to further reinforce the market position 
by leveraging the expertise of Berlin Hyp as 
a commercial real estate financier, and to 
exceed sales targets as well as the net inter-
est income as a result. This could be further 
facilitated by the consistent implementation 
of the digitisation strategy. Participation in the 
targeted longer-term refinancing operations 
of the European Central Bank (TLTRO-III) has 
additional earnings potential, provided that 
the corresponding credit growth is achieved. 
Potential risks may arise if the sales targets 
are not met, for example, due to the COVID-19 
pandemic or a downturn in the real estate 
markets. Cancelled or postponed investments 
could lead to a decline in demand for commer-
cial real estate financing and, depending on 
how the real estate market and interest rates 
develop, could increase unscheduled loan 
repayments. In addition, earnings risks arise 
if, due to strong competition, only interest 
margins lower than planned can be agreed in 
the core business, or if delays in implementing 
the digitisation strategy lead to lower business 
potential than expected.

In terms of acquisition of new customers, a 20 
per cent share of new business is expected in 
2021, slightly share than in 2020 (27 per cent).
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the volume of new business and the number 
of holdings in the Bank’s commercial real 
estate financing business. There are also risks 
with regard to the forecast earnings figures 
(including net interest rate and commission 
income, profit transfer) and Berlin Hyp’s key 
management indicators. There may also be 
consequences for regulatory capital and the 
regulatory indicators. It cannot be ruled out 
that the further developments in the corona-
virus crisis in the 2021 financial year may also 
have a considerable negative impact on risk 
management parameters.

In addition, such crises may produce shifts in 
credit spreads or market liquidity in the capital 
markets. This can lead to increased liquidity 
risks for banking institutions, which can also 
have an impact on Berlin Hyp.

At the same time, however, there is also a 
chance that the negative effects of the COVID-
19 pandemic will prove to be less persistent 
or milder than what the Bank has currently 
assessed and taken into account in the forecast. 
Property markets could therefore recover more 
quickly or to a greater degree than the Bank cur-
rently expects. Factors such as a rising demand 
for real estate due to a lack of investment 
alternatives could also influence recovery. The 
resulting higher demand for loans would create 
opportunities for the Bank to develop new and 
existing business in its core business area. A 
higher demand for real estate could also lead 
to a recovery in real estate prices, which would 
have a positive effect on the Bank’s risk result. 

According to plan, Berlin Hyp assumes that 
the operating result after risk provisioning, 
which is negatively affected in particular by 
the interest rate level and future investments, 
will improve, taking into account careful risk 
provisioning planning and the above-men-
tioned expectations. Earnings before profit 
transfer are expected to be slightly lower than 
in 2020 due to higher-than-planned allocations 
to the special item pursuant to Section 340g of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB). While a 
lower-than-expected profit transfer could result 
if the pandemic takes a very negative course, 
there is a chance of higher earnings before 
profit transfer if the COVID-19 pandemic takes a 
more positive course than anticipated. 

The return on equity should recover in 2021 
and is expected to be only slightly below the 
target range of 8 to 10 per cent at the end of 

negative interest rate developments or a bank 
levy set above the previous level will lead to 
higher operating expenditures and in turn to an 
increasing cost-income ratio.

In line with 2020, the other operating result 
of Berlin Hyp will again be in the negative 
single-digit million range in 2021.

With careful planning, Berlin Hyp expects a 
noticeable increase in risk provisioning in 
2021. If the current solid market and portfolio 
development continues, earnings opportunities 
will arise accordingly. Due to the rent cap, there 
is a fundamental risk of a negative impact on 
the demand for real estate projects in Berlin and 
therefore on the regional transaction volume. 
Furthermore, potential renovation measures 
could be postponed as a result of worsening rat-
ings and collateral values. Based on the results 
of an internal analysis, the Bank does not expect 
any significant allocations to risk provisioning 
from the rent cap. The medium-term impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on market develop-
ment, particularly of office and retail properties, 
has so far been difficult to estimate. 

For example, unpredictable and unexpected 
developments in external macroeconomic, 
geopolitical and sector-related conditions and 
developments on the international financial 
markets can represent opportunities and risks 
for the risk result of the capital market business. 
Furthermore, despite careful planning, a trend 
reversal in the external framework conditions – 
for example, in the event of a significant decline 
in real estate prices as a result of an increase in 
interest rates – could lead to a deterioration in 
the creditworthiness of borrowers and also to a 
reduction in the value of the collateral provided, 
and could result in a need for additional risk 
provisioning or value adjustments for commer-
cial real estate financing. It is also possible that 
the need for risk provisioning will be lower than 
expected if the economic environment remains 
the same or improves. 

Insofar as the effects of the COVID-19 pan-
demic are reflected in sustainable economic 
and capital market pressures beyond current 
expectations, this could result in vacancy rates 
and further losses in commercial property 
values, putting a strain on real estate markets 
and leading to increased risk provisioning 
expenditures, particularly for hotel financing or 
the financing of specific retail use properties. 
Furthermore, there could be a decrease in 
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Overall Statement
The framework conditions for the overall econ-
omy, the industry and for the Berlin Hyp remain 
very challenging, mainly due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

Within this context, the generally stiff compe-
tition in real estate financing, the continued 
low interest phase and the volatile capital and 
financial market environment, combined with 
the need to further strengthen equity capital 
and additional regulatory requirements, con-
tinue to present major challenges.

Berlin Hyp’s positioning in the market, includ-
ing its innovative strength in combination 
with its continued solid refinancing strategy, 
creates opportunities. This forms a good basis 
for the continuation of its successful business 
activities. With the stable and solid share-
holder background that continues to exist, an 
increasingly strong integration into the Spar-
kassen-Finanzgruppe and an experienced and 
motivated workforce, the Board of Management 
still believes that Berlin Hyp is well positioned 
for the future in an increasingly challeng-
ing environment. The aim of the measures 
introduced to optimise the Bank’s HR tools and 
the resulting optimisation of the allocation of 
human resources is to foster the skills of each 
individual staff member.

This should safeguard the stability and sustain-
ability of Berlin Hyp and provide its employees 
with a reliable perspective at the same time.

The continuous development of its “Immo” 
product range for German savings banks will 
enable Berlin Hyp to continue its joint financ-
ing business with savings banks even under 
the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic and to 
increase its level of networking within the S-Fi-
nanzgruppe. The development of the S-Group 
business is supported by customer-centric 
sales structures and the Bank’s presence in 
Germany’s core regions.

Even taking into account the recessionary eco-
nomic development triggered by the COVID-19 
pandemic and the still unpredictable develop-
ments on the real estate market and possibly 
recurring upheavals on the capital markets, 
Berlin Hyp expects that the positive business 
development with its customers will continue in 
2021. If there is no additional need for risk pro-
visioning compared to the planning, the return 
on equity is expected to increase slightly again. 

the year. If the earnings before profit transfer or 
the allocations to the special item pursuant to 
Section 340g of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) fall short of expectations, the return on 
equity will also be lower. Otherwise, there is a 
chance of a positive deviation from the plan.

The Bank expects to achieve a common equity 
Tier 1 ratio (CET1) of 12.7 per cent over a 
12-month period. Additional stricter regulatory 
requirements such as Basel IV are planned in 
the coming years, which will also have a strong 
negative impact on Berlin Hyp. In addition to 
further allocations to provision reserves, the 
active management of the total risk-weighted 
assets (RWA) will make a significant contribu-
tion to achieving the targeted capital ratios. 
Events such as an increase in RWA above 
expectations as a result of reduced collateral 
values and rating changes due to the COVID-19 
pandemic and the increasing rent regulation 
would put the achievement of targets at risk. 

A change in the Bank’s rating may have a posi-
tive or negative impact on the Bank’s financing 
options or refinancing costs. In addition, if the 
major central banks set a monetary policy that 
is more restrictive than expected, this may 
increase refinancing costs.

Earnings risks arise in particular if an increase 
in the cost of refinancing cannot be passed on 
as part of the conditioning or the expected new 
business volume cannot be generated on the 
markets at the planned margins. Further diver-
sification of the investor base, for example, 
by issuing additional Green Bonds, could also 
give rise to opportunities for more favourable 
refinancing.

In addition, future regulatory interventions 
may be accompanied by restrictions and 
therefore by earnings risks, and the imple-
mentation of new regulatory requirements by 
additional operating expenditure. There are 
also risks from the Bank’s membership in the 
Institutional Protection Scheme of the Spar-
kassen-Finanzgruppe. As part of compensation 
and support measures, the institutions in the 
protection scheme could be required to make 
special payments, which would put pressure 
on the Bank’s earnings. The same applies to 
potential obligations to make additional con-
tributions to the restructuring fund for banking 
institutions. It is currently not possible to 
predict whether such payments will arise and in 
what amount.
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Taking into account the significant allocation 
to the special item pursuant to Section 340g of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB), which is 
also planned for 2021, and in view of the costs 
for future-oriented projects and investments, 
earnings before profit transfer are expected to 
be somewhat lower than in the 2020 financial 
year. There is a chance for a higher profit 
transfer if the COVID-19 pandemic takes a more 
positive course.
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defines detailed underlying conditions, 
responsibilities, methods and processes for the 
individual risk management phases. Limit sys-
tems and escalation processes are described 
for each major risk type.

Berlin Hyp Risk Management System
Risk Policy Principles 
The aim of risk management is the conscious 
acceptance of strategic risks in order to gain 
access to earning opportunities and, in doing 
so, generate appropriate and sustainable 
income. Risks are accepted in view of profitabil-
ity. One parameter used in this regard is return 
on equity on the basis of regulatory and bal-
ance sheet capital. In terms of pricing, the Bank 
ensures that the revenues are in a reasonable 
proportion to the risks entered into. 

The risk strategy will be operationalised with 
the medium-term and operational planning. 
Planning takes place in consideration of all 
foreseeable risk and equity effects at the 
overall bank level.

Risk controlling supports the Board of Manage-
ment in all risk policy issues, in the develop-
ment and implementation of the risk strategy 
and in the design of the system for measuring 
and limiting risks. Risk controlling is essentially 
responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the 
risk situation, risk-bearing capacity, compliance 
with risk limits, and the regular reporting of the 
risk situation to the Board of Management and 
Governing Bodies.

Documentation of the core elements of risk 
management at Berlin Hyp is centralised in the 
risk manual. This document contains a complete 
definition of the risk management process with 
the methods and processes for identification, 
measurement, evaluation, management and 
monitoring. The risk management system 
encompasses both the evaluation of risks in 
accordance with regulatory requirements and a 
risk assessment from an economic perspective.

As part of a risk inventory, the Bank identifies 
the main risks on an annual basis, creates an 
overall risk profile for the Bank and reviews the 

Risk Management System
Berlin Hyp’s risk management system com-
prises an extensive range of tools to deal 
with risks the Bank enters into and to assess 
the economic and regulatory (normative) 
risk-bearing capacity within the framework of 
the strategy defined by the Bank’s Board of 
Management.

The objective of risk management is to main-
tain the risk-bearing capacity and compliance 
with specified minimum ratios through the 
limitation of economic risks and by establish-
ing upper limits for tied capital.

Berlin Hyp is part of Landesbank Berlin Hold-
ing. LBBH assumed the function of a financial 
holding company that does not transact bank 
business and is not a banking institution in 
the reporting year. LBBH is integrated into the 
Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH 
& Co. KG (Group). Uniform risk policy principles 
for the Group and Group-wide risk manage-
ment have been implemented.

Group Risk Management System
A number of interlinked principles and rules 
make up the Group-wide risk management 
system. 

As the superordinate regulation, the business 
strategy outlines strategic underlying condi-
tions. It defines that the controlled incurrence 
of risks within the scope of a risk strategy is 
an elementary aspect of the banking business. 
Standardised Group risk policies aim to ensure 
that assumed risks remain acceptable. All com-
panies and organisational units have to ensure 
that all risks are transparent and measurable 
under the uniform Group-wide methodology.

Details of these requirements are provided in 
the Group’s risk strategy. It is the responsibility 
of the Board of Management of Landesbank 
Berlin Holding and will be discussed with the 
Supervisory Board. Compliance with the risk 
strategy is continuously monitored.

The Group risk manual that establishes the 
framework for operational risk controlling 
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Berlin Hyp Governing Bodies at a glance:
	�Supervisory Board, including its committees
	� 	Board of Management 
	� 	Financial Steering Committee 
	� 	Loan Committee
	� 	Market Assessment Committee

Details regarding the tasks, spheres of compe-
tence and members are defined in the respec-
tive rules of procedure.

As a part of risk inventory, the Risk Controlling 
division separately proposes methods and mod-
els to identify, measure, aggregate and limit 
risks to the Board of Management separately on 
an annual basis in the light of the results. 

Responsibility for operational risk manage-
ment, that is the acceptance of risks within 
the scope of the risk limits, is assigned to the 
defined managers. Overall Bank risk manage-
ment is the responsibility of the entire Board 
of Management, while market price risk and 
liquidity risk management in compliance with 
the binding requirements of the Board of Man-
agement adopted on the basis of the proposals 
by the Financial Steering Committee is handled 
by the Treasury division. Risk management 
in the loan business is implemented by the 
respective decision maker according to the 
assigned spheres of competence, taking into 
consideration the implications for the loan 
portfolio.

Reporting
Berlin Hyp’s risk situation is presented in detail 
on a quarterly basis in an overall risk report for 
the Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board. In addition to the material informa-
tion on the individual risk types classified as 
material, the stress test results and information 
on risk concentrations, the overall risk report 
also includes information on adequacy of 
capitalisation, regulatory and economic capital, 
the current capital and liquidity indicators and 
refinancing items. In addition to the quarterly 
overall risk report, risk controlling provides 
monthly reports on individual risk types and 
the Bank’s risk-bearing capacity. Market and 
liquidity risks are reported daily. If necessary, 

methods used in the risk management system.
In addition, the Internal Audit division and 
the external auditor regularly evaluate the 
risk management system in the course of the 
annual financial statement audit.
 
Berlin Hyp Governing Bodies
The Board of Management together with the 
Supervisory Board defines the strategy, which 
is then used as a basis for decisions by all divi-
sions of the company. Overall responsibility of 
management for all essential elements of risk 
management is explicitly defined for the Board 
of Management in the rules of procedure.

In accordance with the business policy focus 
and in consideration of the economic risk-bear-
ing capacity and regulatory provisions, the 
Board of Management defines risk limits and 
risk allocations in the various business areas 
as well as risk types by establishing limits and 
structural requirements. It is informed regu-
larly about Berlin Hyp’s net assets, financial 
position, profitability and risk situation.

The Supervisory Board is informed regularly 
by the Board of Management about the overall 
risk profile. It receives the quarterly risk reports 
and the financial statements according to the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The Loan 
Committee, which also acts as the Risk Com-
mittee, consists of members of the Supervisory 
Board. It consults with the Board of Manage-
ment regarding the principles of business 
policy regarding risk, in particular counterparty 
default, market price, liquidity and operational 
risks, and risk management.

Internal Audit is an essential element of the 
business and process monitoring system. This 
encompasses a regular review and evaluation 
of the risk management processes for all types 
of risk. The Internal Audit division reports 
independently and directly to the Board of 
Management.

Berlin Hyp is represented in the Risk Manage-
ment Committee, the Credit Risk Committee 
and the OpRisk Committee of Landesbank 
Berlin Holding.
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recommendations for action are also provided 
within the scope of reporting; target/actual 
comparisons, change comments and other 
analyses are prepared. In addition to the reg-
ular risk reports (overall risk report, reports on 
individual risk types), reports are also prepared 
on a case-by-case basis (ad hoc reporting) 
if deemed necessary due to the current risk 
situation, for example, if pre-defined risk limits 
or loss limits are exceeded. 

Risks
Risk Inventory
As part of a risk inventory, Berlin Hyp regularly 
(at least once per year) reviews the risks that 
can significantly affect the net assets position, 
the earnings situation or the liquidity position. 
Within the risk inventory, an overall risk profile 
for the Bank is created and the materiality of 
the identified risks is evaluated by the Board of 
Management. All identified material risks are 
included in the regular reporting of the Bank’s 
risk situation. As part of a new product process, 
new products are analysed in detail before they 
are introduced at the Bank and, in particular, 
are reviewed with regard to their risks for the 
Bank. By involving all relevant divisions, the 
new product process is designed to ensure that 
risks from new or changing products can be 
properly mapped.

Within the risk inventory, Berlin Hyp reviewed 
sustainability risks or ESG risks (environmental, 
social, governance) as overarching risks and 
classified them as fundamentally relevant risks 
for the Bank.

Besides the risk situation reports, regular 
reports are also prepared on the development 
of the business volume, the cover funds and 
reports on the Bank’s net assets, financial and 
earnings situation.

The following table shows an overview of 
Berlin Hyp’s key reports and their frequency of 
reporting:

Material Risks
In the context of its regular risk inventory, the 
Bank has classified the following risk types as 
material:

	�Counterparty default risks (including coun-
try risks),
	�Market Price Risks,
	�Liquidity risks (including the price risk from 
the liquidity risk) and
	�Operational Risks. 

Berlin Hyp distinguishes between monetary 
and non-monetary risks. Monetary risks are 
taken into account in the summary overview of 
the Bank’s risk position (overall bank risk) and 
are compared to the Bank’s risk-covering assets 
as part of the risk-bearing capacity analysis. 
Non-monetary risks (such as insolvency risk) 
cannot be backed by risk covering assets, 
but are integrated into risk management and 
controlling processes using the appropriate 
standard methods and models. Every identified 
risk type is evaluated according to established 
criteria at least once a year. To do so, the 
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Reporting frequency Subject

Daily Market price and liquidity risks (procurement risk)

Monthly Liquidity Risks

Development of balance sheet items 

Development of the earnings situation

Risks of counterparty default at portfolio level

Risk-Bearing Capacity

Risk reporting of the cover funds

Quarterly Quarterly Commercial Code reports

Summary risk report on all risk types

�Development of existing mortgages (including new lending and extension 

volumes, margins)



Counterparty  
Default Risk

Credit and credit- 
worthiness risk

Interest rate  
change risk

Procurement risk
Reputational  

risks
Internal 

procedures
Shareholder risk

Contractual 
party risk

Spread risk

Survival Period Strategic risks

General business 
risks

Other non- 
financial risks

External influences

Model risk

Price risk from  
liquidity risk

Volatility risk

Country risk

Issuer risk
Foreign exchange 

risk
Employees

Processes

Systems

Real estate risk

Advance  
performance 

risk

Processing  
risk

Market Price Risks Liquidity Risks Other RisksOperational Risks Residual Risks

probability of occurrence and magnitude of the 
risk on occurrence are taken into account, and 
the determined amount of the risks of the last 
period are analysed. 

The table below provides an overview of the 
main risk types at Berlin Hyp. Relevant but 
immaterial risks are summarised under Other 
Risks.

	� Monetary riskincluded in the RTF 
consideration

	� Non-monetary risks 
not included in the RTF consideration

	 �Significant risks
	 �Insignificant risks but underlied with 

RDM within the framework of the RDF
	 �Insignificant risks

The following overview shows the organisa-
tional implementation of risk management at 
Berlin Hyp for the major risk types:
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Risk types Risk management by the organisational  
units/committees

Risk controlling by 
the divisions

Counterparty default risks �Real Estate Financing

Portfolio Management

Treasury 

Lending

Risk Management

Risk Controlling

Market Price Risks Financial Steering Committee

Treasury

Risk Controlling

Liquidity Risks
(Including price risk)

Financial Steering Committee

Treasury

Risk Controlling

Operational risks ��Process owners 

��Divisions

Risk Controlling

Risk Types of Berlin Hyp AG
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incorporated, for instance, in the planning of 
capital measures.

In addition to the analyses described above, 
unusual economic developments as well 
as events specific to individual institutions 
are examined by means of stress tests for 
all material risks. One of the objectives here 
is to combine the monetary risk types into 
a stressed overall scenario and identify the 
effects on regulatory and economic capital.

The impact of macroeconomic changes on the 
risk-covering assets and/or on the regulatory 
capital ratios was estimated by consolidating 
the specific stress tests in the individual risk 
types into several stress tests for the Bank as 
a whole. This was achieved by defining sce-
narios in accordance with the requirements of 
the MaRisk, which also take into account the 
relationships between the individual risk types 
of the assumed developments.
Reverse stress tests are used to calculate the 
degree to which the overall banking scenar-
ios with the greatest impact would have to 
develop before the total risk-covering assets are 
exceeded or the minimum capital stock is not 
reached.

The Bank’s risk-bearing capacity was verified in 
2020 as at all reporting dates, both according 
to regulatory and normative perspectives. 
Details of the risk-bearing capacity as at 
31 December 2020 are disclosed in the section 
“Overall Statement on Risk Situation”.

Risk Management System by Risk Type
Counterparty default risks
The risk of counterparty default is the risk of a 
loss, or loss of profit, due to a deterioration of 
a business partner's creditworthiness, as well 
as a loss in value of the security provided to the 
Bank. This is currently the most dominant type 
of risk for Berlin Hyp. Counterparty default risks 
are managed and monitored at the individual 
business partner and overall portfolio levels. 
Investment risk (shareholder risk) is considered 
to be an immaterial risk.

Individual Commitment Level
Adequate risk management of counterparty 
default risks should be guaranteed through a 
loan approval directive and defined processes 
and interfaces, from acquisition to new lending 
through to loan repayment (close integration 
of acquisition and subsequent market sphere). 
The credit processes are laid out in writing in 

Risk-Bearing Capacity
Berlin Hyp has implemented a risk-bearing 
capacity concept to ensure that the Bank’s 
monetary risks are continuously covered by 
the risk-covering assets of the Bank, thereby 
ensuring the Bank’s risk-bearing capacity at all 
times. In doing so, the Bank uses appropriate 
methods to quantify the individual risks. As the 
risk calculations are based on certain confi-
dence intervals, there is a residual probability 
that the risks actually incurred are higher. Lim-
its are implemented for all monetary risks, and 
compliance with these limits is continuously 
monitored. The assumptions underlying the 
quantification of the risks and the correspond-
ing limits are reviewed regularly, at least once a 
year, and adjusted by resolution of the Board of 
Management as needed. 

The Bank’s risk-bearing capacity concept was 
revised and adapted in 2019 based on the “ECB 
Guide to the internal capital adequacy assess-
ment process (ICAAP)”. Within the framework 
of the risk-bearing capacity concept, both 
the economic perspective and the normative 
perspective are considered.

In assessing the risk-bearing capacity, the risks 
are quantified in the economic perspective 
following approaches based on value at risk. 
A confidence level of 99.9% for a one-year 
evaluation period is applied. In order to ensure 
the Bank’s risk-bearing capacity, the total risk 
position determined in this way must not exceed 
the risk-covering assets. For the overall risk 
within the risk-bearing capacity assessment, 
there is a pre-warning level at 80 per cent of the 
available risk-covering assets. The evaluation is 
completed by evaluating the overall risk position 
by assessing the results of various stress tests 
that take the risks into account from an eco-
nomic as well as a regulatory perspective. 

The risk-covering assets are calculated from 
the sum of the regulatory equity and certain 
economic adjustment items. 

Real estate risks classified as immaterial and 
shareholder risks as well as the model risks 
are summarised in the residual risk. The price 
risk in the liquidity risk is a risk classified as 
material and disclosed under “residual risk”.

The changes in risk positions arising from the 
planned business performance as well as the 
risk-covering assets are analysed as part of 
the annual planning process. The results are 
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The rating procedures employed here have 
been derived from the framework of the 
banking supervisory authority approval system. 
Quality assurance along with validation and 
back-testing for rating procedures are the 
responsibility of the Risk Controlling division 
in conjunction with the corresponding division 
at Berliner Sparkasse within the framework 
of an agency agreement. Their continued 
development and maintenance is provided by 
Sparkassen Rating und Risikosysteme GmbH 
(S- Rating) and RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH 
& Co. KG. Berlin Hyp is represented in the 
relevant working groups and bodies itself and 
through the Berliner Sparkasse.

Based on the rating class system, the counter-
party default risk is divided into performing 
loans (rating classes 1 to 15) and non-perform-
ing loans (rating classes 16 to 18).

the Bank’s regulations. Credit processes are 
examined regularly by the Internal Audit divi-
sion, which means that they are also subject to 
constant quality analysis.

The risk exposure on the individual borrower 
level is verified on the basis of regular analysis 
of creditworthiness. Rating procedures that 
take debtor and business-specific character-
istics into account are at the core of the risk 
assessment. Pricing as well as loan decisions 
are based on the rating of the borrower, taking 
into consideration the security provided. Real 
estate financing is largely determined using the 
SparkassenImmobiliengeschäfts-Rating (SIR) 
and the method for international commercial 
real estate financing (ICRE). Other rating proce-
dures are also used. These procedures par-
ticularly pertain to the capital market business 
and specifically to bank ratings and ratings for 
international regional authorities, as well as the 
corporate rating.

working on behalf of the Bank undertake 
valuations on a regular basis.

Berlin Hyp uses early warning systems with 
a variety of instruments in order to identify 
loan commitments with increased risk in time. 
Alongside the definition of quantitative early 
warning indicators as part of an early warning 
system, qualitative indicators also exist for the 
purposes of regular loan monitoring.  
The automated early warning procedure draws 
special attention to the criteria for rating dete-

The share of non-performing loans in the total 
portfolio as at 31 December 2020 was 0.6 per 
cent, and thus remains at a low level. 

Loan commitments are in principle subject to 
annual resubmission and collateral is subject to 
a regular review.

Particular focus is placed on the process of 
real estate and portfolio valuation. Certified 
appraisers from an independent division of the 
Bank or certified and independent appraisers 
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bottom-up and top-down analyses were carried 
out over the course of the year. In spring 
2020, scenario calculations were generated to 
estimate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
on debt service capacity and the development 
of the market values for each relevant asset 
class. The scenarios formed the basis for the 
estimation of the changed credit risk param-
eters and therefore the forecast of credit risk, 
risk provisioning and risk-weighted assets 
(RWA). As a result, individual asset classes in 
the portfolio are more strongly affected by 
the pandemic than others, including above all 
department stores and shopping centres of the 
retail segment as well as properties of the hotel 
segment. Around 200 individual exposures 
directly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic 
with a total volume of €8 billion were reviewed 
in more detail. In addition to short and long-
term scenario calculations, the analysis also 
included a customer survey for 50 individual 
exposures. The results of the analyses indi-
cated that no specific risks within individual 
transactions could be identified. The analyses 
revealed weaknesses in individual exposures, 
but no measures were required for any of them 
beyond inclusion in the increased support. 
No pandemic-related loan defaults occurred 
throughout 2020. 

In addition to the process of regular review and 
updating of ratings, a re-rating process has been 
set up. Sixty individual exposures with a total 
financing volume of €3.2 billion, including the 
biggest retail and hotel financing and relevant 
exposures from the analyses, were re-rated. This 
was premised on simulation assumptions based 
on initial market data and expert evaluations 
of the Bank on the development of market 
rents and market values or reliable forecast and 
interim figures of customers with COVID-19 
effects. For half of the financing volume, the 
re-rating had a neutral effect on the score and, 
in a few cases, a positive effect. Higher scores 
(> 3 points) were given to the hotel segment. 
The re-ratings led to an increase in RWA of 
approximately €230 million. In addition to the 
individual analyses, stress tests specific to the 
coronavirus were introduced within the loan 
portfolio in order to examine potential negative 
developments. 

Relative to the overall economic impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, only a small number of 
applications for support measures were sub-
mitted. Fifteen coronavirus-related requests for 
repayment deferrals and repayment reductions 

rioration, arrears of interest and principal and 
the deterioration of the debt service cover ratio 
in different degrees. Other parameters relate to 
the loan-to-value as well as the expiry of rental 
contracts and/or fixed interest rates.
Early warning meetings take place each quarter, 
attended by the Sales, Loan and Risk Manage-
ment divisions, at which the risk content of the 
identified commitments is discussed separately 
and further measures decided upon if necessary.

Risky real estate commitments are transferred 
to Risk Management. Competence for valuation 
adjustments is concentrated here. Upwards 
of a specific size, such valuation adjustments 
must be approved by the entire Board of 
Management. Valuation adjustments are made 
for an amount by which the outstanding loan, 
less any collateral, cannot be paid back with 
a high degree of probability. Collateral values 
are reviewed in this context and, if necessary, 
adjusted depending on the necessary measures.

The securities and public sector loan portfolio 
represents a significant aspect of the capital 
market business. In addition, there are counter-
party risks from the derivatives business. The 
existing capital market exposure is reported 
on a regular basis to the Board of Management 
and the Supervisory Board, broken down 
according to country and rating class.

Derivatives transactions are not only concluded 
with capital market counterparties but also 
real estate customers in the course of prop-
erty financing. Counterparty risks from the 
interbank business are in principle covered 
by collateral. The Bank is aiming to achieve a 
high share of centrally processed derivatives 
(central clearing). In the real estate customer 
business, the established mortgage liens for 
the underlying transaction generally also apply 
to the derivative through broad statements of 
collateral purpose. 

Early warning indicators ensure daily risk-ori-
ented communication regarding capital market 
counterparties as well as any potential meas-
ures to be undertaken by the Bank as a whole. 
As in the past, Berlin Hyp has no investments in 
structured products.

The Bank launched a COVID-19 task force in 
March 2020 as a response to the coronavirus 
pandemic. The necessary steps were promptly 
taken to assess the potential impact of the 
pandemic on the credit portfolio. In-depth 
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	�Country correlations,
	�Income ratios to determine expected 
proceeds from security,
	�Contribution ratios to value unsecured loan 
components,
	�Ratios to value externally approved limits 
that have not been drawn yet.

Based on the assumption of no fundamental 
changes to the risk structure of the portfolio 
(constant level of risk, going concern approach), 
the credit default distribution that is determined 
makes it possible to make statements regarding 
the probability of credit defaults in the following 
year. Risk indicators (expected loss, credit value 
at risk and unexpected loss) can be determined 
from the credit default distribution.
Management of default risks is based on unex-
pected loss at portfolio level.
Berlin Hyp has limited the counterparty default 
risk. It has the risk indicators determined daily 
under an agency contract with Berliner Spar-
kasse. The risk indicators are monitored by 
Risk Controlling. Variance analyses and limit 
monitoring are performed here. The utilisation 
of limits at the portfolio level is monitored daily 
and reported weekly. Berlin Hyp has defined 
processes and options in the event that the 
pre-warning level (90% of the credit limit) is 
exceeded and limits are exceeded.
The limit is reviewed at least once a year, 
adjusted if necessary and approved by the Board 
of Management as necessary.

As of 31 December 2020, the utilisation was 
€571 million and the limit was €749 million.

with a total financing volume of €326 million were 
approved. The volume of contractually agreed 
deferrals amounted to €3.6 million. Out of this, an 
exposure with a deferral volume of €0.14 million 
fell short of the requirements of the vdp morato-
rium, which the Bank joined in spring 2020. 

In assessing the loan portfolio, the Berlin Hyp 
takes into account the current special develop-
ments resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, 
on the one hand by setting up an additional 
management adjustment as part of lump-sum 
value adjustment in the amount of €25.6 
million for valuated loans, on the other hand by 
creating reserves for irrevocable loan commit-
ments in the amount of €6.4 million. 

Portfolio Level
In addition to risk monitoring at individual 
borrower level, Berlin Hyp also examines credit 
risks at the portfolio level.

The loan portfolio model simulates potential 
borrower, issuer, counterparty and country 
defaults as well as value changes due to rating 
migrations in a one-year evaluation period on 
the basis of:

	�Exposure data (availments, externally 
approved limits),
	�Collateral values,
	�Borrower, issuer and counterparty default 
probabilities,
	�Country default probabilities,
	�Industry correlations and volatilities,
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Responsibility for the methodology and vali-
dation of the credit value at risk model under 
consideration of Berlin Hyp’s interests rests at 
the Group level. Internal and external audits are 
carried out at Group level as well. 

Stress tests are performed within the scope 
of the credit portfolio model to simulate the 
change in a loan portfolio under the assump-
tion of extreme scenarios in order to review the 
financial stability of the Bank against macroe-
conomic crises. The definition of the scenarios 
and their parameterisation are consistent with 
the requirements of MaRisk and are based on 
the overall bank stress concept of Landesbank 
Berlin Holding. 

Rating classes
in % 80+15+4+1+0Rating classes 1–5

Rating classes 6–7

Rating classes 8–12

Rating classes 13–18

Without rating class

80,1

14,6

4,4

0,8

0,1

72+15+13+0Investors

Building contractors/ 
developers

Housing companies

Other/retail

72,1

15,1

12,7

0,1

Customer groups
in %

27+42+4+15+5+6Property types
in %

Residential

Office

Management

Retail

Logistics

Other

27,4

41,8

4,2

14,9

5,4

6,3

40+9+21+26+3Regions
in %

40,4

9,3

21,1

26,0

3,2

Germany – A cities

Germany – B cities

Germany – other 

Abroad

Without specific allocation
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The business volume of Berlin Hyp relevant for 
the determination of the counterparty default 
risk amounted to €37.8 billion as at 31 Decem-
ber 2020. This business volume is broken 
down into mortgage loans amounting to €27.6 
billion, money market and derivatives transac-
tions of around €3.5 billion, and securities and 
public sector loans of around €6.6 billion. 

The mortgage loan portfolio is broken down 
by ratings, customer groups, regions and real 
estate types as follows:



Country and Transfer Risks
Country and transfer risks are limited primarily 
through volume-based country limits, which 
are reviewed annually at least. Limits are 
determined in consideration of economic data 
and the Bank’s own concept of limiting risk con-
centrations and are resolved by the Board of 
Management. Country risks within the scope of 
new business activities are only entered into in 
countries with good or very good creditworthi-
ness. As in the preceding year, it was therefore 
not necessary to recognise a bad country debt 
value provision for transfer risks. Individual 
exposures collateralised through property are 
classified depending on the location of the 
property. In all other cases, classification is 
based on the registered office of the business 
partner.

Market Price Risks
Berlin Hyp is a non-trading book institution. As 
a Pfandbrief bank, Berlin Hyp largely assumes 
market price risks in the form of interest and 
spread change risks. Except for peak amounts, 
the Bank does not have any open currency 
positions in the real estate financing business 
in accordance with its risk strategy. Mortgage 
business in foreign currencies is refinanced 
through directly attributable hedging trans-
actions. In order to take advantage of the 
resulting opportunities in refinancing via 
foreign currencies and to further diversify the 
investor base, an unsecured issue in Swiss 
francs was successfully placed on the market 
for the first time in August 2020. The resulting 
refinancing revenue will be converted into 
euros. The foreign currency risk is hedged by a 
cross-currency swap. The Bank does not incur 
share price risks.

The controlled incurrence of market price risks 
is based on a range of risk and earnings indi-
cators. The interest rate change risk is hedged 
with swaps, swaptions and securities. For 
disclosures regarding the forms of derivatives 
used as hedging instruments, see the Deriva-
tives section in the Notes.

The Bank uses a combination of risk sensi-
tivities, the value-at-risk approach and other 
stress tests to measure the risk of interest rate 
changes. For market price risks, a value at risk 
with a holding period of one trading day and a 
99.0% confidence level are determined based 
on a historical simulation approach using an 
unweighted time series, taking into account 

linear and non-linear risks including volatility 
risks. In assessing the market price risk within 
the context of risk-bearing capacity (ICAAP), 
the risk values were scaled accordingly to a 
confidence level of 99.9 per cent and a holding 
period of one year. In July 2020, the method 
was changed from a variance-covariance 
approach to the historical simulation method 
based on ten-year time series in response to 
corresponding validation findings. The value at 
risk also takes credit spread risks and interest 
change risks from the Bank’s pension reserves 
into account in addition to general interest rate 
change risks.

The Bank determines a risk coefficient with 
which cash value changes to the banking book 
are modelled in relation to equity for an inter-
est rate change of +/200 basis points based on 
the EBA guideline and the corresponding BaFin 
circular on the management of the interest 
rate risk for transactions in the banking book. 
The stress scenarios for market price risk also 
include various earnings and risk stress tests 
and a net interest income simulation. 

The value at risk and risk coefficient are limited. 
Thresholds have been established ahead of 
the limits. The changes in the risk coefficient 
and the net interest income when applying six 
regulatory interest rate risk raising from the 
banking book (IRRBB) scenarios come with 
warnings. Recourse in relation to the market 
price risk was below the value-at-risk limit 
throughout 2020. This also applies to March 
2020, when the markets reacted with consid-
erable uncertainty to the start of the pandemic 
in Europe and the unclear economic outlook. 
Since then, the Bank’s securities portfolio has 
experienced higher cash losses; however, these 
were offset again over the rest of the year. On 
the reporting date, the utilisation was €11.9 
million and the limit was €17.5 million.

72+15+13+027+42+4+15+5+6
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Development of the CVaR in 2020
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Market price risks are reported daily to the 
Board of Management. This includes among 
other things information about basis point 
values for the overall risk-bearing position, 
the risk coefficients, the value at risk utilisa-
tion and cash value profit and loss analyses. 
A predefined escalation process is triggered 
when warning thresholds or limits are reached 
or exceeded. To enable the expansion of the 
liquidity reserve, the limit was raised in May and 
simultaneously lowered for the counterparty 
default risk. The limit was adjusted again in July 
for the transition of the market risk model to 
historical simulation.

The daily reports to the management also 
include comments on the results of back-
testing. In the previous year, i.e. 2019, outliers 
emerged in connection with event-driven 
market movements, especially in units of the 
LBB Group, with interest change risks in the 
long-term maturity range. This was due to a 
significant rise in interest rate volatility in this 
maturity range over the course of the year as 
a result of global political uncertainties and in 
response to announcements by central banks. 
In response to the observed backtest outliers, 
the above-mentioned adjustment to the 
market price risk model was made in July 2020. 
Since changing to the historical simulation 
approach, the model has performed normally in 
back-testing. 
 

Reports on the results of the stress tests are 
prepared periodically as part of the monthly 
and quarterly reports. Aside from specific 
interest rate changes, these scenarios also 
include the results of actual, historical interest 
rate developments. Alongside interest curve 
modifications, stress simulations are also used 
to examine the effects of credit spread changes 
on the cash value. Besides the presentation of 
the cash value impact on these scenarios, the 
impact of six IRRBB scenarios on net interest 
income is also reported on.

Evaluating the effects of a long-term low-inter-
est phase is also part of the interest rate change 
risk analyses. Berlin Hyp largely refinances itself 
in the capital market with secured and unse-
cured securities. The costs of this refinancing 
are generally passed on to the customer as part 
of the respective commitment. In this regard, 
the low-interest environment has no direct 
impact on the loan business. Nevertheless, 
long-term earnings risks exist because of a 
low equity yield and due to the valuation of 
long-term reserves. These risks are taken into 
account during the planning process.

Liquidity Risks
Berlin Hyp defines a liquidity risk as the risk that 
current and future payment obligations may not 
be met in full or on time. The liquidity risk is a 
material risk for Berlin Hyp. 
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The Bank’s current liquidity situation is analysed 
on the basis of a liquidity progress analysis.

The procurement risk (liquidity risk in the 
narrower sense) is the risk that Berlin Hyp may 
no longer be able to fulfil outstanding payment 
obligations that fall due in the short term (refi-
nancing balances) in the next 30 days if access to 
the unsecured money market is eliminated. This 
is designed to ensure that the Bank will be able 
to fulfil all payment obligations within the next 
30 days. The procurement risk is reported on a 
daily basis and the maintenance of the buffer to 
be maintained even under stress conditions is 
monitored.

As the Bank is classified as a capital market-ori-
ented institution within the meaning of the 
MaRisk, daily checks are carried out to ensure 
that liquidity is guaranteed for seven or 30 days 
in accordance with defined MaRisk conditions 
(BTR 3.2).

In 2020, the regulatory minimum ratio for the 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) was 100 per 
cent. Internally, the LCR is controlled with a target 
ratio of at least 120%. On the reporting date 31 
December 2020, the LCR ratio was 141% and 
therefore well above the minimum. 

The following chart shows the development of 
the LCR, in each case at the end of the month:

The increase in the LCR ratio in June is mainly 
due to the significant reduction in short-term 
money market refinancing as a result the inclu-
sion of long-term TLTRO funds at the ECB.

The liquidity risk for the next 365 days will be 
determined by Landesbank Berlin Holding for the 
Group and the institutions and monitored by the 
respective institution. This is based on the insol-
vency risk that is determined and reported daily. 
It is based on a risk-liquidity progress analysis 
and assumes intact access to the secured and 
unsecured capital market. The survival period 
is also determined. This describes the period 
of time that the Bank can survive in a stressful 
environment without access to the unsecured 
capital market on the liquidity side. 

The price risk encompasses the risk that in case 
of existing incongruities with dates on which 
the capital falls due, the Bank can only carry out 
follow-up financing in the next 12 months on 
the basis of increased favourable refinancing 
spreads. Furthermore, the price risk also takes 
into account the effects of increased refinancing 
spreads on pre-conditioned forward loans. The 
risk is considered within the framework of the 
risk-bearing capacity concept and is limited. As at 
31 December 2020, the figure was €16 million for 
a limit of €40 million.
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In addition to monitoring liquidity risk limits, the 
Board of Management is updated on a monthly 
basis on the concentration of secured and unse-
cured money market refinancing with individual 
counterparties.

Liquidity is managed in compliance with economic 
limits/warning thresholds. Compliance with 
regulatory requirements is a mandatory secondary 
condition. Falling below a warning threshold or a 
limit triggers a predefined escalation process.

The liquidity buffer for ensuring liquidity 
consists of diversified assets from the various 
categories, almost exclusively ECB-eligible, 
according to the CRR regulations. The Bank 
generally does not create any new exposures in 
insufficiently liquid markets.

The Treasury of Berlin Hyp provides monthly fore-
casts of liquidity development for a period of at 
least twelve months. The underlying assumptions 
are regularly reviewed and adjusted as necessary.

A regulatory minimum quota of 100 per cent will 
apply for the net stable funding ratio (NSFR) from 
30 June 2021. On the reporting date 31 December 
2020, the NSFR ratio calculated on the basis of 
CRR II was 110 per cent. Based on the liquidity 
and issuance planning, a quarterly forecast of the 
future LCR and NSFR development is prepared.

Berlin Hyp’s refinancing ability was also guaran-
teed at all times in 2020 and was not affected by 
the COVID-19 crisis.

Operational risks
Operational risk is defined in the CRR as the 
risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and systems or from 
external events. This definition includes not only 
operational risks but also legal risks; however, it 
does not include strategic risks and reputational 
risks. It is a significant risk for Berlin Hyp.

The management of operational risks is regulated 
uniformly throughout the Group. Berlin Hyp has 
appointed an OpRisk coordinator for the OpRisk 
Committee within the Group to handle interface 
function to the Landesbank Berlin Holding Group. 
Together with the Group, Berlin Hyp has received 
approval for an internal OpRisk model (advanced 
measurement approach) from the regulatory 
authorities, which is used to determine the regu-
latory capital requirement. The model is validated 
on a regular basis. 

Berlin Hyp has a systematic and consistent 
process for identifying, evaluating, monitoring 
and managing operational risks. The Board of 
Management is informed about the operational 
risks of the Bank in the quarterly risk report. 
Should extraordinary events occur, in particular 
if material losses are involved, the Board of Man-
agement is informed by ad hoc reporting.

OpRisk management is centrally coordinated and 
OpRisk results and developments are monitored 
in the Risk Controlling division. Operational risks 
are managed in consultation with the individual 
specialist departments. Responsibilities include, 
in particular, the initiation and implementation 
of countermeasures, the introduction of appro-
priate internal procedures and measures, and 
the conclusion of insurance policies. The aim of 
Berlin Hyp is to minimise operational risks from 
an economic point of view.

Various instruments are used to efficiently 
manage operational risk. These include, but are 
not limited to:

	�Self-assessment following the bottom-up 
approach (qualitative OpRisk inventory)
	�Scenario analyses for determining loss 
potential (quantitative OpRisk inventory)
	�A collection of loss cases (internal/external) 
as a basis for statistical evaluations for 
risk assessment (actuarial approach: loss 
distribution approach) and for defining 
scenarios relating to specific business areas 
for scenario analyses
	�Early warning system (recording and moni-
toring of risk indicators)
	�Controlling of measures (recording and 
monitoring of measures)
	�Risk transfer through insurance cover

In accordance with Section 25a and Section 
25h of the German Banking Act (KWG) and the 
relevant circulars of the banking supervisory 
authority, Berlin Hyp has created appropriate 
business and customer-related security systems 
for the prevention of money laundering, terrorist 
financing and other criminal acts at the expense 
of the institution. A risk analysis is carried out 
once a year, informing the Board of Management 
about the risk potential of the Bank. In the 2020 
risk analysis, the money laundering officer 
concluded that the risk of exposure to money 
laundering, terrorist financing and other criminal 
activities was “low”, taking into account imple-
mented risk mitigation measures.
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The Board of Management of Berlin Hyp decides 
on the limits for operational risks as part of the 
overall risk assessment derived from Berlin Hyp’s 
risk-bearing capacity.

The Bank participates in a data consortium for 
the collection of OpRisk claims. This expansion of 
the database with external claims is a mandatory 
part of the Advanced Measurement Approach 
(AMA) applied at the Bank.

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 crisis, the 
Bank’s operational stability has been safe-
guarded at all times. As in many other banks, 
the Bank’s operations were largely shifted to 
mobile workstations outside the offices. This did 
not result in any restrictions in the operational 
business. In addition, the Bank has laid down 
regulations for the protection of employees on 
the basis of the guidelines of the Federal Ministry 
of Labour and Social Affairs. All employees were 
regularly made of aware and informed about the 
current regulations. Necessary expenses due 
to the COVID-19 crisis in 2020 for disinfectants, 
protective masks and other coronavirus-related 
measures were recorded as OpRisk losses. 
Beyond this, the COVID-19 crisis did not cause 
any operational risks in 2020. 

For exceptional events that carry the risk of 
far-reaching consequences (such as fire and 

The limit for operational risks as at 31 December 
2020 is €71 million. On the reporting date 31 
December 2020, the operational risk amounted 
to €49 million. The monthly values for operational 
risk in 2020 determined using the AMA model are 
shown in the following diagram:

water damage, bomb threats, explosions, hos-
tage-taking raids and terrorist attacks), a crisis 
team was set up in Berlin Hyp to deal with such 
crises. The crisis team is responsible for situa-
tions requiring rapid decisions in order to avert or 
reduce significant costs and/or pecuniary losses.
In 2020, the crisis team was convened for the 
first time on 28 February 2020 in the context of 
the coronavirus pandemic to assess the impact 
on Berlin Hyp and initiate measures to protect 
its employees and ensure its continued business 
operations. Numerous other crisis team meetings 
were subsequently convened with regard to the 
coronavirus pandemic. The Bank also set up a 
COVID-19 task force in March 2020. Since June 
2020, the coronavirus crisis has been discussed 
on a weekly basis as a separate agenda item at 
the meeting of the Board of Management.
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To limit information and IT risks, data secu-
rity regulations and regularly updated and 
reviewed emergency procedures were defined 
as an integral part of the bank’s written regu-
lations based on the identified critical busi-
ness processes and the assigned IT systems. 
This is how the functionality of the business 
processes can be ensured by means of readily 
available replacement solutions in the event of 
technical disruptions.

Within the IT security management led by the 
IT security officer, additional measures have 
been implemented for ensuring IT security in 
accordance with the recommendations of the 
Federal Office for Information Security (BSI).

Legal Risks
Legal risks are risks arising from the violation 
of current and changing legal regulations, in 
particular from contractual, legal or judicial 
developments. It includes the risk of violations 
of legal provisions due to lack of knowledge, 
insufficiently rigorous application of the law 
(negligent interpretation), negligent action or 
untimely implementation. 

In addition to the specialist departments, the 
compliance function and risk controlling, the 
legal department (Governance division) is also 
responsible for identifying and preventing 
legal risks. The monitoring of legal risks that 
have occurred is generally one of the tasks 
of the legal department. Major projects are 
centrally coordinated from a legal perspective. 
For risk prevention, the legal department pro-
vides templates and explanations for contracts 
and other legally meaningful declarations 
to a reasonable extent. The involvement of 
the legal department is mandatory for cases 
involving deviating or new regulations. If 
external law firms are involved, management is 
usually handled by the legal department. The 
HR department is responsible for labour court 
proceedings.

If unforeseen developments have occurred 
to the detriment of the Bank or errors have 
been made, the legal department will help to 
identify, rectify and prevent the errors in the 
future. It also assumes the task of reviewing 
and evaluating the events according to legally 
relevant facts and managing any litigation. 
This applies above all to the defence of claims 
asserted against the Bank.

System Risks
The Bank implements information security 
management and information and IT risk 
management for the continuous improvement 
of information security, taking into account the 
risk situation and for effective risk manage-
ment. No information or IT risks with a high 
residual risk (quotients of loss amount and 
probability of occurrence) are expected.

With the integrated SAP-HANA system land-
scape, Berlin Hyp has a powerful IT platform 
that corresponds to the type and scope of 
business activities. The system was stable 
throughout the entire year. With the SAP sys-
tem as a total banking solution, Berlin Hyp has 
a homogeneous, up-to-date IT landscape that 
takes into account the increasing importance 
of information technology as a competitive 
factor. The platform is currently undergoing 
broad expansion under the SAP-HANA project. 
In 2020, the deployment of the SAP-FSDP 
(Financial Services Data Platform) in the daily 
delta load process was an important milestone 
towards establishing a highly integrated 
platform that meets the requirements for 
transparent and documented cross-application 
data streams.

An access protection system is implemented 
through accompanying organisational meas-
ures with the aim of preventing unauthorised 
or unwanted read/write access to data assets. 
In addition, safeguards have been established 
to ensure the integrity, availability, authentic-
ity and confidentiality of data through the IT 
systems and IT processes. In particular, they 
include vulnerability management, which was 
introduced in order to automatically detect 
known threats.

Up-to-date regulations have been developed 
by Berlin Hyp together with the IT service 
partners to protect against potential disasters 
in its own data centres and those operated by 
service providers. An essential part of these 
regulations are backup environments to which 
we can quickly switch over in the event of a 
disaster. The functionality of the measures was 
reviewed together with the IT service partners 
and the specialist departments using them. In 
the course of the B-One project, the data cen-
tre was moved from the building in Budapester 
Strasse to a new location; at the same time, the 
risk situation was improved.
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Risk Management Pursuant to Section 27 
PfandBG (Mortgage Pfandbriefe)
According to Section 27 of the PfandBG, each 
Pfandbrief bank must use a risk management 
system suitable for the Pfandbrief business. 
The risk management of the cover funds is 
largely integrated into the risk management 
system of Berlin Hyp. In addition, there are 
limits in line with regulatory requirements. 
Compliance with these limits is monitored on 
working days within the risk management of 
the cover funds and presented to the Board of 
Management on a monthly basis in a separate 
report.

Overall Statement on Risk Situation  
The risks incurred by Berlin Hyp were covered 
at all times throughout the financial year 
by the available risk coverage. Limits and 
pre-warning levels for risk-bearing capacity 
were not violated. The risk limits for all major 
risks of the Bank were met throughout 2020.

The risk coverage as at 31 December 2020 
amounted to €1,566 million; the total risk 
position was €932 million. The total risk limit 
was set by the Bank at €1,277 million. As at 
the balance sheet date, this resulted in an 
utilisation of the risk coverage of around 59.5 
per cent and a limit utilisation of around 73.0 
per cent. 

The following chart shows the scope and 
development of the risk coverage within the 
framework of Berlin Hyp’s risk-bearing capacity 
concept:

The Board of Management receives a report 
on a semi-annual basis on material legal risks 
that have been qualified as ongoing or immi-
nent legal proceedings of the Bank. Ad hoc 
reporting is provided for events of particular 
importance.

Shareholder risk
In the reporting year, Berlin Hyp AG held 
shares in a total of five different companies, 
including three young companies from the real 
estate digitisation sector, based in Berlin.
 
This includes OnSite ImmoAgent GmbH with its 
49 per cent crowd-based property viewing ser-
vice. The Bank holds a further minority stake of 
5.35 per cent in 21st Real Estate GmbH, which 
operates a system for the valuation and digital 
purchasing process of real estate. In addition, 
the Bank holds shares in a venture capital 
fund, PropTech1 Fund I GmbH & Co. KG, whose 
investment focus is on start-ups for the digi-
tisation of the European real estate industry. 
The shareholding was 14.43 per cent as at 31 
December 2020.
 
The minority interest in BrickVest Ltd., London, 
will be settled after its insolvency.

Lastly, Berlin Hyp AG holds 100 per cent of the 
shares in Berlin Hyp Immobilien GmbH which, 
in addition to its own brokerage activities, also 
handled the marketing of real estate, but no 
longer has any active business operations. The 
entrepreneurial risk is taken into account as 
part of the shareholder risk. Furthermore, the 
management of Berlin Hyp receives a separate 
controlling report on a quarterly basis inform-
ing it of the development of the strategic 
investments and their economic situation.

Property Risks
Property risk refers to the risk of losses against 
the current market value due to changes in the 
value of property owned by Berlin Hyp. In the 
reporting year, the portfolio included two prop-
erties that were used by Berlin Hyp itself.

Model Risks
In the year under review, Berlin Hyp took into 
account model risks – i.e. the risks of adverse 
consequences due to incorrect results from 
models (model uncertainty) – when consider-
ing the risk-bearing capacity for credit default 
risk and market price risk types.
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In 2020, the Bank carried out a detailed 
analysis of the loans portfolio in order to 
assess the potential impact of the COVID-19 
crisis on the Bank’s loans portfolio. As a result, 
individual asset classes in the portfolio are 
more strongly affected by the pandemic than 
others, including above all department stores 
and shopping centres of the Retail segment as 
well as properties of the Hotel segment. The 
analyses revealed weaknesses in individual 
exposures, but no measures were required for 
any of them beyond inclusion in the increased 
support. For 60 individual exposures with a 
financing volume of €3.2 billion, a structured 
re-rating process was carried out in 2020 in 
addition to the regular review and update of 

the ratings within a regulatory process, which 
resulted in an additional RWA requirement of 
approximately €230 million. Throughout 2020, 
there were no COVID-19-related loan defaults 
in the Bank’s portfolio. The analyses also 
show that so far no particular risks have been 
identified in the Bank’s individual exposures. 
The Bank has initiated measures to enable 
identifying potential deteriorations in the 
creditworthiness of individual exposures at an 
early stage. The analysis of the loans portfo-
lio was supplemented by COVID-19-specific 
stress tests, which regularly examines the 
possible effects of adverse developments. 
In assessing the loan portfolio, the Berlin 
Hyp takes into account the current special 

Percentage of recourse per risk type as of 31 December 2020 in %

Risk type IA in Mio. €

Counterparty default risk � 571

Market price risk� 261
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The risk-bearing capacity concept assumes a holding period of one 
year at a confidence level of 99.9 per cent.
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developments resulting from the COVID-19 
pandemic, on the one hand by setting up an 
additional management adjustment as part of 
lump-sum value adjustment in the amount of 
€25.6 million for valuated loans, on the other 
hand by creating reserves for irrevocable loan 
commitments in the amount of €6.4 million. 
Since then, the Bank’s securities portfolio has 
experienced higher cash losses within the 
context of the coronavirus crisis; however, 
these were offset again over the rest of the 
year. Berlin Hyp’s refinancing ability was 
guaranteed at all times throughout the year 
and was not affected by the COVID-19 crisis. 
Increased liquidity risks were not identified. 
Overall, no significant effects of the coronavi-
rus pandemic were noted in any of the Bank’s 
major risk types up to the balance sheet date 
of 31 December 2020.

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 crisis, the 
Bank’s operational stability has been safe-
guarded at all times. Many parts of the banking 
operations switched to mobile working, but 
this did not result in any restrictions in the 
operational business. 

Other Risks
Business Policy and Strategic Decisions
Strategic risk is the risk of failing to achieve 
long-term company objectives due to strategic 
decisions that are incorrect, inadequately pre-
pared or based on incorrect assumptions. The 
strategic risk is managed by the entire Board of 
Management. Certain decisions also require the 
approval of the Supervisory Board.

Landesbank Berlin Holding as the Group’s 
parent company in the reporting year was 
responsible for strategic decision-making in 
the Group. The overall group strategy approved 
and regularly updated by the LBBH Board of 
Management provides the framework for the 
strategies of the Group companies and consists 
of the strategy document and planning. The 
long-term company objectives and strategic 
underlying conditions are established by the 
Board of Management in the annual strategy 
meeting.

Monitoring and controlling the strategic objec-
tives for the strategic business areas, subsidiar-
ies and divisions takes place once a year based 
on the defined target achievement indicators 
and targets. Select financial and risk targets 
are also monitored during the year based on 
standardised reports.

Berlin Hyp further defined the business strategy 
according to its specific requirements within 
the binding Group requirements. These are 
reviewed annually as well and serve as the 
subsequent basis for Berlin Hyp’s planning.

Reputational Risks
The Bank monitors print and online media also 
with respect to potential reputational risks. In 
the event of negative media coverage, the Bank 
has installed an escalation procedure to ensure 
a suitable response. There were no events that 
involved reputational risks in 2020.

Human Resources Risks
Availability Risk
The quantitative and qualitative staffing of 
the banking divisions is managed by strategic 
resource planning. It aims to ensure the func-
tional capability and future viability of Berlin 
Hyp and is adapted on an ongoing basis. In 
order to keep the planning up to date and real-
istic, megatrends (e.g. digitisation/automation, 
ageing society, knowledge culture, individual-
isation), developments in new and established 
business areas and regulatory requirements are 
taken into account.

Berlin Hyp draws on various recruitment 
sources to cover its staffing requirements, with 
internal recruitment always taking precedence 
over external recruitment. Aside from the 
internal job market, Berlin Hyp also publishes 
job offers in publicly accessible media. Special-
ised platforms are used to fill vacant positions 
as quickly as possible for the desired profile. 
Berlin Hyp obtains assistance from recruitment 
experts for key positions.

Taking into account the Bank’s existing staffing 
levels, the overall availability risk is considered 
to be low. Vacancies were adequately filled 
within a reasonable period of time.

Motivation Risk
Employee motivation is promoted through 
sustainable workplaces and content, a vibrant 
corporate culture and the active participation 
of the employees in the development of Berlin 
Hyp. Ongoing feedback serves as an indicator. 
It is part of the corporate culture, anchored 
in the competence model of the Bank and 
implemented in various processes and through 
different media. In particular, the Bank has 
taken a participatory approach to designing 
the change process, which encourages employ-
ees to get involved; as a result, they identify 
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model by means of clear behavioural anchors. 
The qualification measures offered are fol-
lowed up in a discussion between the manager 
and employee. This task, in which managers 
“support employees in their development”, 
is also defined in the competency model. 
270-degree feedback is used to measure the 
implementation of the leadership compe-
tencies and follow them up with individual 
development measures.

The 270-degree feedback for managers is 
conducted every 2 years. Based on the results 
of management feedback and the require-
ments for managers arising from their role in 
the implementation of the Bank’s vision for the 
future, the integrated development pro-
gramme for managers at the Bank, introduced 
in 2019, is being continuously implemented.

The Bank has allocated an average of 3.5 
training days per employee as the target. 
Employees had an average of 2.8 days of 
training and continuing education in 2020. The 
lower actual figure compared to the previous 
year is essentially due the lower number of 
in-person events because of the COVID-19 
pandemic. This was made up for by alternative 
learning formats, which were mainly virtual 
and therefore condensed. With a variety of 
tailor-made in-house measures and selected 
external training opportunities, Berlin Hyp 
considers the qualification risk to be low.

more closely with the new developments. For 
example, employees from different areas and 
hierarchy levels formed a “culture board” in 
2019 and have since been helping to develop 
the corporate culture.

In 2020, the expert career, which promotes 
special support for employees with expertise 
that is particularly valuable to the company, 
was introduced as an alternative development 
option to the management career. The motiva-
tion risk is considered to be low.

Qualification Risk
Due to the age structure, a number of employ-
ees will leave Berlin Hyp in the medium to long 
term because of their age. It is important to 
ensure that the departing employees transfer 
their knowledge to the remaining colleagues. 
The efficiency gains from large-scale projects 
currently in progress at Berlin Hyp are giving 
rise to new working conditions and changing 
the required employee skills. Employee devel-
opment will therefore be supported, in parallel 
with the transfer of knowledge. The Bank sees 
learning and development in the professional 
context as an ongoing process. The technical, 
methodological and personal requirements 
are defined in the competence model of the 
Bank, while the managers and their employees 
develop and follow up the job descriptions. 
This is described in the “Continuously learning 
new things” competence in the competence 
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IV	� Accounting-Related Internal Control 
System and Risk Management System 

legal provisions and ensuring the effectiveness 
of the monitoring of accounting processes. 

The accounting-related internal risk manage-
ment system encompasses measures for the 
identification, assessment and limitation of 
risks opposing the objective of ensuring the 
regulatory conformity of the annual accounts.

The objective of the internal control system 
is to record business transactions and events 
in accordance with the legal regulations, the 
Articles of Association and other internal direc-
tives, in a complete, swift and correct manner, 
to process and document them as well as to 
accurately assess, show and evaluate assets and 
liabilities, thus allowing for a correct identi-
fication of results. The controls also serve to 
provide this final information in a swift, reliable 
and complete manner.

The Board of Management is responsible for the 
structure and maintenance of the internal con-
trol system. The established accounting-related 
internal control system consists of process-in-
tegrated, error prevention regulations and 
facilities, as well as in the form of integrated 
and organisational controls. In addition, regular, 
case-related monitoring measures independent 
of processes have been implemented.

At Berlin Hyp, accounting processes are 
standardised and are subject to constant 
supervision. The processing, entry and docu-
mentation of relevant accounting data occurs 
using IT systems that keep accounting books 
and other records in electronic form. Berlin Hyp 
applies the core SAP application as an inte-
grated comprehensive banking solution. This 
system reduces interfaces between various data 
processing applications, weak links in the data 
flow as well as manual interventions and pro-
cesses. Regulations and measures regarding IT 
security, which are also of particular importance 
when it comes to accounting, have already been 
discussed. A thorough separation of functions 
along with organisational instructions and the 
distribution of technical roles and access rights 
should ensure in advance that interventions in 

The annual accounts of Berlin Hyp are produced 
in accordance with the provisions of the German 
Commercial Code, supplemented by corporate 
law provisions and taking into consideration 
the Pfandbrief Act (Pfandbriefgesetz) and the 
Accounting Ordinance for Banking Institutions 
(Verordnung über die Rechnungslegung der 
Kreditinstitute). The accounting standards of 
the German Accounting Standards Committee 
are applied. According to the IFRS, Berlin Hyp 
is not obliged to present consolidated financial 
statements since no subsidiary has significant 
influence on the presentation of Berlin Hyp’s 
earnings, financial and assets position.

The Finance division is responsible for account-
ing. The organisational unit carries responsibil-
ity for the general ledger and accounting and for 
technical matters and portfolio management in 
the subsidiary ledgers. Pursuant to the principle 
of the separation of functions, the assessment 
of financial instruments by the Risk Controlling 
division and the evaluation of credit risks by 
the Risk Management division is pursued on a 
case-by-case basis within the financial report-
ing process. Job descriptions are available for 
all relevant positions. Furthermore, sufficient 
human, technical and organisational resources 
are also available in order to ensure the sus-
tainable and disruption-free handling of tasks. 
The divisions are assigned to the Board’s credit 
function sphere.

In their management reports, corporations as 
defined in Section 264d German Commercial 
Code (HGB) must describe the significant 
characteristics of the internal control and risk 
management system with regard to accounting 
processes. Berlin Hyp regards as “significant” 
any legal violations as well as errors having a 
qualitative and quantitative influence on the 
validity of accounting processes that are rele-
vant to decisions pertaining to the recipients of 
the information.

The accounting-related internal control system 
encompasses principles, measures and 
procedures for the regularity and reliability of 
accounting processes, compliance with relevant 
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the budgeting process and the Interim Finan-
cial Report. As in previous years, the Internal 
Audit division monitored and accompanied the 
process of reconciling loan accounts within the 
scope of the dispatch of annual statements in 
its role as a neutral body.

As in the previous year, the reviews carried out 
by the Internal Audit division did not reveal any 
material findings in the reporting year.

Regarding special measures concerning the 
management and monitoring of accounting 
units that are to be depicted within the account-
ing framework, please refer to the information 
provided in the risk report as well as to the 
Notes.

A number of external audits were carried out at 
Berlin Hyp in financial year 2020 alongside the 
audit of the annual financial statements. These 
audits concerned either Berlin Hyp directly as a 
separate financial institution or in its capacity 
as part of the regulatory group.

The Bank followed up and rectified the findings 
in a coordinated procedure led by the Internal 
Audit division.

accounting processes can only be undertaken 
in accordance with official responsibilities and 
competence. Unless specialised, two-person 
integrity systems have been established, 
organisational control activities are provided on 
a standardised basis. Electronically generated 
raw data as well as the various interim and final 
results are analysed, tested for plausibility 
and randomly examined by the divisions using 
a variety of system-supported comparisons, 
agreements, target comparisons and time-se-
ries developments on an individual transaction 
basis. Both technical requirements and work-
flow descriptions are in place for the individual 
processing steps within the framework of the 
relevant development process.

Internal and external reporting is also subjected 
to a multistage quality-assurance process 
before financial information is released. 

Accounting processes are an integral compo-
nent of the Audit division’s risk-oriented audit 
planning system. Audit focuses are changed 
on a regular basis. Audits take place as process 
audits and are, as a matter of principle, under-
pinned by case-by-case audits of samples.

In the 2020 financial year, audits were carried 
out on the settlement of securities transactions, 
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V 	�Corporate Governance Statement 
Pursuant to Section 289f German 
Commercial Code (HGB)

Establishment of Targets for the Proportion 
of Women in the Supervisory Board, Board of 
Management and in Management Positions
Berlin Hyp is subject to representative par-
ticipation according to the German One-Third 
Participation Act and, in accordance with the 
legal requirements, has established targets for 
the proportion of women on the Supervisory 
Board and Board of Management through its 
Supervisory Board. 

Supervisory Board
Berlin Hyp’s Supervisory Board is made up 
of ten shareholder representatives and five 
employee representatives. Berlin Hyp has 
currently met its target of having at least two 
women in the Supervisory Board.

Board of Management 
The Board of Management currently has two 
members. The share of female representation 
of 0% determined by the Supervisory Board 
continues to apply until the review on 30 June 
2022 or the termination of current contracts of 
employment prior to reappointment.

First and Second Management Levels below 
the Board of Management
In 2020, the Berlin Hyp Board of Management 
adjusted the targets for female executives for 
the first and second management levels below 
the Board of Management due to changes in 
the organisational structure.

The target of 33 per cent should be reached at 
both management levels by 30 June 2025. 
As at 31 December 2020, 29.4 per cent of exec-
utives were female at the first level below the 
Board of Management and 29.5 per cent at the 
second level below the Board of Management. 
Overall, the percentage of women in manage-
ment positions at all levels of management at 
Berlin Hyp is 28.6 per cent.
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VI 	� Non-financial Statement pursuant 
to Sections 289b and c German 
Commercial Code (HGB) 

General Information

1. Sustainability Concept
1.1 Strategic analysis and measures
Berlin Hyp is one of Germany’s major real 
estate and Pfandbrief banks in commercial real 
estate financing. Berlin Hyp analyses oppor-
tunities and risks on the basis of information 
obtained from the risk management system 
and a materiality matrix that is updated every 
year. Ambitious climate protection targets have 
been set by the EU and the individual member 
states for the building sector which, depending 
on the respective calculation, accounts for 
between 30 and 40 per cent of CO₁ emissions in 
Germany. Berlin Hyp is committed to the Paris 
climate goals and the Climate Paths for the Fed-
eral Republic of Germany and has accordingly 
adopted a far-reaching sustainability agenda 
in order to promote the transformation to a 
lower-greenhouse-gas economy. 

In its commitment to sustainability, Berlin Hyp 
generally follows the ten principles of the UN 
Global Compact, the Diversity Charter, the DSGV 
sustainability principles and the sustainability 
code for the real estate industry of the German 
Property Federation (ZIA). In addition, sustain-
able action has been firmly anchored in the cor-
porate strategy. Requirements and procedures 
have been defined for the responsible handling 
of ESG risks (Environment, Social, Governance) 
in the regular business. Furthermore, Berlin 
Hyp has excluded business activities relating 
to certain critical sectors. For example, it does 
not finance any real estate whose construction 
or operation is directly related to the produc-
tion of genetically modified organisms or the 
production of tobacco or alcohol.

The strategic mission statement, which defines 
the framework for sustainability, can be found 
in Chapter 1.3.

Preface
According to Sections 289b-e of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB), Berlin Hyp AG (Berlin 
Hyp) is required to publish an annual non-fi-
nancial statement.

This obligation is fulfilled – without recourse 
to an exemption option – by the publication 
of this “non-financial statement” (hereinafter 
also referred to as “statement”). The statement 
concerns the period from 1 January 2020 to 
31 December 2020. In addition, Berlin Hyp will 
publish this statement on its website at www.
berlinhyp.de.

The statement is based on the performance 
indicators according to the Global Reporting 
Initiative Standards (GRI SRS), insofar as this 
framework is appropriate for Berlin Hyp in each 
individual case. 
For better readability, the terms of the Global 
Reporting Initiative have been adapted to the 
terms in accordance with Section 289c of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The Super-
visory Board of Berlin Hyp AG has voluntarily 
commissioned KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft to conduct a business audit of the 
report in accordance with the ISAE 3000 (revised) 
for the purpose of obtaining limited assurance 
pursuant to Sections 289b-e of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). In addition to this 
non-financial statement, Berlin Hyp publishes 
its sustainability activities in 2021 according 
to GRI SRS in the GRI report. Publication of the 
GRI report is planned for the second quarter of 
2021. It contains additional information on the 
Bank’s sustainability strategy and sustainability 
performance beyond the statutory requirements 
of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

All references to further reports are additional 
information and do not form part of this state-
ment or the audit thereof.

Business Model
Information on the business model can be 
found in the Management Report under I Prin-
ciples of the Bank – Business Model.
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On the one hand, it verified the extent to which 
the business activities of Berlin Hyp have a sig-
nificant impact on the individual sustainability 
aspects. On the other hand, it examined wheth-
er the sustainability aspects were relevant to 
the understanding of the business develop-
ment, the results and Berlin Hyp’s position.

1.2 Materiality
Berlin Hyp regularly conducts a stakeholder 
survey every two years in order to gauge the 
opinions of our stakeholder groups. In view 
of the exceptional situation of the COVID-19 
pandemic, which persisted throughout the 
financial year, a direct stakeholder survey was 
postponed until 2021.

The materiality analysis based on the survey 
conducted in 2018 was reviewed and adjusted 
on the Berlin Hyp ESG Board. 

*	 �These issues do not have double materiality according to the CSR Directive Implementation Act. However, Berlin Hyp pays particular attention to 
these issues. For this reason, these issues will be voluntarily addressed below.

** �The responsible design of the digitisation of processes has an impact on employee and social concerns and is explained below in more detail with 
regard to the individual aspects.

Overview of Key Issues
Material according  
to CSR Directive 
Implementation Act

Relevant 
for Berlin Hyp

Employee Concerns Promoting an open and fair working environment

Fair remuneration policy, proportionality of commissions 
and bonuses

Social Concerns Consideration of social criteria when issuing bonds

Protection of personal data of employees, customers and 
business partners*

Provision of safe/stable financial products

Transparent presentation of the impacts, opportunities 
and risks of the portfolio

Fight Against Corruption Prevention of corruption and anti-competitive behaviour*

Tax honesty

Prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing

Environmental Concerns Consideration of ecological criteria when issuing bonds

Consideration of climate protection criteria when select-
ing financing projects

Consideration of resource conservation criteria and 
biodiversity protection when deciding on which financing 
projects to participate in

Reduction of environmental impacts at our locations*

Human Rights

Other Verantwortliche Ausgestaltung der Digitalisierung von 
Prozessen**
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�The results of an analysis of potential report-
ing risks related to the non-financial aspects 
revealed that, after applying the net method 
while taking into account the risk mitigation 
measures, no significant risks associated with 
Berlin Hyp’s own business activities and busi-
ness relationships or its products and services 
within the meaning of Section 289c (3) Sen-
tence 1 no. 3 and 4 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) were identified, which are very likely 
to have or will have a serious negative impact 
on the above-mentioned aspects.
 
1.3 Objectives
In addition to the overall strategic objectives 
listed below, the chapters on the various 
aspects of sustainability contain objectives 
that are only assigned to the respective aspect 
and that contribute to the achievement of the 
overall strategic objectives. The overall strategy 
of Berlin Hyp is reviewed annually by the 
management and aims to achieve the following 
two objectives:

1. �Berlin Hyp is the most modern commercial 
real estate financier in Germany.

2. �Berlin Hyp is an S-Group partner of the 
German savings banks.

In its mission statement on sustainability, 
Berlin Hyp has defined the following framework 
for action to support these goals: “We act not 
only according to economic aspects but also 
to ecological and social aspects. In doing so, 
we assume responsibility for owners, custom-
ers, employees and society beyond the legal 
framework:

1. �We pursue a long-term, responsible and 
risk-conscious business policy, thereby mak-
ing a solid contribution to positive economic 
and social development.

2. �We welcome the voluntary inclusion of eco-
logical and social aspects in the real estate 
industry and in the capital market. We are 
continuously improving our own ecological 
and social ‘footprint’.

3. �We take responsibility for the quality of our 
work. We behave fairly, comply with the laws, 
and are also guided by voluntary, relevant 
standards.

4. �We offer our employees long-term career pros-
pects in conjunction with a comprehensive 
range of continuing education opportunities. 
We promote social diversity and the preserva-
tion of health in our company and we support 
our employees in social emergencies.”

·  ���Employee Concerns 
Business operations are impossible without 
employees. This is why appropriate measures 
have been taken to promote an open and fair 
working environment in terms of employee 
rights, equal opportunities and training with 
the aim of helping to further develop the 
employee situation. In the 2020 financial 
year, COVID-19 had an exceptional impact on 
employee concerns due to health protection.

·  ���Social Concerns 
Berlin Hyp has an impact on social concerns 
through its activities as a financial services 
provider, in particular with its products and 
services. Measures such as the integration 
of social criteria into our own investment 
business and the responsible design of the 
digitisation of processes also contribute to a 
positive business development.

·  ���Fight Against Corruption and Bribery 
The prevention of corruption and anti-com-
petitive behaviour and compliance with legal 
requirements through Berlin Hyp’s products 
and services have a decisive impact on the 
success of its business activities. According to 
a joint assessment with the stakeholders, this 
only has an immaterial impact on the “fight 
against corruption and bribery” aspect. However, 
Berlin Hyp pays particular attention to this issue.

·  ���Environmental Concerns 
Unlike the manufacturing sector, Berlin Hyp, 
as a financial services provider, uses relatively 
few natural resources in its business activ-
ities and does not have a significant share 
of climate-related emissions. Therefore, this 
statement does not provide details on the 
Bank’s internal operational ecology. Berlin 
Hyp’s financing projects, products and ser-
vices are relevant to the report because they 
have an indirect impact on the environment 
and on climate protection. In this area, we 
succeeded in expanding our product range, 
thereby making a positive contribution to the 
development of the business situation.

·  ���Human Rights 
Berlin Hyp is committed to its responsibility in 
the protection of human rights in all activities 
of its business. With this in mind, Berlin Hyp 
has adopted several directives and joined the 
UN Global Compact in 2015. Since Berlin Hyp 
is mainly active in Germany and in selected 
core markets in Europe, the likelihood of 
human rights violations in our business 
activities is considered to be low. 
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These higher-level frameworks are specified in 
guidelines and elsewhere. In support of these 
goals, Berlin Hyp has established sustaina-
bility committees in which representatives of 
all responsible departments meet at regular 
intervals to report on the progress of current 
measures, to present current developments and 
to discuss new measures. 
 
Sustainability management in the corporate 
strategy of Berlin Hyp monitors the achieve-
ment of targets. The results are submitted 
to the management within the Sustainability 
Report or GRI report for information and 
approval.

1.4 Depth of the Value Chain
Due to the long useful life of real estate, it is in 
the explicit interest of Berlin Hyp for its clients 
to build or acquire and operate properties 
whose long-term value is ensured through pro-
fessional consideration of ecological, economic 
and social criteria. This interest is supported by 
a corresponding product directive, according 
to which the financing of buildings associated 
with acts such as labour law and human rights 
violations must be rejected. In addition, Berlin 
Hyp requires its key suppliers to comply with 
the requirements of the ten principles of the UN 
Global Compact.

Sustainability programme (extracts)

No. Field of Action Action Sustainability Aspect Deadline Implementation Status

1 Profitable business model Development of a concept for a 
climate risk analysis of real estate 
portfolios

Environmental 
concerns

12/2021 Progress in 2020: - Complet-
ed project work on Carbon 
Delta - Established ESG Risk 
Commission - Prepared ESG 
Risk Assessment Overview - 
Adopted transparency goals

2 Profitable business model Review and, if necessary, draft a 
concept for the extended impact 
measurement of the entire fi-
nanced real estate portfolio 

Social concerns – 
social impact

12/2022 Progress in 2020: see 1. 
Established ESG Risk Com-
mission - Prepared ESG Risk 
Assessment Overview

3 Profitable business model Participation in study on the 
assessment of the marketability 
of taxonomy (German Sustainable 
Building Council [Deutsche Ge-
sellschaft für Nachhaltiges Bauen 
- DGNB], etc.)

Environmental 
concerns

12/2020 Completed

4 Future-oriented customer 
relationship

Further development and process 
optimisation of the Green Bonds 
concept

Environmental 
concerns

Ongoing Progress in 2020: First ever 
green private placements 
– Green Bond in foreign 
currency issued for the first 
time
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2.1 Responsibility
Sustainability is anchored in Berlin Hyp 
throughout its divisions. This is ensured 
through the interaction of the Board of Man-
agement, Sustainability Management and the 
Management Committee as well as the ESG 
Board, consisting of permanent represent-
atives from corporate strategy, governance, 
treasury, real estate financing, finance, risk 
controlling, credit, valuation, communication 
and marketing, HR, portfolio management and 
the organisation. The Chair of the Board of 
Management assumes overall responsibility for 
the sustainability strategy.

2.2 Rules and Processes
In addition to economic aspects, the Bank’s 
activities also take into account ecological and 
social aspects. Guidelines with corresponding 
provisions are in place to ensure that these 

aspects are considered. They are operation-
alised by action steps firmly established in 
the business processes. Monitoring to ensure 
the ongoing application of the action steps is 
primarily the responsibility of the managers. 
Non-financial risks associated with the five 
sustainability aspects are identified, assessed, 
managed and monitored by the respective spe-
cialist departments and the risk management 
department. The risk management working 
method and results are described in detail in 
the Management Report under III Opportuni-
ties, Forecast and Risk Report; therefore, no 
further details are provided here.

2.3 Monitoring – Due Diligence
Regular reports with information on the rele-
vant non-financial performance indicators are 
submitted to the Bank’s Board of Management 
by key organisational units – namely the Com-
pliance, HR and Internal Audit divisions. The 

2. Process Management
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Management Committee 
Members of the Board of Management and all division heads 

ESG Board 
Chair: Sascha Klaus (CEO)

Members: Representatives from all relevant divisions of the Bank

 Focused and regular management of the Bank's strategically  
important topics and projects

 Management of all of the Bank's sustainability activities;  
cross-divisional agreements, discussions and information platform

 �Decision level for topics concerning both GBC  
and ESG products 

 �Consideration of ESG risks in  
relevant processes 

Sustainable Finance Commission

 �Further development 
of the Green Bond 
Framework and 
the green building 
portfolio

 �Conception of ESG 
products

 �Current: Development 
of the Transforma-
tionskredit (transfor-
mation loan – loan 
designed to finance 
ESG-aimed projects)

Green Building
Commission

ESG Products 

ESG Risk Commission

 

ESG performance report 

 



selected reports are listed in Chapter 3 under 
the individual sustainability aspects.

2.4 Participation of Stakeholders
Berlin Hyp makes use of its established formats 
for discussions with key stakeholder groups in 
society in order to identify and implement their 
sustainability requirements. Specifically, these 
are customers, employees, society, competitors 
and owners.

Communication with stakeholders is a part 
of daily business activities – for example, in 
the form of conversations with customers, 
employee surveys and our activities in busi-
ness association committees.

In 2018, Berlin Hyp conducted a digital 
stakeholder survey that revealed the main 
sustainability issues from the stakeholders’ 
perspective. In 2020, in-depth discussions with 
stakeholder groups were also held in light of 
the COVID-19 situation. In general, Berlin Hyp 
perceives the following sustainability aspects 
and issues among its key stakeholders:

·  �Above all, owners and customers require a 
profitable business model and responsible 
business operations, including respect for 
human rights, future-oriented customer 
relations and the establishment of loyalty 
and trust. Reports on these requirements are 
provided as part of this statement – to the 
extent required by law – primarily under the 
following aspects/issues: Environmental con-
cerns, social concerns, conduct in compliance 
with laws and directives. 

·  �Employees require a profitable business 
model, responsible business operations, an 
attractive employer and the establishment of 
loyalty and trust. Reports on these require-
ments are provided as part of this statement 
– to the extent required by law – primarily un-
der the following aspect: Employee concerns.

·  �From the company’s perspective, a profita-
ble business model, responsible business 
operations and the establishment of loyalty 
and trust are particularly relevant. Reports 
on these requirements are provided as part 
of this statement – to the extent required by 
law – primarily under the following aspects/is-
sues: Social concerns, conduct in compliance 
with laws and directives.

·  �For competitors, loyalty and trust are 
relevant. Reports on this requirement are 
provided as part of this statement – to the 
extent required by law – primarily under the 
following issues: conduct in compliance with 
laws and directives.

3. Sustainability Aspects
3.1 Employee Concerns
The management culture at Berlin Hyp aims to 
set itself apart by valuing its employees, help-
ing them set and achieve goals, in addition to 
providing long-term security and a high degree 
of decision-making autonomy and self-deter-
mination. The managers play a special role in 
the implementation of the corporate mission 
statement and contribute to the support of the 
employees in their development throughout 
their individual career and life phases.

The human resources strategy is based on this 
assertion and therefore supports Berlin Hyp’ 
overall strategy and, together with the relevant 
guidelines and processes, covers the internal 
framework for the individual aspects listed 
below under 3.1.1 to 3.1.3.

The objective is to offer employees a long-term, 
attractive workplace with a certain degree of 
autonomy and development potential. In terms 
of staffing, the aim is to attract employees with 
the right mindset for actively shaping values 
and corporate culture, in addition to their quali-
fications. The HR department is responsible for 
systematic human resource planning. In order 
to keep the planning up to date and realistic, 
megatrends (e.g. digitisation/automation, 
ageing society, knowledge culture, individual-
isation), developments in new and established 
business areas and regulatory requirements 
are taken into account. 
HR requirements are met using internal and 
external resources. Open positions are initially 
advertised internally in order to allow qualified 
employees the opportunity for personal 
development. Young skilled workers are acquired 
through the recruitment of trainees, students in 
dual study programmes, student workers and 
interns. 

In addition to the trainee program, Berlin Hyp 
also hires new graduates. 
Digitisation and automation are changing 
working conditions in a very tangible way. New 
working environments and mobile technical 
equipment help to relieve the burden on 
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employees in their day-to-day work and give 
them greater flexibility. This is has been a suc-
cess factor for Berlin Hyp, particularly during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Given the required 
contact restrictions and physical distancing 
rules, employees have switched to digital or 
hybrid forms of communication and collabora-
tion with success. Employees have been given 
the capability to work remotely in order to 
reduce the risk of infection. 

In addition, the following measures were 
implemented in the reporting year in line with 
the Infection Protection Ordinance of the Berlin 
Senate and the SARS-CoV-2 Occupational 
Health and Safety Regulation:

·  �Hygiene concept in the Bank
·  �Free face masks and instructions for use
·  �Attendance rules (A/B teams)
·  �Information links to key publications, such as 

the RKI
·  �and FAQ on all regulations

HR reporting is prepared on a semi-annual 
basis and provides a detailed overview of key 
figures on employee concerns. Required meas-
ures are being introduced in order to change 
these key figures.

3.1.1 Employee Rights
The employees at Berlin Hyp work almost 
exclusively in Germany and are therefore 
subject to the German regulations on labour 
law, operational co-determination and the right 
to freedom of association, in addition to the EU 
regulations. Furthermore, employees covered 
by a collective agreement also enjoy the imme-
diate protection of the collective agreement 
provisions, since Berlin Hyp is a member of the 
collective agreement employers’ association.

Through a series of agreements with the Works 
Council and the Executive Staff committee, Ber-
lin Hyp has regulated important matters con-
cerning employee rights beyond the statutory 
requirements, including the company rules, 
company retirement pensions and mobile 
working. The two employee representatives 
have the right to monitor the implementation 
of the agreed measures.

“Occupational health and safety” and “health 
protection” are also organised in accordance 
with the legal requirements or regulated 
in works agreements. On behalf of Berlin 

Hyp’s Board of Management, the responsible 
departments do not negotiate these issues 
directly with trade unions, but with the Works 
Council or the Executive Staff committee for 
senior employees in accordance with the legal 
requirements. In addition, overarching issues 
of occupational safety and health protection 
can become the subject of collective agree-
ments between the collective bargaining 
associations.
 
3.1.2 Equal Opportunities
Berlin Hyp firmly believes that diversity creates 
advantages out of opposites. This position was 
reinforced by the signing of the Diversity Char-
ter. The Human Rights, Diversity and Inclusion 
policy provides employees and business part-
ners with a clear guide for their daily actions in 
this regard. It is based on national legislation 
and modelled on international standards, 
including: 

·  �United Nations Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights

·  �United Nations conventions on labour and 
employment

·  �Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms of the 
European Union

Berlin Hyp is striving to integrate the equal 
consideration of women and men for manage-
ment positions to an even greater extent into 
the corporate culture 
(For the target figures for female executives, 
see Management Report VI “Corporate Govern-
ance Statement according to Section 289f of 
the German Commercial Code [HGB]”).

This is supported by the following measures:

·  �Binding regulation on the inclusion of female 
applicants in the recruitment process by 
HR consultants in order to the identify and 
promote female talent

·  �The appointment of at least one woman 
to a wide variety of selection and observer 
committees 

·  �Explicit inclusion of the subject of equal 
opportunities by the HR department when 
advising managers on HR matter (such as 
staffing)

·  �Operational anchoring of the promotion of 
women using the behaviour anchor for manag-
ers in the competence model of the Bank, which 
requires equal treatment of all employees.
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With the applicant management tool intro-
duced in 2020, the adequate involvement of 
female applicants in every recruitment process 
of Berlin Hyp can be systematically recorded 
and evaluated. Furthermore, Berlin Hyp actively 
encourages a healthy work-life balance, and 
therefore equal opportunities through various 
instruments and measures, such as trust-based 
working hours, mobile working and child-
friendly workplaces.

Berlin Hyp’s “competence model” is the basis 
for the design of human resource management 
instruments and supports equal opportunities. 

We are not aware of any cases of discrimination 
for the 2020 reporting year.

3.1.3 Training
Training and continuing education are offered 
to managers and employees in order to main-
tain their performance level and boost their 
individual motivation. 

Digitisation and automation have led to 
changes in employee skill requirements at Ber-
lin Hyp, which are upgraded through a variety 
of in-house measures and external continuing 
education opportunities. To ensure the long-
term professional development of the work-
force, there has been an increased emphasis 
on context-related and ad hoc learning directly 
linked to specific work and change processes. 
Learning behaviour has shifted toward a 
higher proportion of virtual learning formats, 
“learning nuggets” within shorter time frames 
and the autonomous use of various platforms 
and formats. Within the learning context, 
employees are responsible for pursuing the 
autonomous development of their skills and 
actively sharing their knowledge; managers 
are responsible for actively supporting this 
process, presenting development perspectives 
and providing continuous feedback on behav-
iour and performance; the HR department is 
responsible for creating modern, need-based, 
value-adding learning formats and framework 
conditions for the professional development of 
employees and managers. The objectives of all 
professional development activities, for which 
the workforce has been allocated at an average 
of 3.5 days per year, are:

·  �To maintain the performance level of manag-
ers and employees and boost their individual 
motivation

·  �To make employees more adaptable to 
structural changes within the organisation 
and changes in the corporate culture, thereby 
also ensuring

·  �a more flexible deployment of staff
·  �To increase the Bank’s ability to innovate 
·  �Greater independence from external labour 

markets 
·  �Employee retention through higher job 

satisfaction

The “Learning World for Managers” was 
implemented in 2019 and follows a systemic 
approach with a focus on organisational learn-
ing. Derived from the Bank’s strategic leader-
ship requirements, the individual needs of the 
managers from the 270°Feedback and insights 
from learning theory, it uses guided process 
learning based on concrete management 
situations and provides support for the current 
change processes in order to further develop a 
modern and sustainable management culture 
in line with the strategy. 

Through various qualification methods, 
colleagues from all levels of the Bank learned 
about new agile working methods, for 
which there is a rising need as digitalisation 
increases. Employees had an average of 2.8 
days of training and continuing education in 
2020. The lower actual figure compared to 
the previous year is essentially due the lower 
number of in-person events because of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. This was made up for by 
alternative learning formats, which were mainly 
virtual and therefore condensed.

3.2 Environmental Concerns
Environmental protection is always an impor-
tant consideration at Berlin Hyp. As a real 
estate financier, the Bank has an indirect 
influence on the ecological and social factors of 
the properties it finances. For this reason, the 
overall Bank strategy in the new Sustainability 
Agenda of Berlin Hyp was used to derive a 
sustainability target that calls for the Bank to 
increase the share of green financing in the 
loan portfolio to 1/3 by 2025.

Over the past three years, Berlin Hyp has 
focused on the sustainable development of its 
core business. Today, it is the largest issuer of 
Green Bonds in benchmark format among the 
European commercial banks and issues Green 
Bonds in two different asset classes. As such, 
the Bank is closely following the latest develop-
ments with regard to the European Action Plan 
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for Financing Sustainable Growth, in particular 
the definition of a taxonomy and a Green Bond 
standard, and is working within the sustaina-
bility committees on the requirements to be 
derived from the plan for its business. 

In support of the objectives of the Paris Agree-
ment on climate change and the Climate Paths 
of the Federal Republic of Germany, Berlin Hyp 
adopted a sustainability agenda in 2020: 
 
1) �Commitment to the Paris Agreement and 

the Climate Paths of the Federal Republic of 
Germany

2)� �1/3 share of green buildings in the loans 
portfolio until 2025

3) �Portfolio transparency by 2023 – systematic 
determination of energy values, CO₁ by 2023 
and climate risks by 2025

4) �Introduction of a further sustainability 
product: the Transformationskredit (transfor-
mation loan)

By issuing Green Bonds, Berlin Hyp is mak-
ing an active contribution to reducing CO₁ 
emissions. As part of the ongoing develop-
ment and process optimisation of the Green 
Bond concept, the decision was made in the 
reporting year to adapt the reporting period 
for impact reporting to the financial year. Berlin 
Hyp’s latest impact report (1 March 2020 to 31 
December 2020) in cooperation with Drees & 
Sommer presents the results and methodology 
for estimating the amount of CO₁ emissions 
saved by the financed Green buildings. The 
reduced reference period from March to 
December only applies once as a result of the 
adjustment of the reporting period. The last 
published impact reporting period ended on 29 
February 2020. Based on the analysis of Drees 
& Sommer, it was calculated that for every mil-

lion euros of nominal value of the Green Bonds, 
between 12.92 t and 26.60 t CO₁ are saved per 
year compared to the applied benchmarks and 
depending on the applied model.

The CO₁ savings per million euros invested 
were lower compared to the previous year for 
EnEV. This is mainly due to the switch to a more 
up-to-date source of the now lower conversion 
factors for electricity and higher outstanding 
bond volumes. The latest impact report and 
re-verification (external plausibility check) by 
ISS ESG will be published on 31 March 2021 at 
https://www.berlinhyp.de/de/investoren/green-
bonds.

After having released eight Green Bonds in 
the benchmark format since 2015, the ninth 
and tenth Green Bonds, each in the form of 
Green Pfandbriefe worth €500 million, were 
successfully issued at the end of June and the 
end of August. In addition, the Bank expanded 
its Green Bond spectrum and made its foreign 
currency debut on the Swiss capital market in 
August, where it placed an eight-year green 
senior preferred bond worth CHF 125 million. 
Berlin Hyp also issued its first green private 
placement. The value of the outstanding Green 
Bonds, consisting of covered bonds, senior pre-
ferred bonds and senior non-preferred bonds, 
is over €5 billion.

Management is informed on a quarterly basis 
about the development of the loan portfolio 
and the share of green financing, allowing it to 
take management measures. The target figure 
of 24 per cent was reached as at 31 December 
2020.

A country climate risk analysis is carried 
out every year, applying benchmarks such 

CO² reduction in t/€m/
year

Fully assigned to the category of 
“Berlin Hyp financing activity”

Partially assigned by amount  
to the category of “Initial 
participation of Berlin Hyp in 
 the financing activity”

Comparison with current 
EnEV reference values (heat 
and electricity)

26.60 (previous year: 39.89) 14.52 (previous year: 22.58)

Comparison with the Europe-
an average (heat only)

23.56 (previous year: 24.77) 12.92 (previous year: 13.93)
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as the Notre Dame Global Adaptation Index 
(ND-GAIN), in order to identify and assess risks 
due to climate change for the geographical 
markets of the projects financed by Berlin Hyp.

In order to gain a deeper understanding of how 
climate change might impact real estate valua-
tions, Berlin Hyp participated in a project with 
the Swiss start-up Carbon Delta (now known as 
MSCI Carbon Delta) back in the autumn of 2018. 
Based on the results for three synthetically 
compiled real estate portfolios in the Retail, 
Residential and Office asset classes, initial risk 
indicators were identified at the property level.
 
To assess climate and environmental risks, Ber-
lin Hyp added an ESG Risk Commission to its 
sustainability committees for the implementa-
tion of the ECB guidelines in 2020. The working 
group is composed of representatives from risk 
controlling, valuation, portfolio management 
and loan, strategy and sustainability manage-
ment and meets every two weeks. In the report-
ing year, the measures “Development of a 
concept for a climate risk analysis of real estate 
portfolios” and “Review and, if necessary, draft 
a concept for the extended impact measure-
ment of the entire financed real estate port-
folio” were also consolidated in the working 
group. The progress made in 2020 is described 
in Chapter 1.3 Objectives. The findings from the 
previous risk analysis have had a significant 
influence on the sustainability agenda adopted 
in 2020 and the transformation loan concept. 
By incentivising the transformation of existing 
buildings into lower carbon buildings, Berlin 
Hyp is taking a new approach towards reducing 
the negative impact of buildings on the climate 
and the environment.

Resource conservation criteria and biodiversity 
protection are important considerations for 
Berlin Hyp when selecting financing projects. 
In particular, it is observing the development 
of the technical assessment criteria of the EU 
taxonomy for the protection of ecosystems and 
biodiversity. The EU is expected to submit the 
relevant criteria by the end of 2021. Berlin Hyp 
will then evaluate the impact of the criteria on 
its business and how it can make a positive 
contribution to achieving the goals.

Berlin Hyp is also pursuing an operational ecol-
ogy approach as it seeks to increase awareness 
of the importance of environmental protection 
and take advantage of the opportunities that 

result from such heightened awareness.

Berlin Hyp is building a new corporate head-
quarters at the Bank’s long-standing location 
at Budapester Strasse 1 in Berlin-Tiergarten. 
The new headquarters will bring all employees 
in Berlin, who up to now have been separated 
into two different buildings, together into a 
single building. Up to now, they were divided 
into two separate buildings. The Bank is 
seeking to achieve certification for the new 
corporate headquarters according to the very 
high standard set by the German Sustainable 
Building Council (Deutsche Gesellschaft für 
Nachhaltiges Bauen - DGNB). This is part of 
Berlin Hyp’s long-term sustainability strategy. 
The new headquarters will enable the Bank 
to reduce its energy consumption by over 50 
per cent in comparison to the old building, in 
addition to significantly lowering operating 
costs. The architecture of the new building will 
reduce CO₁ emissions with its special design 
of outdoor areas and open spaces. To give an 
example, this reduction will be made possible 
by installing photovoltaic systems on the entire 
façade and on part of the roof. When demolish-
ing the old building, the real estate bank will 
take care to recycle and dispose of the mate-
rials in an environmentally friendly manner. 
The majority of small office furniture, materials 
and equipment from the building that are no 
longer needed have been donated or auctioned 
off and were therefore put to further use. The 
environmental management system is firmly 
embedded throughout the Bank’s demolition 
and new construction project.

3.3 Social Concerns – Social Impact
Based in Berlin, Berlin Hyp contributes in 
particular to economic and social well-being 
in the State of Berlin. Within the framework of 
its business model, interest and commission 
income is generated and profits, employee 
salaries and taxes are paid. The profit is 
transferred to the sole shareholder Landesbank 
Berlin Holding, also headquartered in Berlin.

Furthermore, Berlin Hyp’s social commitment 
(corporate citizenship) aims to establish an 
appropriate foothold in the region. More 
information is available on the website at 
https://www.berlinhyp.de/de/%C3%BCber-uns/
nachhaltigkeit/mitarbeiter-gesellschaft and in 
the 2020 GRI report, which will be published in 
the second quarter of 2021.
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also expect our contractors and suppliers, 
regardless of their size, sector or work, to act in 
accordance with the principles of the UN Global 
Compact and human rights, in particular:

·  �Abolition of child labour
·  �Free choice of employment
·  �Freedom of association
·  �Prohibition of discrimination

The employees of Berlin Hyp’s Purchasing 
Department can review contractors and suppli-
ers through random audits or questionnaires. 
This may be done at any time and without 
notice under the applicable laws. They check 
whether basic sustainability structures are in 
place, principles are observed and the informa-
tion provided in the questionnaire is accurate.

Material violations of the principles and 
requirements internally at the company or in 
the upstream supply chain must be reported 
without request and without delay. In the 
event of violations, employees of suppliers 
can contact the Compliance Officer directly 
via Berlin Hyp’s Whistleblower System. Berlin 
Hyp reserves the right to agree on a partner-
ship-based action plan or to terminate a con-
tractual relationship in the event of violations. 
We may also monitor the progress of the action 
plan without notification. Violations of the 
Code of Conduct must be resolved as part of an 
action plan. If violations of the criteria continue 
to occur, this may lead to termination of the 
contractual relationship. 

There were no suspected human rights viola-
tions in the reporting year.

3.5 Fight against Corruption and Bribery 
– Conduct in Compliance with Laws and 
Directives
In order to ensure success in the markets, one 
of the Bank’s main objectives is to maintain 
and build the trust of its customers, employees, 
owners and regulators.

The reputation of the Bank is therefore a high 
priority. This also includes conduct that sup-
ports the interests of customers and the avoid-
ance of conflicts of interest. This is why Berlin 
Hyp has created a comprehensive compliance 
organisation whose principles are summarised 
in a code of conduct and in numerous internal 
work procedures and monitored by the Com-
pliance Department under the direction of the 
Compliance Officer.

Berlin Hyp also meets the social requirements 
for its own investments. It has established eth-
ical investment criteria based on the ten princi-
ples of the Global Compact, other internation-
ally recognised sustainability standards and 
the Bank’s compliance requirements. The risk 
filter used by RepRisk AG for the Bank’s own 
investments (Portfolio A) at Berlin Hyp is based 
on these criteria. It is applied to the Bank’s own 
investment business with the aim of giving 
equal consideration to the sustainable aspects 
of investing and the economic objectives of 
investing in securities. The analysis of Portfolio 
A and future investment decisions are based on 
the online database of RepRisk AG for the risk 
exposure of companies, projects, sectors and 
countries with regard to ESG issues. RepRisk 
AG assesses risks related to the destruction 
of the environment, human rights violations, 
child labour, forced labour, fraud and corruption 
that can negatively affect an organisation’s 
reputation and financial profitability or lead to 
compliance issues.

If the semi-annual review of Portfolio A by 
Sustainability Management reveals violations 
of the filter criteria, the Treasury consults with 
Sustainability Management on the actions to 
be taken. The Treasury and Sustainability Man-
agement have jointly discussed the anomalies 
that occurred in 2020. 

In 2020, Berlin Hyp began to focus on social 
criteria with regard to objectives such as the 
“do no significant harm” criteria of the EU 
Taxonomy.

3.4. Respect for Human Rights
Berlin Hyp is committed to the respect of 
human rights in all activities of its business. 
The Bank joined the UN Global Compact in 
2015 as a way to communicate this both inter-
nally and externally. The following two princi-
ples of the UN Global Compact are specifically 
applied by Berlin Hyp in the context of human 
rights: 

·  �Businesses should support and respect the 
protection of internationally proclaimed 
human rights. 

·  �Businesses should make sure that they are 
not complicit in human rights abuses. 

To implement these principles, the Berlin Hyp 
has adopted several directives, such as the 
Human Rights, Diversity and Inclusion policy, 
from which specific measures are derived. We 
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3.5.3 Protection of the Privacy of Employees, 
Customers and Business Partners
Berlin Hyp collects, processes and uses the 
personal data of employees, customers and 
business partners. They are used in the general 
business operations and allow customers to 
receive advice and support according to their 
needs.

This personal data may only be handled 
with care, in compliance with the law and in 
accordance with unambiguous rules, in order 
to demonstrate that the Bank is worthy of 
the trust placed in it by its customers. We are 
therefore vigilant as to who receives which 
information, both within the Bank and with our 
customers and business partners. Customer 
data may only be shared with third parties with 
the customers’ consent, or if there is a legal 
admissibility or legal obligation to do so. The 
processes through which the General Data Pro-
tection Regulation and other data protection 
regulations are implemented at Berlin Hyp are 
defined and described in the internal direc-
tives. Data protection for the Bank is monitored 
by the Data Protection Officer, who acts on 
behalf of the Board of Management and is not 
subject to directives when performing assigned 
tasks. The Data Protection Officer works toward 
compliance with data protection and monitors 
and coordinates the data protection measures. 
All Berlin Hyp employees regularly complete 
a web-based data protection training course. 
The Data Protection Officer reports yearly, or 
on an ad hoc basis whenever necessary, to the 
management with an update on data protection 
within the company.

Berlin Hyp has set itself the goal of prevent-
ing any attempts to commit fraud or corrupt 
behaviour. The organisation and selected 
measures to fight corruption and bribery with 
the involvement of management are described 
in more detail in the following sub-aspects.

3.5.1 Political Influence
Berlin Hyp does not exert any political influ-
ence. In the reporting year, no submissions 
were made to legislative procedures, nor were 
any entries made on a lobby list. Donations to 
political parties or politicians are prohibited 
at Berlin Hyp in accordance with the Corporate 
Citizenship policy. Berlin Hyp contributes to 
the public debate on industry-related develop-
ments through its involvement in associations 
and industry institutions, which in turn must 
act within the framework of their statutes 
and submit to monitoring by their governing 
bodies.

3.5.2 Conduct in Compliance with Laws and 
Directives
Our actions are measured in terms of compli-
ance with the law, professional standards and 
internal regulations, provisions and guidelines. 
Employees are required to respect and comply 
with the laws and regulations that apply 
in the respective jurisdictions in which the 
Bank operates. Employees are trained and/or 
instructed on compliance with legal standards 
and internal regulations.

Our Code of Conduct has also included an 
external whistleblowing hotline since 2019.  

No cases of corruption at Berlin Hyp were 
reported in 2020. The Compliance Department 
regularly updates the management on the 
Bank’s compliance management. In addition, 
ad hoc information is provided on a case-by-
case basis in the event of serious violations of 
compliance regulations. The proper implemen-
tation of internal requirements is also reviewed 
according to schedule – and on an ad hoc 
basis where necessary – by the Internal Audit 
division, which reports directly to the Board of 
Management. There were no anomalies in this 
regard for the reporting year.

No fines were imposed on Berlin Hyp in the 
reporting year. In addition, no non-mone-
tary penalties were imposed on the Bank for 
non-compliance with laws and regulations.
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VII Further Information for Investors

Mortgage Loans Portfolio
The breakdown of the mortgage loans portfolio 
by maturity structure and loan-to-value ratio as 
at 31 December 2020 was as follows:

Lending region Ø LTV

Germany 55.1

BeNeLux 53.6

France 48.4

Poland/Czech Republic 55.0

Great Britain 54.7

Loan to value according to countries (with exposure > 1 % of the reporting total)
in %

Available Distributable Items (ADI)
in €m

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Balance sheet profit 0.0 0.0

	 Net income/loss for the year 0.0 0.0

	 Profit/loss carry-forward from the previous year 0.0 0.0

	 Additions to/withdrawals from retained earnings 0.0 0.0

Other profit reserves excluding statutory reserves* 2.2 2.2

Free capital reserves pursuant to Section 272 II No. 4 Commercial Code (HGB) 158.3 158.3

Less amounts blocked from distribution pursuant to Section 268 VIII  
Commercial Code (HGB) −30.1 −28.9

Available items capable of distribution 130.4 131.6

* after additions to from retained earnings

Maturity Structure of Loans
in % 6+41+8+13+11+7+5+4+5 6Over 10 years

5 years to 10 years

4 years to 5 years

3 years to 4 years

2 years to 3 years

1.5 years to 2 years

1 year to 1.5 years

6 months to 1 year

≤ 6 months

41

8

13

11

7

5

5

4
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Regulatory Key Figures
in €m

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Common equity tier 1 (CET1) 1,386.6 1,323.8

Additional tier 1 capital (AT1) 0.0 0.0

Tier 1 capital (T1) 1,386.6 1,323.8

Tier 2 capital (T2) 244.2 273.4

Own funds / Total capital 1,630.8 1,597.2

Risk weighted assets (RWA) 10,320.9 9,984.3

CET1 ratio in % 13.4 13.3

T1 ratio in % 13.4 13.3

Total capital ratio in % 15.8 16.0

Leverage ratio in % 4.1 4.6

MREL (balance sheet total) 17.5 23.4

MREL (RWA) 57.0 66.6

LCR 140.7 156.8

6+41+8+13+11+7+5+4+5
Equity

Buffer before senior
unsecured losses

1,656.8

5.0 %  
(to Balance  
sheet total)

16.1 % (to RWA)

MREL-Ratio1:

17.5 %  
(to LR exposure)

57.0 % (on RWA)

CET 1

1,386.7

13.4 %

Subordinated liabilities
232.9

T2 Instruments

Senior non-preferred and senior unsecured debt instruments
8,933.9 (4,206.9)1

Insolvency Hierarchy and Protection of Senior-Unsecured Investors
 in €m

1 �For regulatory purposes, structured debt instruments, money market securities and long-term securities with remaining terms of less 
than one year are not taken into account for the MREL ratio. Senior unsecured papers are capped at 2.5 per cent of the RWA.

Subscribed capital
753.4

Reserves
182.5

Fund for general banking risks  
(Section 340g HGB)

488.0 
(comprised in CET1)

0.0 
(not comprised in CET1)
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Balance Sheet of Berlin Hyp AG 
as at 31 December 2020

78

Assets

€
31.12.2020

€
31.12.2019

T€

1. 	 Cash reserves
	 a)	 Cash in hand 0.00 0.00

	 b)	 Central banks credit balances 1,894,485,769.36 25,578

		��  of which: at Deutsche Bundesbank  
€1,894,485,769.36 (previous year: T€25,578)

1,894,485,769.36 25,578

2. 	� Public-sector debt and bills of exchange admitted for  
refinancing at central banks 0.00 0

3. 	 Claims against banking institutions
	 a) 	 Mortgage loans 0.00 0

	 b) 	 Public-sector loans 0.00 0

	 c) 	 Other claims 111,547,230.73 261,836

	 	 of which: due on demand €4,800,780.58 (previous year: T€5,533) 111,547,230.73 261,836

	 	 with securities as collateral €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

4. 	 Claims against customers
	 a) 	 Mortgage loans 23,863,568,722.92 21,774,049

	 b)   Public-sector loans 417,881,129.35 521,895

	 c) 	 Other receivables 101,410,390.25 107,334

	 	 of which: with securities as collateral €0.00 (previous year: T€0) 24,382,860,242.52 22,403,278

5. 	 Debentures and other fixed-interest securities
	 a) 	 Money market securities

		  aa)	 Issued by public institutions 0.00 0

		   	� of which: eligible as security at Deutsche Bundesbank 
€0.00 (previous year: T€0)

		  ab) From other issuers 135,087,396.76 0

			�   of which: eligible as security at Deutsche Bundesbank 
€135,087,396.76 (previous year: T€0)

135,087,396.76 0

	 b) 	 Bonds and debentures

		  ba) Issued by public institutions 2,096,131,096.12 619,999

			    �of which: eligible as security at Deutsche Bundesbank  
€2,096,128,931.91 (previous year: T€619,997)	

		  bb) From other issuers 3,991,955,113.95 3,078,667

			��   of which: eligible as security at Deutsche Bundesbank 
€3,848,665,727.02 (previous year: T€2,924,438)

6,088,086,210.07 3,698,666

	 c) 	 Own debentures 0.00 0

	 	 Nominal amount €0.00 (previous year: T€0) 6,223,173,606.83 3,698,666

6. 	 Shares and other non-fixed-interest securities 0.00 0

6a. 	Trading portfolio 0.00 0

7. 	 Participations 3,195,934.41 5,716

	 of which: in banking institutions €0.00 (previous year: T€0) 
	 in financial services institutions €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

	 Carryover 32,615,262,783.85 26,395,074
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Liabilities

€
31.12.2020

€
31.12.2019

T€

1. 	 Liabilities to banking institutions
	 a)	 Registered mortgage Pfandbriefe issued 124,812,624.14 177,518

	 b)	 Registered public Pfandbriefe issued 9,367,788.03 45,760

	 c) 	 Other liabilities 9,323,553,246.26 3,803,269

	 	 of which: due on demand €7.03 (previous year: T€103,370) 9,457,733,658.43 4,026,547

		�  Registered mortgage Pfandbriefe delivered to the lender as collateral 
for loans taken up €0.00 (previous year: T€0) and public registered 
Pfandbriefe delivered €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

2. 	 Liabilities to customers
	 a) 	 Registered mortgage Pfandbriefe issued 1,506,389,579.74 1,622,346

	 b) 	 Registered public Pfandbriefe issued 237,755,080.59 399,517

	 c) 	 Other liabilities 2,732,341,457.56 2,302,757

	 	 �of which: due on demand €287,549,063.19  
(previous year: T€379,632)

4,476,486,117.89 4,324,620

		�  Registered mortgage Pfandbriefe delivered to the lender as collateral 
for loans taken up €0.00 (previous year: T€0) and public registered 
Pfandbriefe delivered €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

3. 	 Securitised liabilities
	 a) 	 Debentures issued 

		  aa) Mortgage Pfandbriefe 10,453,277,085.74 10,303,317

		  ab) Public Pfandbriefe 20,452,362.44 20,451

		  ac) Other debentures 6,607,050,597.10 5,828,783

17,080,780,045.28 16,152,551

	 b) 	 Other securitised liabilities 0.00 0

	 	 of which: money market securities €0.00 (previous year: T€0) 17,080,780,045.28 16,152,551

3a. 	Trading portfolio 0.00 0

4. 	 Trust liabilities 0.00 0

	 of which: trust loans €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

5. 	 Other liabilities 360,579,001.18 442,013

6. 	 Deferred income
	 a) 	 From issue and loan business 114,462,198.05 121,984

	 b) 	 Other 0.00 0

114,462,198.05 121,984

6a. 	Deferred tax liabilities 0.00 0

7. 	 Reserves
	 a) 	 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 199,900,330.00 186,085

	 b) 	 Tax provisions 94,500.00 10

	 c) 	 Other provisions 76,251,479.75 73,744

276,246,309.75 259,839

8. 	 Subordinated liabilities 232,899,813.98 339,698

	 Carryover 31,999,187,144.56 25,667,252
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Balance Sheet of Berlin Hyp AG 
as at 31 December 2020
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Assets

€
31.12.2020

€
31.12.2019

T€

	 Carryover 32,615,262,783.85 26,395,074

8. 	 Shares in affiliated enterprises 25,646.61 26

	 of which: in banking institutions €0.00 (previous year: T€0)
	 	 	 in financial services institutions €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

9. 	 Trust assets 0.00 0

	 of which: trust loans €0.00 (previous year: T€0))

10. 	�Equalisation claims against public-sector institutions,  
including debentures arising from their exchange 0.00 0

11. 	Intangible investment assets
	 a) 	� Internally produced industrial property rights and  

similar rights and values 0.00 0

	 b) 	� Purchased concessions, industrial property rights and similar 
rights and values as well as licences for such rights and values 

24,396,678.73 9,552

	 c) 	 Goodwill 0.00 0

	 d) 	 Payments in advance 12,817,812.14 21,225

37,214,490.87 30,777

12. 	Tangible assets 42,536,934.92 49,312

13. 	Unpaid called-up contributions to the subscribed capital 0.00 0

14. 	Other assets 623,990,485.13 409,040

15. 	Deferred income
	 a) 	 From issue and loan business 102,466,758.09 135,514

	 b) 	 Other 1,593,202.22 1,412

104,059,960.31 136,926

16. 	Deferred tax assets 0.00 0

17. 	Surplus arising from offsetting 0.00 0

18. 	Deficit not covered by equity 0.00 0

	 Total assets 33,423,090,301.69 27,021,155
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Liabilities

€
31.12.2020

€
31.12.2019

T€

	 Carryover 31,999,187,144.56 25,667,252

9. 	 Profit-sharing rights capital 0.00 0

	 of which: due within two years €0.00 (previous year: T€0)

10. 	Fund for general banking risks 488,000,000.00 418,000

11. 	Equity
	 a) 	 Called-up capital 

		  aa) Subscribed capital 753,389,240.32 753,389

		  ab) Less unpaid contributions not called up 0.00 0

753,389,240.32 753,389

	 b) 	 Capital reserve 158,316,268.74 158,316

	 c) 	 Profit reserve

		  ca) Statutory reserve 22,022,655.29 22,023

		  cb) �Reserve for own shares in companies with a controlling  
or majority holding

0.00 0

		  cc) Articles of Association reserve 0.00 0

	 	 cd) Other profit reserves 2,174,992.78 2,175

24,197,648.07 24,198

	 d) 	 Balance sheet profit 0.00 0

935,903,157.13 935,903

	 Total liabilities 33,423,090,301.69 27,021,155

1. 	 Contingent liabilities

	 a) 	 Liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements 183,995,054.92 258,890

2. 	 Other obligations

	 a) 	 Irrevocable loan commitments 3,006,043,168.36 2,958,659
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Expenditure

€
2020

€
2019

T€

1. 	 Interest expenditure 101,096,091.14 91,860

	 less positive interest 31,815,758.83 69,280,332.31 18,109 73,751

2.	 Commission expenditure 9,276,698.00 8,768

3. 	 Net expenditure of the trading portfolio 0.00 0

4. 	 General operating expenditure
	 a) Staff expenditure

		  aa) Wages and salaries 58,775,963.62 57,277

		  ab) �Social security contributions and expenses  
for retirement pensions and other employee  
benefits of which: for retirement pensions  
€15,154,274.48 (previous year: T€27,202) 23,258,025.51 35,088

82,033,989.13 92,365

	 b) Other administrative expenditure 70,075,968.46 67,558

	 �of which: Expenditure for bank levy €13,388,028.87  
(previous year: T€12,040)

152,109,957.59 159,923

5. 	�� Amortisation on and depreciation of and valuation adjustments  
on intangible and tangible assets 21,093,018.92 12,388

6. 	 Other operating expenditure 9,846,759.85 10,199

7. 	� Depreciation and valuation adjustments on claims  
and specific securities and additions to provisions made 
 for lending 61,600,596.51 0

8. 	� Depreciations and valuation adjustments on interests,  
shares in affiliated enterprises and securities treated as  
investment assets 2,846,027.36 4,000

9. 	 Expenditure for loss assumptions 0.00 0

10. 	Contribution to the fund for general banking risks 70,000,000.00 90,000

11. 	Extraordinary expenditure 0.00 0

12. 	Taxes on income and earnings 238,563.80 609

13. 	Other taxes not shown under Item 6 171,074.00 175

14. �	Profits transferred on the basis of a profit pool,  
a profit transfer or partial profit transfer agreement 23,403,689.45 61,007

15. 	Net income for the year 0.00 0

	 Total expenditure 419,866,717.79 420,820

Profit and Loss Account
of Berlin Hyp AG for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020
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Income

€
2020

€
2019

T€

1. 	 Interest income from
	 a) Lending and money market transactions 398,696,915.06 391,938

		  l�ess negative interest from lending and  
money market transactions

10,326,878.31
388,370,036.75

5,815 386,123

	 b) �Fixed-income securities and  
book-entry securities −5,941,518.29 −2,665

382,428,518.46 383,458

2. 	 Current income from
	 a) Shares and other non-fixed-interest securities 0.00 0

	 b) Participations 2,546.16 0

	 c) Shares in affiliated companies 0.00 0

2,546.16 0

3. 	� Income from profit pooling, profit transfer or  
partial profit transfer agreements 0.00 0

4. 	 Commission income 29,278,203.66 26,606

5. 	 Net earnings of the trading portfolio 0.00 0

6. 	� Income from attributions to claims and  
specific securities and the dissolution of  
provisions made for lending 0.00 2,178

7. 	� Income from attributions to interests, 
shares in affiliated enterprises and 
securities treated as investment assets 0.00 0

8. 	 Other operating income 8,157,449.51 8,578

9. 	� Income from the dissolution of the fund  
for general banking risks 0.00 0

10. 	Net loss for the year 0.00 0

	 Total income 419,866,717.79 420,820
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
and Cash Flow Statement

T€ Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Profit 
reserves

Balance 
sheet profit

Total 
equity capital

As at 01.01.2020 753,389 158,316 24,198 0 935,903

Capital increases 0 0 0 0 0

Dividend payments 0 0 0 0 0

Other changes
pursuant to Section 152 (3) No. 1 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

0 0 0 0 0

As at 31.12.2020 753,389 158,316 24,198 0 935,903

The cash and cash equivalent shown includes 
the cash reserve, which is composed of cash 
holdings and credit balances with central 
banks. €656 million are attributable to the 
HAM cover funds at the Bundesbank and are 
considered restricted.

Expenses from the profit transfer agreement 
with Landesbank Berlin Holding AG, Berlin, 
of €23.4 million are reported separately. The 
transfer of profits for the 2019 financial year 
made during the current year is reported in 
cash flow from financing activities.

The cash flow statement provides information 
on the status and development of the Bank’s 
funds, separated according to the divisions 
of operating business activities, investment 
activities and finance activities. It is prepared  
in accordance with German Accounting 
Standard No. 21.

Cash flows for operating business activities 
are allocated by separating them from oper-
ating results. The cash flow from investment 
activities largely results from deposits and 
withdrawals in connection with the disposal or 
acquisition of financial and/or tangible assets. 
In assessing the change of funds from financing 
activity, changes in subordinated liabilities are 
taken in consideration alongside relations to 
equity suppliers.
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Cash Flow Statement in T€ (+ = cash inflow, − = cash outflow) 2020 2019

Net income for the year 0 0

	� Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets,  
valuation adjustments on/attributions to claims and investment asset items

176,003 35,991

	 Increase/decrease in provisioning 16,407 24,390

	 Other non-cash expenditure/income 0 0

	 Profit/loss from the sale of investment asset items −295 −3,936

	 Profit and loss transfer agreement 23,404 61,007

	 Other adjustments (on balance) −67,111 −6,583

Increase/decrease in 

	 Claims	 against banking institutions
			   against customers

125,734 
−2,070,234

711,923 
−1,552,040

	 securities (unless they are financial investments) −2,577,505 −682,887

	 other assets from current business operations −182,083 −208,208

	 liabilities 	 to banking institutions
			   to customers

5,451,393 
140,828

−12,760 
−589,693

	 securitised liabilities 929,473 428,198

	 other liabilities from current business operations −50,229 17,256

Interest expenditure/interest income −313,149 −309,707

Expenditure/income from extraordinary items 0 0

Income tax expenditure/earnings 239 609

Interest payments and dividend payments received 415,944 422,859

Interest paid −80,816 −91,296

Extraordinary in-payments 0 0

Extraordinary disbursements 0 0

Income tax payments −154 −638

Cash flow from operating activities 1,937,850 −1,755,515

In-payments from disposals of

	 financial investment assets 50,276 54,600

	 tangible assets 256 3

	 intangible investment assets 13 26

Disbursements for investments in

	 financial investment assets -378 −4,664

	 tangible assets −8,659 −1,830

	 intangible investment assets −12,644 −14,204

Change of funds from other investment activity (balance) 0 0

In-payments from extraordinary items 0 0

Disbursements from extraordinary items 0 0

Cash flow from investment activities 28,864 33,931

In-payments from equity contributions by shareholders of the parent company 0 0

In-payments from equity contributions by other shareholders 0 0

Disbursement from reductions in equity to shareholders of the parent company 0 0

Disbursement from reductions in equity to other shareholders 0 0

In-payments from extraordinary items 0 0

Disbursements from extraordinary items 0 0

Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company 0 0

Dividends paid to other shareholders 0 0

Change of funds from other capital (balance) −36,798 48,964

Change of funds from previous year’s profit and loss transfer −61,007 −116,409

Cash flow from financing activities −97,805 −67,445

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the previous period 25,578 1,814,607

	 Cash flow from operating activities 1,937,850 −1,755,515

	 Cash flow from investment activities 28,864 33,931

	 Cash flow from financing activities −97,805 −67,445

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,894,486 25,578
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of uncertainty in view of the dynamics that 
are emerging. However, as far as the effects 
of COVID-19 on the economy are reflected 
in sustained economic and capital market 
pressures and the current situation persists or 
worsens, this could also put significant pressure 
on the real estate markets, contrary to previous 
expectations due to vacancies and value losses 
in commercial real estate, thereby leading to 
rising risk provisioning expenditures. Further-
more, there could be a decrease in the volume 
of new business and the number of holdings in 
the commercial real estate financing business. 
It therefore cannot be ruled out that further 
developments in the COVID-19 crisis will lead 
to negative effects on the planned earnings 
figures. If this situation were to arise, the profit 
transfer in 2021 could also be significantly 
lower than the result in 2020 due to rising risk 
provisioning expenditures and a negative impact 
on the interest result. Were this to be the case, 
the other key management indicators might also 
develop less favourably than those shown in the 
forecast report. There may also be consequences 
for regulatory capital and regulatory indicators. 
Moreover, this may give rise to liquidity risks. It 
cannot be ruled out that further developments 
in the COVID-19 crisis in the 2021 financial year 
may also have a negative impact on risk manage-
ment parameters.

Reporting and Valuation Principles
The valuation of assets and liabilities occurs 
according to the provisions of Sections 252 et 
seq. German Commercial Code (HGB), taking 
into account the special regulations for banking 
institutions pursuant to Sections 340 et seq. 
German Commercial Code (HGB).
 
Aside from the creation of an additional COVID-
19 management adjustment as part of the 
lump-sum value adjustment, the accounting and 
valuation methods used in the annual accounts 
as at 31 December 2020 are generally the same 
as those used in the annual accounts of the 
previous year.

Claims and Liabilities
Claims are shown at their nominal amount, and 
liabilities are shown at their settlement amount. 
The difference between amounts paid out and 

Berlin Hyp AG is a public company under German 
law and is headquartered in Berlin. It is regis-
tered in the Commercial Register of the District 
Court of Charlottenburg under HRB 56530 and 
is licensed to provide banking business and 
financial services.

General Information on the Structure of the 
Annual Accounts and on the Balance Sheet 
and Evaluation Methods
The annual accounts of Berlin Hyp are prepared 
according to the provisions of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB), supplemented by the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and taking 
into consideration the German Pfandbrief Act 
(PfandBG) and the German Credit Institutions 
Accounting Regulation (RechKredV).
 
The balance sheet and profit and loss account 
are structured in accordance with the RechKredV. 
They were supplemented by the items pre-
scribed for Pfandbrief banks.
 
Berlin Hyp holds shares in a subsidiary and four 
investments that have no material influence on 
the representation of the financial, assets and 
earnings situation of Berlin Hyp either individ-
ually or as a whole. Berlin Hyp has no legal obli-
gation to produce consolidated annual accounts 
according to Section 290 German Commercial 
Code (HGB).

Events after the balance sheet date
After the balance sheet date of 31 December 
2020, a prolonged hard lockdown period contin-
ued through January with significantly reduced 
economic activity and limited business activity 
for many companies (including hotels, non-food 
retailers, etc.). As a result, the spread of COVID-
19 continues to have a considerable impact on 
the economic activity in many markets. This also 
means a significantly increased likelihood that 
the economy will continue to struggle and that 
the real estate industry will also face negative 
consequences in future. In this respect, there is an 
event affecting value after the balance sheet date.
 
The concrete effects on the economy, individual 
markets and sectors cannot be conclusively 
assessed as yet. The forecasts contained in 
the management report reveal a high degree 

Notes
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price and the amount received is considered in 
the interest result on a pro rata basis.

Securities
With the exception of the accounting units 
pursuant to Section 254 German Commercial 
Code (HGB) and the investment portfolio, the 
amounts included in the ‘Debentures and other 
fixed-interest securities’ item were evaluated 
according to the strict lower-of-cost-or-market 
principle (Section 253 German Commercial Code 
(HGB)). They were consequently recognised at 
fair value to the extent it does not exceed the 
amortised cost. Fair value in active markets 
corresponds to the stock market or market price 
on the reporting date.
 
Securities valued like assets were evaluated 
as amortised costs and, providing there are no 
grounds for sustained impairment, they are 
written up or off at the nominal value in case of 
purchase prices that deviate from the nominal 
value at consistent interest rates up to the 
respective due date. Reversal of an impairment 
loss in the fixed assets of rededicated securities 
is presented in the net income from investments.

Investments and Shares in Affiliated 
Companies
Participations and shares in affiliated enterprises 
are included at cost. Where a loss of value is 
expected to be permanent, they are written down 
to the lower fair value. If the reasons for the 
decrease in value no longer exist, write-ups are 
undertaken to an amount which may not exceed 
the amortised cost.

Tangible Assets and Intangible Assets 
Tangible and intangible assets with limited 
useful lives are reported at amortised cost, less 
impairment losses to the lower fair value. Planned 
amortisation and depreciation are spread over the 
useful economic life of the assets.
 
Operating and business equipment are depreci-
ated using the following depreciation periods:

IT equipment 3 - 5 years

Other operating and business 
equipment 

5 - 13 years

par value where claims in the lending business 
are concerned is reported as prepaid expenses 
and prepaid income, respectively, to the extent 
that it is classified as interest and released over 
their term according to schedule.
 
Discounted debentures are displayed with their 
issue amount including accrued interest on the 
basis of issue yields.
 
Recognisable risks in the lending business were 
taken into proper consideration through the 
formation of specific valuation allowances, lump-
sum specific valuation allowances and reserves. 
Lump-sum value adjustments are in place 
for latent risks in the accounts receivable – in 
addition to the fund for general banking risks in 
accordance with Section 340g German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) reported in the balance sheet.
 
When identifying income and expenses related 
to risk provisioning, the right to choose full 
compensation is exercised (Section 340f (3) 
German Commercial Code (HGB)). Interest is not 
recognised for irrecoverable claims.
 
The lump-sum specific valuation allowances and 
the lump-sum value adjustments are determined 
using mathematical statistical procedures on 
the basis of the expected loss concept. For the 
risk mapping of existing potential counterparty 
default risks in connection with the coronavirus 
pandemic, a COVID-19 management adjustment 
of €25.6 million was established for disbursed 
loans and €6.4 million through the creation of 
reserves for irrevocable lending commitments. 
As a result of the change, the annual accounts 
provide a more accurate picture of the actual 
net assets, financial and earnings situation, in 
compliance with the legally required accounting 
principles.

Repurchase Agreements
The financial instruments that the Bank, in its 
capacity as a pension provider, transfers within 
the framework of genuine repurchase agreements 
are entered in the balance sheet and evaluated 
according to their classification. The correspond-
ing liability is carried at the amount of the agreed 
redemption price, taking into account accrued 
interest. The difference between the redemption 
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Code (HGB)). The difference between the recogni-
tion of reserves in accordance with the actuarial 
interest rates of the past ten financial years and 
the recognition of reserves in accordance with the 
corresponding average market interest rates for 
the past seven financial years (discount rate of 
1.60% (1.97%)) amounts to €30.0 million (€28.9 
million); the difference is not taken into account 
as being suspended for payment.
 
Pension obligations are based on the projected 
unit credit method using the 2018 G Heubeck 
Guideline Tables as the biometric basis for 
calculation. A salary and career trend of 2.5% 
per annum is calculated. The projected pension 
trend has accordingly been set at between 1.0% 
and 2.0% per annum, depending on the pension 
scheme involved. For active board members, a 
salary and career trend of 0.0 per cent is calcu-
lated. The age-dependent turnover has been 
considered at a rate of 1.2% (up to 50 years) to 
4.3% (up to 30 years).
 
Another pension plan of the Bank involves 
a pension commitment as a complement to 
reinsurance, the amount of which is exclusively 
determined by the fair value of a life reinsurance 
plan (plan assets according to Section 246 (2) 
Sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code 
[HGB]); this pension commitment is therefore 
treated as a pension commitment linked to 
securities in the balance sheet. The correspond-
ing reserve should therefore be recognised in 
the amount of the fair value of the plan assets 
(insofar as it exceeds a guaranteed minimum 
amount) and should be netted with the plan 
assets. It is calculated with a salary and pension 
trend of 2.0 per cent per annum. The difference 
not taken into account as being suspended for 
payment according to Section 253 (6) of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) amounts to 
€T23.5 (€T0).
 
According to Section 253 (1) Sentence 4 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB), the assets are 
assessed at fair value and came to €1.3 million 
(€1.1 million) as at 31 December 2020 at an 
amortised cost of €1.3 million (€1.1 million). This 
was determined based on the calculation basis 
of the contribution calculation within the mean-
ing of Section 169 (3) of the German Insurance 
Contract Act (VVG).
 
Since the settlement amount of the obligation 
stemming from this commitment corresponds to 
the fair value of the plan assets, the obligation 
and the plan assets balance out to zero.
 

The period of amortisation for the software and 
licences listed under ‘Intangible investment 
assets’ ranges between three and five years. 
Payments in advance are recognised at their 
nominal amounts.
 
The depreciation period for the buildings at 
Budapester Strasse 1 / Keithstrasse 45 was 
adjusted in 2019 to the demolition of the build-
ing started in 2020. The building was therefore 
fully depreciated on the balance sheet date and 
removed from the balance sheet. 
 
Interest on debt capital relating to the financ-
ing for the construction of the new building 
at Budapester Strasse 1 is not included in the 
production costs.
 
Since 1 January 2018, there has been no 
compound item formation for low-value assets. 
For reasons of simplification, up to an amount of 
€800 net, these assets are immediately depreci-
ated with an effect on expenses. 

Reserves
For contingent liabilities, reserves were formed 
for the settlement amounts required according 
to prudent commercial judgement, taking into 
account expected price and cost increases. The 
Bank determines the amount of these liabilities 
using estimates, which take into account the 
respective circumstances and relevant determin-
ing factors appropriately. The reserve for legal 
risks arising from the Federal Court of Justice 
ruling on 4 July 2017 concerning credit pro-
cessing fees was fully reversed on 31 December 
2020 given the expiry of the limitation period. 
Reserves for strategic resources planning are 
based on the results of the related works agree-
ment and operative procedural planning.
 
The materiality of the discounting of reserves 
with residual terms of more than one year 
is reviewed regularly. Material items with a 
remaining term of over one year are discounted 
in accordance with Section 253 (2) German 
Commercial Code (HGB).
 
Pension reserves are assessed based on actuarial 
principles employing a discount rate of 2.30% 
(previous year: 2.71%) of the cash value of the 
obligations already accrued. The actuarial inter-
est rate refers to the interest rate determined by 
the Deutsche Bundesbank as at 31 December 
2020, which results as a ten-year average interest 
rate from an assumed residual term of 15 years 
(Section 253 (2) Sentence 2 German Commercial 
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The interest paid from this commitment cor-
responds to the earnings from the associated 
reinsurance. The amount to be settled according 
to Section 246 (2) Sentence 2 of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) amounted to €0.3 mil-
lion (€0.3 million) as at 31 December 2020. 
 
The reserve for early retirement obligations 
is set at cash value calculated using a maturi-
ty-linked discounting factor of future earnings. 
The 2018 G Heubeck Guideline Tables are used 
as a biometric accounting basis. The Bank 
reports income from the adjustment of parame-
ters under the operating result.
 
The expenses from the compounding of reserves 
are included in the “Other operating results”.

Derivatives
The reporting of derivative financial instruments 
occurs in off-balance-sheet accounts. There are 
no trading positions. In terms of derivative con-
tracts, both banking institutions and the Bank’s 
borrowers (customer derivatives) are possible 
counterparties. Accrued interest from interest 
and currency swaps is treated as deferred inter-
est according to period and reported as claims or 
liabilities in the respective items.
 
Among other instruments, the Bank uses 
swaptions, forward rate agreements and 
occasional capital market futures to manage its 
interest-bearing operations at macro level. Paid 
option premiums are presented under the bal-
ance sheet heading ‘Other assets’ and received 
option premiums under ‘Other liabilities’ and are 
accrued on a time basis immediately following 
the termination of the option period in case of 
expiry or utilisation in respect of the term of the 
underlying transactions over prepaid expenses 
and deferred income. Paid and received non-re-
curring payments (upfront payments) and pre-
miums for caps/floors/collars are entered in the 
balance sheet as deferred income and deferred 
on a pro-rata basis over their respective terms. 
The compensation payments due from forward 
rate agreements following the termination of the 
waiting period are recognised immediately in 
profit. The daily fluctuations in the market value 
of the capital market futures are offset by the 
payments of variation margins, which appear 
in the balance sheet as either ‘Other assets’ or 
‘Other liabilities’. The Bank does not hold any 
credit derivatives.
 
The market values of the derivatives are calcu-
lated on the basis of a tenor-specific swap yield 

curve, taking into consideration counterparty 
risks; valuation techniques appropriate to the 
particular instrument are applied.
 
As part of the IBOR reform, the interest rates for 
cash collateral from euro-backed derivatives were 
changed from EONIA to €STR in 2020 (referred 
to as discounting switch). This changes the fair 
value of derivatives, provided that the discount 
rate is the interest rate valid for the interest rate 
on the cash collateral. At the time of the changes, 
the compensation payment received or to be paid 
according to IDW RH FAB 1.020 is recognised 
immediately in the net interest income.

Accounting Units
Within the context of economic hedging relation-
ships, the Bank hedges debentures and other 
fixed-income securities, book claims, short-term 
liabilities, securitised liabilities and pending 
transactions (payment obligations relating to 
irrevocable loan commitments) against the risk 
of a change in interest rates. As accounting units 
pursuant to Section 254 German Commercial 
Code (HGB), underlying debentures and other 
fixed-income securities are designated at the 
level of the individual transactions with a total 
nominal holding value of €4.7 billion as at 
31 December 2020 (€3.4 billion). Accounting 
units are only formed at the micro level, meaning 
that changes in values from the hedged risk 
are offset by the underlying transactions of the 
individual hedging instruments; the hedging 
relationships in questions are perfect hedging 
relationships. No ineffectiveness relevant to the 
accounting can arise on account of the correla-
tion of all factors affecting value between the 
hedged portion of the underlying transaction 
and the portion of the hedging instrument to 
be hedged. As a result, the critical term match 
method is used to assess the effectiveness 
of the accounting units. Risks hedged by the 
accounting units amounted to €127.2 million as 
at the reporting date (€137.5 million). The Bank 
applies the net hedge presentation method. The 
changes in value attributed to the hedged risk 
are expected to be offset by the end of the desig-
nation or maturity of the transactions due to the 
correlation of factors affecting value between the 
hedged portion of the underlying transaction 
and the portion of the hedging instrument to 
be hedged. Changes in the value of underlying 
transactions and hedging instruments attribut-
able to unsecured risks are not offset and rec-
ognised in accordance with general provisions. 
In addition, please refer to the statement of 
changes in derivatives.
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Explanations of the Profit and Loss Account and the Balance Sheet
Condensed Profit and Loss Account

Net interest income

Net interest income in T€ 2020 2019

Interest income from

	 Mortgage loans 397,354 391,185

	 Public-sector loans −601 −587

	 Other receivables 
		  less negative interest

1,944 
−10,327

1,340
−5,815

	 Fixed-income securities and book-entry securities −5,942 −2,665

382,429 383,458

Interest expenditure for

	 Deposits and registered Pfandbriefe
		  less positive interest

1,184
−31,816

5,538
 −18,109

	 Securitised liabilities −24,081 −14,628

	 Subordinated liabilities 4,320 5,584

	 Other liabilities 119,672 95,367

69,280 73,751

Net interest income 313,148 309,706

sheet date on the basis of active markets via 
external market suppliers, the market values 
for such financial instruments were determined 
on the basis of evaluation models. These are 
standard discounted cash flow procedures that 
consider issuer and asset class-specific interest 
curves and credit spreads.

Currency Conversion
The valuation of assets, debts and off-balance-
sheet transactions in foreign currencies is 
undertaken on the basis of Section 256a German 
Commercial Code (HGB) in connection with Sec-
tion 340h German Commercial Code (HGB). The 
conversion is carried out at the ECB reference 
prices provided on a daily basis by the Risk Con-
trolling division of Landesbank Berlin AG, Berlin. 
Currency swaps used to hedge interest-bearing 
balance sheet items denominated in foreign 
currencies are converted at the split forward 
rate, with the swap rate being discounted over 
the term of the swap and recognised as interest 
income on a pro rate basis. Currency effects 
from currency conversion are reported net either 
in the item ‘Other operating income’ or ‘Other 
operating expenditure’.

Interest income and expenses from secured swap 
transactions are settled with the interest income 
and expenses of the respective secured item; 
thus the interest result from the entire hedging 
relationship is displayed in the corresponding 
item of the profit and loss account.

Loss-Free Evaluation of the Banking Book
Berlin Hyp conducts an audit of the loss-free 
evaluation of interest rate-related transactions 
on the banking book (interest book) on the basis 
of IDW RS BFA 3 new version As Berlin Hyp did 
not allocate any transactions to the trading book, 
the banking book includes all interest-bearing 
transactions, including derivative financial 
instruments. From a periodic (P&L-based) and 
static (cash value) point of view, two equivalent 
methods are currently available for determining 
the provision for contingent losses. The Bank 
applies the bar value method. The interest 
rate-related cash value are compared with the 
carrying amounts, taking into account the risk, 
inventory management and fictitious refinancing 
costs. There was no need to create provision for 
contingent losses according to Section 340a of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Calculating Fair Values
In individual cases where prices for securities 
and claims were not available as at the balance 
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Net interest income increased by €3.4 million 
to €313.1 million compared to the previous 
year. Besides a higher average mortgage loan 
portfolio, the increase was due to favourable 
financing conditions achieved through partici-
pation in the targeted longer-term refinancing 
operations with the Deutsche Bundesbank 
(TLTRO-III).
 
Interest expenditure from ‘Other liabilities’ 
are a result of the negative interest result 
from macro-level management derivatives 
of €119.7 million (€95.4 million), which has 
risen significantly against the backdrop of the 
renewed lower level of interest rates in 2020. 

This includes expenditures for close-outs to 
compensate for the prepayment fees received 
in interest income from mortgage loans. 
 
The net interest income shows interest expend-
iture and interest income from derivatives 
entered in the balance sheet together with the 
interest expenditure and interest income from 
the respective secured balance sheet items.
 
Net interest and commission income and other 
operating income were predominantly gener-
ated in Germany.

Other operating expenditure in T€ 2020 2019

IT expenditure 18,927 15,142

Services by third parties 16,454 18,963

Bank levy 13,388 12,040

Building and premises costs 7,261 5,182

Group set-off 5,738 5,940

Business operating costs 3,123 3,696

Staff-related material costs 2,627 3,658

Advertising and marketing 1,566 2,221

Operating and business equipment 991 715

70,076 67,558

Other operating expenditure 

Auditor's fees
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
has audited the annual financial accounts of 
Berlin Hyp AG. The audit of a group reporting 
package was integrated into the audit. In addi-
tion, audits in accordance with Section 89 (1) of 
the WpHG (Securities Trading Act) and Section 
16j of the FinDAG (Federal Financial Supervi-
sory Authority Act), an audit in accordance with 
ISAE 3000 for the use of loans to collateralise 
Central Bank loans, an audit in accordance with 
ISAE 3000 in connection with the non-financial 
statement, agreed-upon investigative proce-
dures in accordance with ISRS 4400 in connec-
tion with the bank levy, audits in accordance 
with Sections 45, 46 of the framework statutes 
for the Institutional Protection Scheme of 
the Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe, the issue of a 
comfort letter in accordance with IDW PS 910, 
as well as quality assurance in connection with 
an accounting-related and a regulatory issue 
were carried out.
 

The disclosures pursuant to Section 285 No. 
17 German Commercial Code (HGB) are not 
undertaken with reference to the inclusion of 
the Bank in the consolidated annual accounts of 
Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH & 
Co. KG. The auditor’s fees incurred by Berlin Hyp 
AG are taken into account in the corresponding 
disclosure in the consolidated annual accounts.

Other Operating Result
The ‘Other operating result’, consisting of the 
items ‘Other operating expenditures’ and ‘Other 
operating income’, includes expenditures from 
additions to provisioning of €3.2 million (€2.1 
million) in connection with strategic resource 
planning €2.9 million and for the deconstruction 
of the bank building (€0.3 million). In addition, 
‘Other operating income’ includes income 
from the reversal of other provisions totalling 
€6.5 million (€7.6 million). Of this amount, 
€4.3 million is attributable to the reversal of 
the provision for legal risks relating to credit 
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processing fees, €1.0 million to the reversal 
of the provision for customer claims in the 
event of cancellation of loan agreements – and 
income from the foreign currency valuation 
of €0.4 million (€-0.4 million). Of the expend-
iture of €6.2 million (€6.9 million) from the 
compounding of provisions included in the 
Other operating expenditure, €5.0 million 
(€5.1 million) is attributable to the compound-
ing of pension reserves, €1.2 million to the 
compounding of strategic resource planning 
reserves.

In T€ 2020 2019

Risk provisioning for lending business 81,404 7,489

Risk provisioning for securities business −19,803 −9,667

61,601 −2,178
Earnings with negative advance signs

Risk provisioning for the lending business 
developed as follows:

In T€ Counterparty default risk

Direct
write-
down

Ind.
value

adjust-
ment

Lump-sum 
value ad-
justments 
– other RP

RST Total Total Profit and  
loss relevant

2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2020 2019

As at 1 January 83,530 128,626 7,291 219,447 207,359

	 Net allocations and write-backs −10,942 92,244 5,356 86,658 12,251 86,658 12,251

	 Utilisation −2,748 0 −2,748 −536

	 Direct write-downs 294 294 218

	� Receipts on written-off  
receivables and capital gains

−5,547 −5,547 −4,980

	 Foreign currency effects −410 0 0 −410 373

As at 31 December −5,253 69,430 220,870 12,647 302,947 219,447 81,404 7,489

Earnings with negative advance signs

Depreciation and Valuation Adjustments 
on Claims and Specific Securities as well as 
Additions to Provisions Made for Lending

The balance shown results from the settlement 
of expenditure and income items shown in the 
profit and loss account items ‘Depreciation and 
valuation adjustments on claims and specific 
securities as well as additions to provisions 
made for lending’ and ‘Income from attribu-
tions to claims and specific securities and the 
dissolution of reserves for lending’.
 
The balance of risk provisioning expenditure is 
comprised as follows:
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Negotiable securities and interests  
In T€

Listed Listed Unlisted Unlisted

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Debentures and other fixed- 
interest securities 6,223,174 3,698,666 0 0

In connection with the coronavirus pandemic, 
a COVID-19 management adjustment of €25.6 
million was included in the lump-sum value 
adjustment and €6.4 million in the reserves.
 
Services Performed for Third Parties
Services performed for third parties include, 
among other things, the preparation of proper-
ty-specific expert opinions within the frame-
work of real estate valuations.
 
Other Information
The net income for the year includes a balance 
of aperiodic income and expenses of €10.3 
million (€9.3 million), which primarily includes 
income from the reversal of other reserves of 
€6.5 million (€7.6 million) - of which €5.3 mil-
lion is attributable to the reversal of reserves for 
legal risks relating to loan processing fees - as 

well as receipts on receivables written off in the 
previous year of €4.2 million (€2.3 million).

Balance Sheet
Securities with a nominal volume of €160.0 mil-
lion (€210.0 million) are evaluated as fixed assets 
since they do not serve as a liquidity reserve and 
are partially used to cover Pfandbriefe issued 
by the Bank. The book value of the securities, 
which stands above their market value of €87.4 
million (€87.9 million), amounts to €90.8 million 
(€90.8 million). Based on the credit ratings, the 
impairment was assessed as non-permanent 
and therefore no depreciation was made. This 
takes into account the valuation results from 
interest swaps which form a valuation unit with 
the securities. The Bank took into account latent 
default risks of the investment securities in the 
form of lump-sum value adjustments.

Security for the Bank’s Own Liabilities 
Within the European System of Central Banks 
(ESCB), securities with a nominal value of 
€8,381.5 million (€2,628.3 million) and loans of 
in the amount of €625.0 million (€0.0 million) 
were pledged as security to the Deutsche 

Bundesbank. The volume of related open 
market transactions at the balance sheet date 
was €8,500.0 million (€1,500.0 million). As at 
the balance sheet date, no debentures were 
repaid (previous year: €906.5 million).

Schedules of Shares Held under Sections 285 Nos. 11 and 11a, 313 (2) German Commercial Code (HGB)

Company Share of capital
Total

%

Voting rights

%

Equity Result Financial statements 
deviating from 

31.12.2020

Affiliated enterprises

Berlin Hyp Immobilien GmbH, Berlin 100 100 185 T€ 145 T€ 31.12.2019

Participations

OnSite ImmoAgent GmbH, Berlin 49.00 49.00 809 T€ −450 T€ 31.12.2019

PropTech 1 Fund I GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 13.57 13.57 10,970 T€ −506 T€ 31.12.2019

BrickVest Ltd., London* 13.75 13.83 1,921 T£ −1,947 T£ 31.12.2017

21st Real Estate GmbH, Berlin 5.35 5.35 3,658 T€ −3,312 T€ 31.12.2019

*	 The company has been under British insolvency administration since 7 November 2019.
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Intangible Investment Assets
This item only shows the software and licences 
used by the Bank as well as payments in 
advance in connection therewith.

 

Statement of 
Changes in Assets
in T€
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Intangible investment assets

b) 	�Concessions and 
licenses acquired 
commercially 51,528 3,830 596 17,209 71,971 41,976 0 6,194 595 0 47,574 24,396 9,552

d)	� Down-payments  
made 21,236 8,813 22 −17,209 12,818 11 0 0 11 0 0 12,818 21,225

Total intangible 
investment assets 72,763 12,644 619 0 84,789 41,987 0 6,194 606 0 47,575 37,214 30,777

Tangible assets

a)	� Sites and buildings for 
own use 62,857 2,089 25,830 0 39,115 18,714 0 11,975 25,830 0 4,859 34,256 44,143

b)	� Operating and business 
equipment and 
installations under 
construction 15,655 6,571 3,818 0 18,408 10,486 0 2,924 3,283 0 10,127 8,281 5,169

Total tangible assets 78,512 8,659 29,648 0 57,523 29,200 0 14,899 29,113 0 14,986 42,537 49,312

Total intangible 
investment assets and 
tangible assets 151,276 21,303 30,267 0 142,312 71,187 0 21,093 29,719 0 62,561 79,751 80,089

Book value Changes* Book value

1.1.2020 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Bonds and debentures 205,792 −49,981 155,811 205,792

Investments 5,716 −2,520 3,196 5,716

Shares in affiliated 
enterprises 26 0 26 26

* Summary pursuant to Section 34 (3) RechKredV

Development of Fixed Assets
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Other assets
 
These figures largely contain claims from 
collateral in relation to derivatives amounting 
to €609.7 million (€396.9 million), paid option 
premiums of €5.9 million (€5.5 million), as well 
as unrealised gains from forward exchange 
deals with extra cover amounting to €6.4 million 
(€5.7 million).
 

Other reserves primarily include reserves for 
strategic resource planning of €28.6 million 
(€32.4 million) and reserves for the lending 
business of €12.6 million (€7.3 million).

Subordinated liabilities
Interest is paid on subordinate liabilities at the 
nominal rate of between 2.55% to 4.23% and is 
only to be reimbursed in the case of the Bank’s 
bankruptcy or liquidation after satisfaction of 
all non-subordinate creditors. Early repayment 
is excluded. Repayments are scheduled for 
the years 2024 to 2034. Based on a stock of 
€227.5 million (€318.2 million), €186.1 million 
(€217.3 million) fulfil the requirements of the 
CRR for recognition as applicable equity capital.
 
2020 financial year, interest paid amounted to 
€4.3 million (€5.6 million).
 

The 10% of the loans and debentures surpass-
ing the total stock was assumed under the 
following conditions:

Nominal 
amount 

T€

Interest rate
p. a. %

Repayment
on

99,500 4.12 04.03.2024

28,000 3.00 16.10.2034

Equity
The subscribed capital of €753.4 million is 
composed of 294,292,672 non-par value bearer 
shares with a rounded nominal value of €2.56.
 
The Board of Management, with the Supervisory 
Board’s consent, is authorised to increase the 
company’s subscribed capital by issuing new 
non-par value shares in return for contributions 
in cash once or several times, but only up to 
€205.8 million (authorised capital 2020), by 
31 May 2025.

Other Liabilities
 
These include, amongst other things, liabilities 
from collateral received in relation to derivatives 
amounting to €323.2 million (€360.9 million), 
received option premiums of €6.9 million 
(€8.3 million) as well as profits of €23.4 million 
(€61.0 million) transferable to Landesbank 
Berlin Holding AG, Berlin.

in T€ 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Reserves for human resources 27,162 22,418

Reserves for litigation costs risks 1,735 2,572

Other 47,354 48,754

Total 76,251 73,744

Other Reserves
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Classification by Remaining Maturity
in T€ 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Assets

Claims against banking institutions

a) 	Due on demand 4,801 5,533

b) 	Less than three months 106,746 131,391

c) 	Between three months and one year 0 124,912

d) 	Between one year and five years 0 0

e) 	More than five years 0 0

	 Total 111,547 261,836

Claims against customers

a)	 Less than three months 237,743 504,441

b)	 Between three months and one year 1,454,686 1,394,863

c)	 Between one year and five years 8,485,486 7,047,560

d)	 More than five years 14,204,945 13,456,414

	 Total 24,382,860 22,403,278

	 of which: claims with an indefinite term 0 679

Bonds and debentures

	 - due in the following year 674,463 174,560

Liabilities

Liabilities to banking institutions

a)	 Due on demand 0 103,370

b)	 Less than three months 306,392 1,726,255

c)	 Between three months and one year 284,001 138,177

d)	 Between one year and five years 8,651,905 1,786,918

e)	 More than five years 215,436 271,828

	 Total 9,457,734 4,026,548

	 of which: non-preferred antecedent debt* 303,296 360,693

Liabilities to customers

a)	 Due on demand 287,549 379,632

b)	 Less than three months 278,151 295,910

c)	 Between three months and one year 793,500 281,200

d)	 Between one year and five years 464,875 606,262

e)	 More than five years 2,652,411 2,761,616

	 Total 4,476,486 4,324,620

	 of which: non-preferred antecedent debt* 1,449,531 1,531,624

Securitised liabilities

a)	 Less than three months 555,102 646,455

b)	 Between three months and one year 2,558,500 1,136,096

c)	 Between one year and five years 8,705,958 8,905,000

d)	 More than five years 5,261,220 5,465,000

	 Total 17,080,780 16,152,551

	 of which: non-preferred antecedent debt* 3,150,570 3,430,699

	 - due in the following year 3,113,602 1,782,551

* These are debt instruments as defined in Section 46 f (6) Sentence 1 Banking Act in the version dated 10 July 2018.
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Claims from and Liabilities to Affiliated Enterprises and 
Related Companies
in T€

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Affiliated enterprises
Claims against banking institutions 4,157 4,487

Claims against customers 32,239 0

Other assets 24 31

Liabilities to banking institutions 2 10,311

Liabilities to customers 528 580

Securitised liabilities 0 0

Other Liabilities 23,404 65,962

Subordinated liabilities 0 60,011

Deferred income
in T€ 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Deferred income from issuing and  
lending operations includes:
	 Discount from issuing and lending operations 34,960 44,218

	 Premium from issuing and lending operations 9,786 13,887

	 Other 57,720 77,409

102,467 135,514

Prepaid expenses for issuing and  
lending operations include:
	 Premium from issuing and lending operations 35,263 24,057

	 Loss from lending operations 364 593

	 Other 78,836 97,334

114,462 121,984

Deferred income recognised under ‘Other’ 
includes accrued up-front payments and 
premium payments from caps, floors and collars 
of €46.3 million (€62.1 million), which resulted 
from the transfer of customer derivatives from 
Landesbank Berlin AG, Berlin, to Berlin Hyp 

(portfolio transfer) in 2015. Prepaid expenses 
recognised under ‘Other’ particularly include 
accrued up-front payments and premium pay-
ments from hedging derivatives concluded that 
mirror the customer derivatives.

Foreign Currency Volumes
in T€ 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Assets 206,433 335,655 

Liabilities 212,283 461,564 

Irrevocable loan commitments 0 0

Price risks are predominantly neu-
tralised through fixed-term deposits, 
currency futures and currency swaps.
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Information Pursuant to Section 285 German 
Commercial Code (HGB) Regarding Obliga-
tions Arising from Transactions and Financial 
Obligations Not Included in the Balance Sheet

Irrevocable lending commitments as part of real 
estate and capital market business amounted 
to €3,006.0 million (€2,958.7 million) as at the 
end of the year. Contingent liabilities consist 
of the assumption of guarantees for largely 
mortgage-backed loans of €184.0 million 
(€258.9 million). Identifiable risks have already 
been taken into account through reserves. With 
regard to credit ratings and collateralisation, no 
acute default risks in the contingent liabilities 
can be identified.
 
Berlin Hyp has concluded rental and leasing 
agreements for buildings used for banking 
operations as well as for the vehicle fleet and 
certain operating and business equipment. 
No significant risks with an impact on the 
assessment of the Bank’s financial position 

arise from these agreements. All contracts 
concluded by the Bank in this form are within 
the normal scope of business, even when taking 
into account the higher rental costs for interim 
offices in connection with the construction of 
the main building, both individually and in total.
 
Berlin Hyp is an affiliated member of the secu-
rity reserve of the Landesbanken and central 
savings banks (Girozentralen) and therefore 
also a member of the guarantee system of the 
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe, which is recog-
nised under the German Deposit Protection 
Act (EinSG). Berlin Hyp’s annual contributions 
are calculated according to the amount of its 
covered deposits. In the event of compensa-
tion or support being reported by a member 
institution, one-off or additional payments can 
be levied; however, the amount of the payments 
is also calculated according to the amount of 
Berlin Hyp’s covered deposits and is therefore 
not currently foreseeable.

Statement of 
changes in 
derivatives 
in € m

Nominal amount /  
Remaining term

up to
1 year

1 to
5 years

over
5 years

Total  
nominal 

value

Total 
negative 

values 

Total
positive

values

Total 
negative

book 
values

(liabilities)

Balance 
sheet items  
(liabilities)

Total 
positive 

book 
values 

(assets)

Balance 
sheet items 

(assets)

Interest-related 
transactions
Interest rate swaps
	� of which in 

valuation units

2,642
246

16,733
1.344

19,973
3,064

39,348
4,654

−1,181
−212

1,234
3

−62
0

P6 56
0

A15

Swaptions 1,200 500 200 1,900 −3 3 −7 P5 6 A14

Securities futures 30 0 0 30 −53 0 0 0

Caps 242 1,985 181 2,408 −1 0 −4 P6 2 A15

Floors 1,000 3,892 177 5,069 −14 1 −5 P6 0 A15

5,114 23,110 20,531 48,755 −1,252 1,238 −78 64

Currency-related 
transactions
Currency futures 168 0 0 168 −3 0 −3 A14 0 A14

Interest and currency 
swaps

47 67 116 230 0 10 0 A14 10 A14

215 67 116 398 −3 10 −3 10

Total 5,329 23,177 20,647 49,153 −1,255 1,248 −81 74

Derivatives as at 31.12.2019
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Completed business transactions largely serve 
to hedge interest and exchange rate risks of 
financial underlying transactions. The market 
values of the derivative financial instruments are 
shown on the basis of the interest rate applica-
ble on 31 December 2020 without taking into 
account interest accruals. The market values of 
the derivatives are counteracted by the valuation 
advantages of the balance sheet operations not 

assessed at market price. All derivatives - with 
the exception of customer derivatives and trans-
actions with Landesbank Berlin - are hedged 
using collateral agreements. No collateral agree-
ments are used in transactions with Landesbank 
Berlin due to the group affiliation. In the case 
of customer derivatives, land charges pledged 
in relation to the underlying loans also apply as 
collateral for the derivative transaction.

Statement of 
changes  
in derivatives 
in € m

Nominal amount /  
Remaining term

up to
1 year

1 to
5 years

over
5 years

Total  
nominal 

value

Total 
negative 

values 

Total
positive

values

Total 
negative

book 
values

(liabilities)

Balance 
sheet items  
(liabilities)

Total 
positive 

book 
values 

(assets)

Balance 
sheet items 

(assets)

Interest-related 
transactions
Interest rate swaps
	� of which in 

valuation units

3,705
86

23,958
1,328

24,177
2,051

51,840
3,465

−1,120
−168

1,323
8

−79
0

P6 74
0

A15

Swaptions 1,275 1,500 0 2,775 −10 8 −8 P5 5 A14

Caps 491 1,577 150 2,218 −1 1 −4 P6 3 A15

Floors 1,000 4,123 627 5,750 −7 1 −4 P6 1 A15

6,471 31,158 24,954 62,583 −1,138 1,333 −95 83

Currency-related 
transactions
Currency futures 495 0 0 495 −5 0 −5 A14 0 A14

Interest and currency 
swaps

0 199 0 199 0 11 0 11

495 199 0 694 −5 11 −5 11

Total 6,966 31,357 24,954 63,277 −1,143 1,344 −100 94

Derivatives as at 31.12.2019

Annual average Male Female 2020
Total

2019
Total

Full-time employees 274 177 451 450

Part-time employees 23 121 144 144

School-leaver trainees /  
BA students

4 1 5 7

Total 301 299 600 601

Number of Staff
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Group Affiliation
Berlin Hyp is a subsidiary of Landesbank Berlin 
Holding AG and is included in the consolidated 
annual accounts of Erwerbsgesellschaft der 
S-Finanzgruppe mbH &Co.KG (smallest and 
largest consolidation group as defined in 
Section 285 Nos. 14, 14a German Commercial 
Code (HGB)). Berlin Hyp and Landesbank Berlin 
Holding AG have a profit and loss transfer 
agreement and constitute a tax unity for sales 
and income tax purposes. The consolidated 
annual accounts of the acquiring company will 
be published in the electronic Federal Gazette.
 
Information on a Reported Holding (Section 
160 (1) No. 8 German Stock Corporation Act 
(AktG))
In a letter dated 7 January 2015, Landesbank 
Berlin Holding AG, Berlin, announced that it 
directly holds all shares in Berlin Hyp AG – fol-

lowing the transfer of Berlin Hyp from Landes-
bank Berlin AG to Landesbank Berlin Holding 
AG as at 31 December 2014/1 January 2015. 
Its share in the voting rights of the Bank’s sub-
scribed capital therefore amounted to 100.00% 
as at the balance sheet date.
 
Letter of Comfort of Landesbank Berlin AG
The letter of comfort issued by Landesbank 
Berlin AG in favour of Berlin Hyp ended as at 
31 December 2014. The guarantee remains in 
force for the obligation entered into until 31 
December 2014.
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Organs of Berlin Hyp

Board of Management
Sascha Klaus 
Chair of the Board of Management
Gero Bergmann 
Chief Market Officer (until 31 December 2020)
Alexander Stuwe 
Chief Financial Officer (since 1 July 2020)

Chief Representatives
Alexander Stuwe, Chief Representative
Mr Stuwe was Chief Representative until his 
appointment to the Board of Management came 
into effect on 1 July 2020.

Supervisory Board
Helmut Schleweis

	�President of the Deutscher Sparkassen- und 
Giroverband e.V. (German Savings Banks and 
Giro Association)
	�Chair​

 
Jana Pabst

	�Deputy Chair
	�Bank employee
	�Employee representative
	� ​Member of the Works Council of Berlin Hyp AG

Joachim Fechteler
	�Bank employee (until 31 December 2019)
	� ​Employee representative

Bernd Fröhlich
	� ​Chairman of the Board of Management of 
Sparkasse Mainfranken Würzburg

Gerhard Grandke
	�Managing President of the Sparkassen- und 
Giroverband Hessen-Thüringen

Artur Grzesiek (until 27 May 2020)
	�Former Chairman of the Board of 
Management of Sparkasse KölnBonn

Dr. Harald Langenfeld
	� ​Chairman of the Board of Management of 
Stadt- und Kreissparkasse Leipzig

Thomas Mang
	�President of the Sparkassenverband Nieder-
sachsen (Savings Banks Association of Lower 
Saxony)

Thomas Meister
	�Bank employee
	� ​Employee representative
	� ​Chair of the Works Council of Berlin Hyp AG

Siegmar Müller
	�Chair of the Board of Management of Spar-
kasse Germersheim-Kandel
	� ​Landesobmann of the Rhineland-Palati-
nate Savings Banks Board of Management 
Members

Reinhard Sager
	�President of the Deutscher Landkreistag 
(German County Councils)
	� ​County Council Chairman of East Holstein 
District

Andrea Schlenzig 
	�Bank employee
	� ​Employee representative

Peter Schneider
	�President of the Sparkassenverband 
Baden-Württemberg

Walter Strohmaier
	� ​Chairman of the Board of Management of 
Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
	� ​Bundesobmann of the German Saving Banks

Ulrich Voigt (since 27 May 2020)
	�Chairman of the Board of Management of 
Sparkasse Cologne-Bonn

René Wulff
	� ​Bank employee (until 31 August 2019)
	� ​Employee representative
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Loans to Members of the Bodies
As in the previous year, there were no loans 
receivable from members of bodies.

Benefits of the Board Members
Remuneration for the Board of Management

Remuneration for the Supervisory Board
The remuneration payable to the members of 
the Supervisory Board for the 2020 financial 
year, including committee activity, amounts to 
T€369 (T€370), including VAT.

Major Mandates of the Board of Management 
Members

Sascha Klaus
��​Member of the Board of Management of 

Landesbank Berlin Holding AG, Berlin
​��​Member of the Board of Management of vdp - 

Verband Deutscher Pfandbriefbanken e.V.

Gero Bergmann (until 31 December 2020)
�​No mandates requiring disclosure

Alexander Stuwe (since 1 July 2020)
��Member of the Board of Management of 

Landesbank Berlin Holding AG, Berlin 
� 
No legal representatives or employees had man-
dates in statutory supervisory boards of large 
corporations (with the exception of employees’ 
representatives in Berlin Hyp’s Supervisory 
Board) in the 2020 financial year.

* ���The negative value in the 2020 financial year is based on personnel changes in the Board of Management and 
the corresponding adjustment of the reserve for pension liabilities.

Disclosures on total remuneration (in €T) 2020
Total

2019
Total

Board of Management 1,347 3,794

	 �of which expended or deferred in the financial year for 
pension liabilities

−307* 1,790

Former members of the Board of Management and  
their surviving dependants

3,121 2,817

Cash value of pension liabilities for former members of the 
Board of Management and their surviving dependants (in €T)

42,550 37,525

	 of which is reserved 42,550 37,525
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Statement of Cover Assets 
in € m

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

A.	 Mortgage Pfandbriefe

Ordinary cover

1.	 Claims against banking institutions

	 Mortgage loans 0.0 0.0

2.	 Claims against customers

	 Mortgage loans 14,468.2 13,578.7

3.	 Tangible assets (land charges on Bank-owned real estate) 0.0 0.0

Total 14,468.2 13,578.7

Additional cover

1.	 Other claims against banking institutions 655.0 125.0

2.	 Debentures and other fixed-interest securities 73.0 536.5

Total 728.0 661.5

Total cover 15,196.2 14,240.2

Total mortgage Pfandbriefe requiring cover 14,838.7 13,784.5

Excess cover 357.5 455.7

B. 	Public Pfandbriefe

Ordinary cover

1.	 Claims against banking institutions

	 a) Mortgage loans 0.0 0.0

	 b) Public-sector loans 0.0 0.0

2.	 Claims against customers

	 a) Mortgage loans 14.5 16.8

	 b) Public-sector loans 251.8 408.0

3.	 Debentures and other fixed-interest securities 9.0 15.0

Total 275.3 439.8

Additional cover

1.	 Other claims against banking institutions 0.0 0.0

2.	 Debentures and other fixed-interest securities 0.0 26.5

Total 0.0 26.5

Total cover 275.3 466.3

Total public Pfandbriefe requiring cover 260.0 452.0

Excess cover 15.2 14.3

103



Board of Management and Supervisory Board  Management Report  Annual Financial Statements  Declaration by the members  Service

Information pursuant to Section 28 of the German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG)

Section 28 (1) Nos. 1 to 3 of the PfandBG 

b) ��Public Pfandbriefe Outstanding  
and Cover Used Nominal Present value Risk-adjusted present value*

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Public Pfandbriefe 260.0 452.0 339.4 543.1 320.8 521.5

	 of which: derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cover funds 275.3 466.3 426.5 668.6 383.7 608.7

	 of which: derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Excess cover 15.2 14.3 87.1 125.5 62.9 87.3

Surplus cover pursuant to vdp differentiation model 15.2 14.3 87.1 125.5 - -

On a) Maturity Structure  
	 (Remaining Term) Mortgage Pfandbriefe Cover funds

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Up to 6 months 564.5 275.5 1,263.1 705.6

Between 6 and 12 months 1,995.8 947.0 533.8 680.6

Between 12 and 18 months 565.0 564.0 581.1 452.1

Between 18 months and 2 years 1,549.7 2,005.0 687.7 506.9

Between 2 and 3 years 2,088.3 2,391.0 1,773.7 1,392.3

Between 3 and 4 years 1,673.0 2,091.0 2,067.4 1,889.6

Between 4 and 5 years 2,191.0 1,673.0 1,156.0 1,930.8

Between 5 and 10 years 3,485.0 2,982.0 6,574.6 5,990.8

Longer than 10 years 726.4 855.9 558.8 691.4

*	 For the calculation of the stress scenarios, the static amount reported is taken for currencies and the dynamic amount reported is taken for interest.

a) �Mortgage Pfandbriefe Outstanding and 
Cover Used

Nominal Present value Risk-adjusted present value*

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 14,838.7 13,784.5 16,097.7 14,803.7 17,045.5 15,667.3

	 of which: derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cover funds 15,196.2 14,240.2 16,713.9 15,576.2 17,475.3 16,278.9

	 of which: derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Excess cover 357.5 455.7 616.1 772.5 429.8 611.7

Surplus cover pursuant to vdp differentiation model 357.5 455.7 616.1 772.5 - -

* For the calculation of the stress scenarios, the static amount reported is taken for currencies and the dynamic amount reported is taken for interest.

Amounts in € m
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On b) Maturity Structure 
	 (Remaining Term) Public Pfandbriefe Cover funds

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Up to 6 months 25.0 190.0 2.3 10.0
Between 6 and 12 months 25.0 0.0 1.1 0.5

Between 12 and 18 months 10.0 25.0 0.4 2.3
Between 18 months and 2 years 0.0 25.0 0.3 9.1
Between 2 and 3 years 9.0 10.0 0.7 0.7
Between 3 and 4 years 10.0 9.0 0.8 61.2
Between 4 and 5 years 35.0 10.0 3.6 0.8
Between 5 and 4 years 96.0 133.0 106.9 186.6
Longer than 10 years 50.0 50.0 159.1 195.2

Section 28 (1) Nos. 4 to 11 German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG)

Section 28 (1) Nos. 4 to 6 Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG) (Mortgage Pfandbriefe)
Additional Cover for Mortgage Pfandbriefe

Section 28 (1) No. 4 of the PfandBG
(Mortgage Pfandbriefe)

Equalisation claims pursuant to Section 19 (1) 
No. 1 German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG)

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 0.0

Section 28 (1) No. 5  
of the PfandBG (Mort-
gage Pfandbriefe)

Receivables as defined in Section 19 
(1) No.2 PfandBG

Of which covered debentures as defined 
under Article 129 Regulation (EU) 

No. 575/2013

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Germany 679.0 256.0 0.0 60.0

Finland 0.0 10.0 0.0 0.0

Canada 49.0 117.0 0.0 88.0

Norway 0.0 15.0 0.0 0.0

Sweden 0.0 16.5 0.0 16.5

Total 728.0 414.5 0.0 164.5

Section 28 (1) No. 6 of the PfandBG
(Mortgage Pfandbriefe)

Receivables as defined in Section 19 
(1) No. 3 PfandBG

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Germany 0.0 193.0

Austria 0.0 30.0

Poland 0.0 24.0

Total 0.0 247.0

Section 28 (1) Nos. 4 to 6 of the PfandBG 
(Mortgage Pfandbriefe) Total amount of the additional  

cover for Mortgage Pfandbriefe

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 728.0 661.5
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Section 28 (1) Nos. 4 and 5 PfandBG (regarding public Pfandbriefe)
Additional Cover for Public Pfandbriefe

Section 28 (1) No. 4 PfandBG  
(Public Pfandbriefe)

Equalisation claims pursuant to
Section 20 (2) No. 1 PfandBG

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 0.0

Section 28 (1) Nos. 4 and 5 PfandBG
(Public Pfandbriefe)

Total amount 
Additional cover for public  

Pfandbriefe

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 26.5

Section 28 (1) No. 5 
PfandBG  
(Public Pfandbriefe)

Claims as defined in Section 20 (2) 
No. 2 PfandBG

Of which covered debentures as defined 
under Article 129 Regulation (EU)

No. 575/2013

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Germany 0.0 8.0 0.0 0.0

Denmark 0.0 2.5 0.0 0.0

Canada 0.0 16.0 0.0 0.0

Total 0.0 26.5 0.0 0.0

Amounts in € m

Section 28 (1) Nos. 7 to 11 PfandBG
Other Disclosures on the Cover Funds
and on the Pfandbriefe Outstanding

Section 28 (1) No. 7 PfandBG  
(Mortgage Pfandbriefe) Total claims exceeding the threshold 

defined under Section 13 (1) PfandBG

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 0.0

Section 28 (1) No. 8 PfandBG
(regarding mortgage Pfandbriefe)

Total claims exceeding  
the percentages pursuant to  
Section 19 (1) No. 2 PfandBG

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 0.0
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Section 28 (1)
No. 9 PfandBG
(regarding mortgage 
Pfandbriefe)

Percentage share of
fixed-interest cover funds in terms of 

cover assets

Percentage share of fixed-interest 
Pfandbriefe in terms of liabilities to be 

covered

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

In % 73.4 69.3 80.4 85.3

Section 28 (1) No. 10 PfandBG
(regarding mortgage Pfandbriefe)

Net cash value pursuant to Section
6 of the Pfandbrief Net Cash Value

Regulations for each foreign currency

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

CHF 39.9 39.2

GBP 104.5 207.0

Section 28 (1) No. 8 PfandBG 
(regarding mortgage Pfandbriefe)

Total claims exceeding  
the percentages pursuant to  
Section 19 (1) No. 3 PfandBG

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 0.0

Section 28 (1)
No. 11 PfandBG For mortgage cover: volume-weighted 

average of the elapsed term since 
lending

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

In years 3.8 4.0

Section 28 (1) No. 8 PfandBG
(regarding public Pfandbriefe)

Total claims
exceeding the percentages pursuant 

to Section 20 (2) No. 2 PfandBG

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total 0.0 0.0

Section 28 (1)
No. 9 PfandBG  
(regarding public 
Pfandbriefe)

Percentage share of 
fixed-interest cover funds in terms 

of cover assets

Percentage share of
fixed-interest Pfandbriefe

in terms of liabilities to be covered

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

In % 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
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Cover Mortgages 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Up to and including € 300,000 33.5 42.9

From € 300,000 up to and including € 1 million 98.9 109.7

From € 1 million up to and including € 10 million 2,427.1 2,463.5

More than € 10 million 11,908.8 10,962.6

Total 14,468.2 13,578.7

Section 28 (2) Nos. 1 to 3 German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG)

Section 28 (2) No. 1 a German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG)  
Claims Used as Cover for Mortgage Pfandbriefe Classified 
According to Size *

* Without further cover pursuant to Section 19 (1) PfandBG.

Section 28 (1) No. 10 PfandBG  
(regarding public Pfandbriefe)

Net present value pursuant to Section 6 
Pfandbrief Net Present Value Regulations for 

each foreign currency

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

– – – 0.0 0.0

Amounts in € m

Cover Figures - overall 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 19.1 18.4

Single- and two-family houses 88.3 89.4

Residential buildings for several families 4,435.3 4,096.9

Office buildings 5,452.4 4,921.5

Retail buildings 2,982.6 2,905.4

Industrial buildings 134.8 123.6

Other commercially used buildings 1,252.6 1,281.6

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 96.6 0.0 108.6 0.0

Building sites 2.2 4.3 27.0 6.4

Total 9,921.2 4,547.0 9,367.7 4,211.1

Section 28 (2) No. 1 b and c German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG)  
Claims Used as Cover for Mortgage Pfandbriefe Classified 
According to Areas in which the Mortgaged Property is 
Allocated and Type of Use*
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* Without further cover pursuant to Section 19 (1) PfandBG

Federal Republic of Germany 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 18.9 18.1

Single- and two-family houses 10.6 11.8

Residential buildings for several families 4,170.8 3,896.0

Office buildings 2,661.3 2,276.3

Retail buildings 1,812.2 1,836.4

Industrial buildings 105.9 94.7

Other commercially used buildings 925.2 954.5

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 96.6 0.0 108.6 0.0

Building sites 2.2 4.3 27.0 6.4

Total 5,603.3 4,204.6 5,297.4 3,932.3

Belgium 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 0.0 0.0 

Single- and two-family houses 0.0 0.0 

Residential buildings for several families 0.0 0.0 

Office buildings 137.1 152.6

Retail buildings 0.0 0.0 

Industrial buildings 0.0 0.0 

Other commercially used buildings 0.0 0.0 

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Building sites 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 137.1 0.0 152.6 0.0 

France 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 0.0 0.0 

Single- and two-family houses 0.0 0.0 

Residential buildings for several families 0.0 0.0 

Office buildings 918.1 818.8

Retail buildings 361.6 295.6

Industrial buildings 0.0 0.0

Other commercially used buildings 53.4 54.5

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Building sites 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 1,333.1 0.0 1,168.9 0.0 
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Great Britain 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 0.0 0.0 

Single- and two-family houses 0.0 0.0 

Residential buildings for several families 0.0 0.0 

Office buildings 68.9 166.1

Retail buildings 31.4 33.1

Industrial buildings 0.0 0.0

Other commercially used buildings 0.0 0.0

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Building sites 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 100.3 0.0 199.2 0.0 

The Netherlands 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 0.2 0.2

Single- and two-family houses 77.7 77.7

Residential buildings for several families 264.5 200.9

Office buildings 1,023.4 909.6

Retail buildings 430.0 361.9

Industrial buildings 28.9 28.9

Other commercially used buildings 207.0 205.5

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Building sites 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 1,689.3 342.4 1,506.0 278.8

Amounts in € m

Poland 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 0.0 0.0 

Single- and two-family houses 0.0 0.0 

Residential buildings for several families 0.0 0.0 

Office buildings 467.8 422.4

Retail buildings 260.6 291.0

Industrial buildings 0.0 0.0

Other commercially used buildings 67.1 67.1

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Building sites 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 795.4 0.0 780.5 0.0 
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Czech Republic 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

Flats 0.0 0.0 

Single- and two-family houses 0.0 0.0 

Residential buildings for several families 0.0 0.0 

Office buildings 175.7 175.7

Retail buildings 87.0 87.3

Industrial buildings 0.0 0.0

Other commercially used buildings 0.0 0.0

Unfinished, as yet unprofitable new buildings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Building sites 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 262.7 0.0 263.0 0.0 

Section 28 (2) No. 2 German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG) 
Payments in Arrears on Receivables Used as Cover for 
Mortgage Pfandbriefe

Section 28 (2) No. 3 PfandBG
Average weighted loan-to-value ratio

Total amount of payments in arrears  
for at least 90 days

Total claims,
where the respective arrears amount

to at least 5 % of the claim

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Germany 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Amounts in %

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Average weighted loan-to-value ratio
(based on the respective loan values) 56.2 56.0

Cover
31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Up to and including € 10 million 11.1 2.2

From € 10 million up to and including € 100 million 264.2 336.5

More than € 100 million 0.0 101.1

Total 275.3 439.8

Section 28 (3) Nos. 1 to 3 PfandBG

Section 28 (3) No. 1 PfandBG
Claims Used as Cover for Public Pfandbriefe
Classified According to Size *

Amounts in € m
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Section 28 (3) No. 2 PfandBG
Claims Used as Collateral for Public Pfand-
briefe Classified According to Country and 
Type of Debtor or Guarantor *

Total Cover 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Direct receivables Warranties Direct receivables Warranties

Central government 59.0 0.0 65.0 0.0

Regional authorities 201.1 14.9 357.3 17.3

Local authorities 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3

Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total (direct claims and warranties) 275.3 439.8

Warranties included in this amount for reasons of export promotion 0.0 0.0

Federal Republic of Germany 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Direct receivables Warranties Direct receivables Warranties

Central government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Regional authorities 201.1 14.9 357.3 17.3

Local authorities 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3

Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total (direct claims and warranties) 216.3 374.9

Warranties included in this amount for reasons of export promotion 0.0 0.0

* Without further cover pursuant to Section 20 (2) German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG).

Austria 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Direct receivables Warranties Direct receivables Warranties

Federal government 59.0 0.0 65.0 0.0

Regional authorities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Local authorities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total (direct claims and warranties) 59.0 65.0

Included herein: warranties for reasons of export promotion 0.0 0.0

Amounts in € m
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Section 28 (3) No. 3 PfandBG
Payments in Arrears on Claims Used as 
Cover for Public Pfandbriefe

Amounts in € m Total amount of payments
in arrears for at least 90 days

Total claims,
where the respective arrears amount

to at least 5 % of the receivable

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Central government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Regional authorities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Local authorities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Number 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

No. 4a Pending foreclosures 1 0 2 1

		  Pending administrative receiverships 1 0 1 0

		  �    Of which included 
in the pending foreclosures

1 0 1 0

		  Foreclosures carried out 0 0 0 0

No. 4b Cases in which property has been
		  seized to prevent losses

0 0 0 0

Amounts in € m 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Commercial Residential Commercial Residential

No. 4c Total interest on arrears 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 

Section 28 (2) No. 4 PfandBG

Section 28 (2) No. 4 a to c German Pfandbrief Act 
(PfandBG) Information on Foreclosures and Adminis-
trative Receivership Proceedings, Overdue Interest and 
Repayments of Mortgage Loans

Berlin, 23 February 2021
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Independent Auditor's Report

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB 
[Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial 
Code], we declare that our audit has not led to 
any reservations relating to the legal compli-
ance of the annual financial statements and of 
the management report.

Basis for the Opinions
We conducted our audit of the annual financial 
statements and of the management report 
in accordance with Section 317 HGB and EU 
Audit Regulation No. 537/2014 (referred to 
subsequently as 'EU Audit Regulation') and in 
compliance with German Generally Accepted 
Standards for Financial Statement Audits prom-
ulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). 
Our responsibilities under those requirements 
and principles are further described in the 
“Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Annual Financial Statements and of the 
Management Report” section of our auditor's 
report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the requirements of European 
law and German commercial and professional 
law, and we have fulfilled our other German 
professional responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. In addition, in accordance 
with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Reg-
ulation, we declare that we have not provided 
non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 
(1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that 
the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions 
on the annual financial statements and on the 
management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Annual 
Financial Statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, 
in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the annual financial 
statements for the financial year from January 
1 to December 31, 2020. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the 
annual financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.

Adequacy of specific valuation allowances 
formed for claims against customers in com-
mercial real estate financing.

To Berlin Hyp AG, Berlin 

Report on the Audit of the Annual Financial 
Statements and of the Management Report

Opinions
We have audited the annual financial statements 
of Berlin Hyp AG, Berlin, which comprise the bal-
ance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the state-
ment of profit and loss, the statement of cash 
flows and the statement of changes in equity for 
the financial year from January 1 to December 
31, 2020, and notes to the financial statements, 
including the recognition and measurement 
policies presented therein. In addition, we have 
audited the management report of Berlin Hyp 
AG, Berlin, for the financial year from January 1 
to December 31 2020.

In accordance with the German legal require-
ments, we have not audited the content of 
those components of the management report 
specified in the appendix to the independent 
auditor's report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge 
obtained in the audit,

�the accompanying annual financial state-
ments comply, in all material respects, with 
the requirements of German commercial law 
applicable to financial institutions and give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the Company as 
of December 31, 2020 and of its financial 
performance for the financial year from Jan-
uary 1 to December 31, 2020, in accordance 
with German legally required accounting 
principles, and

�the accompanying management report as a 
whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Company's position. In all material respects, 
this management report is consistent with 
the annual financial statements, complies 
with German legal requirements and appro-
priately presents the opportunities and risks 
of future development. Our opinion regard-
ing the management report does not extend 
to the substance of the elements of the man-
agement report mentioned in the appendix 
to the independent auditor's report.
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and the related counterparty default risks. 
To identify particular risk characteristics, we 
conducted an IT-based analysis of the entire 
loan portfolio according to the various product 
types and with respect to the presence of 
early warning indicators pointing to increased 
default risk.

Within the scope of control-based audit proce-
dures, we conducted surveys, gained insight 
into the procedural and process documentation 
and assessed the design, implementation and 
effectiveness of relevant controls established 
by Berlin Hyp AG to ensure the adequacy of 
specific valuation allowances for commercial 
real estate financing. With the involvement of 
our IT experts, we verified the effectiveness of 
the general IT controls as well as automated 
process controls for the IT systems deployed.

We audited a representative sample of 
commercial real estate financing to determine 
whether the ratings and collateral values 
were appropriately recorded in the financial 
reporting system.

We examined the appropriateness of the 
calculated specific valuation allowances for 
commercial real estate financing using delib-
erate sampling of individual exposures from 
the perspective of materiality and risk. In this 
regard, we evaluated especially the estimates 
of expected cash flows from the borrower's 
debt servicing capacity as well as the anticipated 
attainable collateral values, in particular with 
regard to appropriate consideration of the 
future development of the respective real 
estate markets, especially the rent of the 
financed properties as well as the anticipated 
attainable collateral values, also taking the 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic into account.

OUR OBSERVATIONS
The underlying approach for the determination 
of specific valuation allowances formed for 
claims against customers in commercial real 
estate financing is appropriate and in line with 
the accounting policies. The Bank has made 
appropriate assumptions regarding borrowers' 
capacity to repay principal and interest and the 
amount of cash flows from the use of collateral.

Please refer to the section “Accounting 
policies” in the notes to the financial state-
ments for information on the accounting 
policies of Berlin Hyp AG.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK 
Under claims against customers, the Company 
records, among other things, mortgage loans 
in the amount of EUR 23.9 billion, which relate 
to commercial real estate financing and which 
constitute the focus of the Company's lending 
activities.

Determining the amount of specific valuation 
allowances for commercial real estate financing 
requires judgements and estimates of expected 
amounts and dates of borrower payments 
and/or the use of loan collateral provided. The 
cash flows are estimated taking into account 
the expected development of key value-deter-
mining assumptions and parameters. These 
include, in particular, the future development 
of rental income from the financed properties 
as well as the expected recoverable value of the 
collateral. These estimates are subject to con-
siderable uncertainty, which can be amplified 
by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Inaccurate assumptions regarding the amounts 
and dates of borrower payments or the use of 
the loan collateral provided result in the claims 
being inaccurately measured and thus the 
counterparty default risks not being adequately 
taken into account. In this context, it was of 
particular significance with respect to our audit 
that specific valuation allowances were recog-
nized in the necessary and sufficient amount 
and that appropriate assumptions were made 
when determining specific valuation allow-
ances with regard to the borrowers' capacity to 
repay principal and interest and regarding the 
amount of revenue generated from the use of 
loan collateral.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH 
Based on our risk assessment and evaluation 
of the risks of material misstatement, we used 
both control-based and substantive audit 
procedures for our audit opinion.

In a first step, we gained a better understand-
ing of the performance of the loan portfolio 
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concern. They also have the responsibility for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern. In addition, they are responsi-
ble for financial reporting based on the going 
concern basis of accounting, provided no actual 
or legal circumstances conflict therewith.

Furthermore, management is responsible 
for preparing a management report that as 
a whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Company's position and is, in all material 
respects, consistent with the annual financial 
statements, complies with German legal 
requirements, and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. 
In addition, management is responsible for 
such arrangements and measures (systems) 
as they have considered necessary to enable 
the preparation of a management report that 
is in accordance with the applicable German 
legal requirements, and to be able to provide 
sufficient appropriate evidence for the asser-
tions in the management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for 
overseeing the Company's financial reporting 
process for the preparation of the annual finan-
cial statements and of the management report.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Annual Financial Statements and of the 
Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the annual financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and whether the management report as a 
whole provides an appropriate view of the Com-
pany's position and, in all material respects, is 
consistent with the annual financial statements 
and the knowledge obtained in the audit, com-
plies with the German legal requirements and 
appropriately presents the opportunities and 
risks of future development, as well as to issue 
an auditor's report that includes our opinions 
on the annual financial statements and on the 
management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB 
and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance 
with German Generally Accepted Standards for 
Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always 
detect a material misstatement. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises 
the components of the management report 
specified in the appendix to the independent 
auditor's report, whose content was not audited.

Other information also includes the annual 
report that is expected to be made available 
to us after the date of this independent 
auditor's report.

The other information does not include the 
annual financial statements, the management 
report information audited for content and our 
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinions on the annual financial statements 
and on the management report do not cover 
the other information, and consequently we 
do not express an opinion or any other form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in so doing, 
to consider whether the other information

�is materially inconsistent with the annual 
financial statements, with the management 
report information audited for content or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or

�otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and the 
Supervisory Board for the Annual Financial
Statements and the Management Report
Management is responsible for the preparation 
of the annual financial statements that comply, 
in all material respects, with the requirements 
of German commercial law applicable to finan-
cial institutions, and that the annual financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and finan-
cial performance of the Company in compliance 
with German legally required accounting prin-
ciples. In addition, management is responsible 
for such internal control as they, in accordance 
with German legally required accounting princi-
ples, have determined necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing 
the Company's ability to continue as a going 
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whether the annual financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that the annual financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and 
financial performance of the Company in 
compliance with German legally required 
accounting principles.

�Evaluate the consistency of the management 
report with the annual financial statements, 
its conformity with [German] law, and the 
view of the Company's position it provides.

�Perform audit procedures on the prospective 
information presented by management 
in the management report. On the basis 
of sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
we evaluate, in particular, the significant 
assumptions used by management as 
a basis for the prospective information, 
and evaluate the proper derivation of the 
prospective information from these assump-
tions. We do not express a separate opinion 
on the prospective information and on the 
assumptions used as a basis. There is a sub-
stantial unavoidable risk that future events 
will differ materially from the prospective 
information.

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with govern-
ance with a statement that we have complied 
with the relevant independence requirements, 
and communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the annual financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our audi-
tor's report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter. 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these annual financial statements and 
this management report.

We exercise professional judgment and main-
tain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

�Identify and assess the risks of material mis-
statement of the annual financial statements 
and of the management report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls.

�Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit of the annual finan-
cial statements and of arrangements and 
measures (systems) relevant to the audit of 
the management report in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of these systems.

�Evaluate the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used by management and 
the reasonableness of estimates made by 
management and related disclosures.

�Conclude on the appropriateness of man-
agement's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in the 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in 
the annual financial statements and in the 
management report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our respective 
opinions. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to be able to continue as a going concern.

�Evaluate the overall presentation, struc-
ture and content of the annual financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and 
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Financial Statements and Management Reports 
Prepared for Publication Purposes (ED IDW 
AsS 410). Accordingly, our responsibilities are 
further described below. Our audit firm has 
applied the IDW Standard on Quality Manage-
ment 1: Requirements for Quality Management 
in Audit Firms (IDW QS 1).

The Company's management is responsible 
for creating the ESEF documents with the 
electronic reproductions of the annual financial 
statements and the management report pursu-
ant to Section 328(1) sentence 4 item 1 HGB.

The Company’s management is also 
responsible for the submission of the ESEF 
documents together with the auditor’s report 
and the attached audited annual financial 
statements and audited management report 
as well as other documents to be published 
to the operator of the German Federal Gazette 
[Bundesanzeiger].

The Supervisory Board is responsible for over-
seeing the preparation of the ESEF documents 
as part of the financial reporting process.

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the ESEF documents are free 
from material intentional or unintentional 
non-compliance with the requirements of 
Section 328 (1) HGB. We exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 �Identify and assess the risks of material 
intentional or unintentional non-compli-
ance with the requirements of Section 328 
(1) HGB, design and perform assurance 
procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
assurance opinion.

 �Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the assurance of the ESEF 
documents in order to design assurance 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an assurance opinion on the 
effectiveness of these controls.

 �Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF 
documents, i.e. whether the electronic file 
containing the ESEF documents meets the 
requirements of Commission Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 on the technical 
specification for this electronic file.

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on the audit of the electronic repro-
duction of the annual financial statements 
and of the management report in accordance 
with Section 317(3b) HGB created for disclo-
sure purposes.
We have performed assurance work in accord-
ance with Section 317 (3b) HGB to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the 
reproduction of the annual financial statements 
and the management report (hereinafter 
the “ESEF documents”) contained in the file 
that can be downloaded by the issuer from 
the electronic client portal with access pro-
tection, “2021_02_22_berlinhyp_187081.
zip” (SHA256-Hashwert: 22378865f 
089a2b79fd19b810df9dd8b0a0fffbd03e4b-
33da91cf44c0a12b280) and prepared for 
publication purposes complies in all material 
respects with the requirements of Section 328 
(1) HGB for the electronic reporting format 
(“ESEF format”). In compliance with the German 
legal requirements, this assurance covers only 
the conversion of the information in the annual 
financial statements and the management 
report into the ESEF format and therefore 
neither the information contained in these 
reproductions nor other information contained 
in the above- mentioned electronic file.

In our opinion, the reproduction of the annual 
financial statements and the management 
report contained in the above-mentioned 
attached electronic file and prepared for 
publication purposes complies in all material 
respects with the requirements of Section 328 
(1) HGB for the electronic reporting format. 
Beyond this opinion and our opinions on the 
accompanying annual financial statements and 
the management report for the financial year 
from January 1 to December 31, 2020, con-
tained in the preceding “Report on the audit of 
the annual financial statements and the man-
agement report”, we do not issue any opinion 
whatsoever on the information contained in 
these reproductions or on the other informa-
tion contained in the above-mentioned file.

We conducted our assurance work of the 
reproduction of the annual financial statements 
and the management report contained in the 
above-mentioned attached electronic file in 
accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB and the 
Exposure Draft of the IDW Assurance Standard: 
Assurance in accordance with Section 317 
(3b) HGB on the Electronic Reproduction of 
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 �Evaluate whether the ESEF documents 
enable an XHTML reproduction with content 
equivalent to the audited annual financial 
statements and the audited management 
report.

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of 
the EU Audit Regulation
We were elected as auditor at the annual 
general meeting on May 27, 2020. We were 
engaged by the Chairperson of the Supervisory 
Board on October 15, 2020. We have been 
the auditor of Berlin Hyp AG, Berlin, without 
interruption since financial year 2016.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this 
auditor's report are consistent with the addi-
tional report to the Audit Committee pursuant 
to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-
form audit report).

German Public Auditor Responsible for the 
Engagement
The German Public Auditor responsible for the 
engagement is Rainer Thiede.

Berlin, February 24, 2021

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft  
[Original German version signed by:]

gez. Thiede	 gez. Ginzinger 

Wirtschaftsprüfer 	 Wirtschaftsprüfer

[German Public Auditor]	 [German Public Auditor]
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Declaration by the members of  
the body authorised to represent the bank 
according to Section 264 (2) Sentence 3  
and Section 289 (1) Sentence 5 of  
the German Commercial Code (HGB)

Management Report in such a way that the 
picture conveyed corresponds to the actual 
circumstances, and the material opportunities 
and risks of the probable development of the 
company are described.”

Berlin, 23 February 2021
 

“To the best of our knowledge, we give the 
assurance that, in compliance with the legally 
required accounting principles, the corporate 
accounts provide an accurate picture of the 
actual circumstances of the net assets, financial 
and earnings situation of the Bank, and that 
the course of business, including the results, 
and the Bank’s position, are shown in the 

Sascha Klaus Alexander Stuwe
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List of Important Abbreviations

Abs. 	 Absatz (paragraph)
AG 	 Aktiengesellschaft (stock corporation)
AktG 	 Aktiengesetz
AMA	 Advanced Measurement Approach
APP	 Asset Purchase Programme
AReG	 Abschlussprüferreformgesetz 
	 (German Audit Reform Act)
AT	 non-tariff 
BA 	 Berufsakademie 
	 (University of Cooperative Education)
BCBS	 Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
BGB 	 Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch 
	 (German Civil Code)
BGH 	 Bundesgerichtshof 
	 (Federal Court of Justice)
BilMoG 	� Bilanzrechtsmodernisierungsgesetz  

(German Accounting Law Adjustment Act)
BIP 	 Bruttoinlandsprodukt 
	 (gross domestic product)
BL	 Bereichsleiter (division head)
BREEAM	� Building Research Establishment  

Environment Assessment
BRRD	 Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive
BSG 	 Betriebssportgemeinschaft 
	 (Company Sports club)
BSI	� Bundesamt für Sicherheit in der Informationstechnik 

(Federal Office for Information Technology Security)
CBPP III	 Covered Bond Purchase Program
CCF 	� Credit Conversion Factor
CD 	 Corporate Design
CRD 	 Capital Requirements Directive
CRR 	 Capital Requirements Regulation
CSR 	 Corporate Social Responsibility
D & O 	 Directors & Officers
DCGK 	� Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex  

(German Corporate Government Code)
DGNB	� Deutsche Gesellschaft für Nachhaltiges Bauen 

(German Sustainable Building Council)
DIIR	� Deutsches Institut für Interne Revision  

(German Institute of Internal Auditors)
DRS 	� Deutscher Rechnungslegungs Standard  

(German Accounting Standard)
DSGV 	� Deutscher Sparkassen- und Giroverband  

(German Savings Bank Association)
DV 	 Datenverarbeitung (data processing)
EGHGB 	� Einführungsgesetz zum Handelsgesetzbuch (Intro-

ductory Law to the German Commercial Code)
EStG 	 Einkommensteuergesetz 
	 (German Income Tax Code)
ESZB 	� Europäisches System der Zentralbanken  

(European System of Central Banks)
EU 	 European Union
EURIBOR 	 Euro Interbank Offered Rate
EWB 	� Einzelwertberichtigung  

(specific valuation allowances and reserves)
EZB 	 Europäische Zentralbank 
	 (European Central Bank)
FED 	 Federal Reserve Bank
FRA 	 Forward Rate Agreement
GbR 	 Gesellschaft bürgerlichen Rechts 
	 (civil law partnership)
GmbH 	� Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung  

(private limited company)
GuV 	� Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung  

(profit and loss account)
HGB 	� Handelsgesetzbuch  

(German Commercial Code)

HQE	� Haute Qualite Environnementale  
(High Quality Environmental standard)

HRB 	 Handelsregister Teil B (Commercial Register)
IA 	 Inanspruchnahme (called to account)
iBoxx 	 Index family for bond market indices
IDW 	� Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer  

(Institute of Public Auditors in Germany)
IF 	 �Immobilienfinanzierung  

(real estate financing)
IFRS 	� International Financial Reporting Standards
InstitutsVergV	� Verordnung über die aufsichtsrechtlichen 

Anforderungen an Vergütungssysteme von  
Instituten (Institutional Remuneration Ordinance)

IREBS	 International Real Estate Business School
IRRBB	 Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book
IT 	 Information technology
IWF 	� Internationaler Währungsfonds  

(International Monetary Fund)
KA 	 Kreditausschuss (Loans Committee)
K-Fälle 	 Katastrophenfälle (catastrophe case)
KR 	 Kredit (loan)
KWG 	 Kreditwesengesetz (German Banking Act)
LCR 	 Liquidity Coverage Ratio
LGD 	 lost given defaults
LEED	� Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design
LMA	 Loan Market Association 
LR	 Leverage Ratio
LTV 	 Loan-to-Value
MaRisk 	� Mindestanforderungen an das Risikomanagement 

(Minimum Requirements for Risk Management)
MaSan 	� Mindestanforderungen an die Ausgestaltung von 

Sanierungsplänen (Minimum Requirements for the 
Structure of Restructuring Plans)

MREL	 �Minimum Requirement for Eligible  
Liabilities

NPL 	 Non-Performing Loans
NSFR 	 Net Stable Funding Ratio 
OHG 	� Offene Handelsgesellschaft (private partnership)
OI 	� Organisation/Informationstechnologie  

(organisation/information technology)
OpRisk 	 Operationelle Risiken (operational risks)
PA	 Prüfungsauschuss (Audit Committee)
PE 	 Personal (staff)
PfandBG 	 Pfandbriefgesetz (Pfandbrief Act)
PSA	 Personal- und Strategieausschuss 
	 (Staff and Strategy Committee)
PWB 	� Pauschalwertberichtigung  

(lump-sum value adjustments)
RechKredV 	� Verordnung über die Rechnungslegung der  

Kreditinstitute (Regulation on the Accounts of 
Banking Institutions)

RST 	 Rückstellungen (reserves)
RWA	 Risk-weighted asset
SAG 	� Sanierungs- und Abwicklungsgesetz  

(Restructuring and Winding-Up Act)
SAP 	 Systems, applications, products
SEPA 	 Single Euro Payments Area
SolvV 	� Solvabilitätsverordnung (Solvency Regulation)
SRB	 Single Resolution Board
SRM 	 Single Resolution Mechanism
SSM 	 Single Supervisory Mechanism
TLTRO	 Targeted longer-term refinancing operations
TR 	 Treasury
VaR 	 Value-at-Risk
vdp 	 Verband deutscher Pfandbriefbanken e.V., Berlin
ZIA 	� Zentraler Immobilien Ausschuss  

(German Property Federation)
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Addresses

Headquarters

Berlin Hyp AG
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 90
F +49 30 2599 9131
www.berlinhyp.de

Real Estate Finance 

Berlin Branch
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 5624

Düsseldorf Branch
Königsallee 60d
40212 Düsseldorf
Germany
T +49 211 8392 2211

Frankfurt am Main
Branch
NEXTOWER
Thurn-und-Taxis-Platz 6
60313 Frankfurt am Main
Germany
T +49 69 1506 211

Hamburg Branch
Neuer Wall 19
20345 Hamburg
Germany
T +49 40 2866589 21

Munich Branch
Isartorplatz 8
80331 Munich
Germany
T +49 89 291949 10

Stuttgart Branch
Friedrichstrasse 6
70174 Stuttgart
Germany
T +49 711 2483 8821

Origination International 
Investors
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 5710

Amsterdam Office
WTC Schiphol Airport Tower B; 
9. Floor
Schiphol Boulevard 263
NL-1118 BH Schiphol
The Netherlands
T +31 20 798 44 20

Paris Office
40, Rue La Pérouse
F-75116 Paris
France
T +33 1 730425 21

Warsaw Office
Plac Malachowskiego 2
PL-00-066 Warsaw
Poland
T +48 22 37651 21

Portfolio Management

Syndication
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 5620

S-Group Business
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin 
Germany
T +49 30 2599 5585

Other Functional Spheres

Finance and  
Banking Operations
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 5930

Treasury
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 9510

Risk Management
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 9975
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Publications for our business partners 
in 2021

	�Annual Report 2020 
(German/English)
	�Half-Year Financial Report as at  
30 June 2021 
(German/English)
	�Interim Report as at 30 September 2021 
(German/English)
	�GRI Report 2020 
(German/English)

In this Annual Report, reference to the  
masculine form naturally also includes the 
feminine form.

If you have any questions regarding our Half-
Year Financial Report, our company, or if you 
would like to order any further publications, 
please contact:

Berlin Hyp AG
Communications and Marketing
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany
T +49 30 2599 9123
F +49 30 2599 998 9123
www.berlinhyp.de

Important company information is available 
immediately after publication at  
www.berlinhyp.de

Contact
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Imprint

Publisher
Berlin Hyp AG
Communications and Marketing
Corneliusstrasse 7
10787 Berlin
Germany

Concept, Editorial – Text and Design
Layout and Typesetting
Heimrich & Hannot GmbH
Stralauer Allee 2
10245 Berlin
Germany
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